
 
Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer, T W 
Mortimer LLB Solicitor 

P  

 

 
 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
 
Notice of a Meeting, to be held in the Council Chamber - Ashford Borough Council on 
Wednesday, 7th December, 2022 at 7.00 pm. 
 
 
The Members of the Planning Committee are:- 
 
Councillor Burgess (Chairman) 
Councillor Blanford (Vice-Chairman) 
 
 
Cllrs. Bell (ex-Officio), Campkin, Chilton, Forest, Harman, Howard, Iliffe, Meaden, 

Mulholland, Ovenden, Shorter, Spain and Sparks 
 
If additional written material is to be submitted to the Planning Committee relating to any 
report on this Agenda, this must be concise and must be received by the Contact Officer 
specified at the end of the relevant report, and also copied to 
Planning.help@ashford.gov.uk, before 3pm on the day of the Meeting so that it can be 
included or summarised in the Update Report at the Meeting, otherwise the material will 
not be made available to the Committee.  However, no guarantee can be given that all 
material submitted before 3pm will be made available or summarised to the Committee, 
therefore any such material should be submitted as above at the earliest opportunity and 
you should check that it has been received. 
 
Agenda 
  Page Nos.. 
  
1.   Apologies/Substitutes 

 
 

 To receive Notification of Substitutes in accordance with Procedure 
Rule 1.2(c) and Appendix 4 
 

 

 
2.   Declarations of Interest 

 
1 - 2 

 To declare any interests which fall under the following categories, as 
explained on the attached document: 
  
a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) 
b) Other Significant Interests (OSI) 
c) Voluntary Announcements of Other Interests 
  
See Agenda Item 2 for further details 
 

 

 
3.   Public Participation 

 
3 - 4 

mailto:Planning.help@ashford.gov.uk


 See Agenda Item 3 for details.  
 

 
 
4.   Officers' Deferral/Withdrawal of Reports 

 
 

 
5.   Minutes 

 
 

 To approve the Minutes of the Meeting of this Committee held on 9th 
November 2022.  
  
(Public Pack)Minutes Document for Planning Committee, 09/11/2022 
19:00 (moderngov.co.uk) 
 

 

 
6.   Schedule of Applications 

 
 

 
 (a)   22/00001/NSIP/AS - Land at Bank Farm opposite Becketts 

Green, Bank Road, Aldington, Kent  
 

5 - 108 

  Solar photovoltaic array plus energy storage with associated 
infrastructure and grid connection, with a generating capacity of 
up to 99.9MW 

 

 
 (b)   22/00136/AS - Liberty Barn, Canterbury Road, Brabourne, 

Kent  
 

109 - 134 

  Proposed erection of an off-grid residential dwelling (under 
paragraph 80 of the NPPF) utilising existing access. Alterations 
to existing barn, removal of stables and landscape 
enhancement works to wider site. 

 

 
 (c)   22/00569/AS - 240 Beaver Road, Ashford, Kent, TN23 7SW  

 
135 - 148 

  Convert 3-bedroom 2-storey house to 2 self-contained flats 
single occupancy, for social housing 

 

 
 
Note for each Application: 
(a) Private representations (number of consultation letters sent/number of 

representations received) 
(b) The indication of the Parish Council’s/Town Council’s views 
(c) Statutory Consultees and Amenity Societies (abbreviation for consultee/society 

stated) 
Supports ‘S’, objects ‘R’, no objections/no comments ‘X’, still awaited ‘+’, not 
applicable/none received ‘-‘ 
 
Note on Votes at Planning Committee Meetings: 
At the end of the debate on an item, the Chairman will call for a vote.  If more than one 
motion has been proposed and seconded, the motion that was seconded first will be 
voted on first.  When a motion is carried, the Committee has made its determination in 
relation to that item of business and will move on to the next item on the agenda.  If there 
are any other motions on the item which have not been voted on, those other motions fall 
away and will not be voted on. 
If a motion to approve an application is lost, the application is not refused as a result.  The 
only way for an application to be refused is for a motion for refusal to be carried in a vote.  

https://ashfordintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g4239/Public%20minutes%2009th-Nov-2022%2019.00%20Planning%20Committee.pdf?T=11
https://ashfordintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g4239/Public%20minutes%2009th-Nov-2022%2019.00%20Planning%20Committee.pdf?T=11


Equally, if a motion to refuse is lost, the application is not permitted.  A motion for 
approval must be carried in order to permit an application. 

 
 
   
DS 
29 November 2022 
 
Queries concerning this agenda?  Please contact Member Services 01233 330564 Email: 
membersservices@ashford.gov.uk 
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.gov.uk/committees 

 
 

Note to Members of the Committee:  The cut-off time for the meeting will 
normally be at the conclusion of the item being considered at 10.30pm.  However 
this is subject to an appropriate motion being passed following the conclusion of that 
item, as follows:
“To conclude the meeting and defer outstanding items of business to the start of the 
next scheduled Meeting of the Committee”.

http://www.ashford.gov.uk/committees


This page is intentionally left blank



Declarations of Interest (see also “Advice to Members” below) 
 
(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 2011, relating to items on 

this agenda.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be declared, and 
the agenda item(s) to which it relates must be stated. 
 
A Member who declares a DPI in relation to any item will need to leave the meeting for that 
item (unless a Dispensation has been granted in advance, to speak and/or vote). 

 
(b) Other Significant Interests (OSI) under the Kent Code of Conduct relating to items on this 

agenda.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be declared, and the 
agenda item(s) to which it relates must be stated. 
 
A Member who declares an OSI in relation to any item will need to leave the meeting before 
the debate and vote on that item (unless a Dispensation has been granted in advance, to 
participate in discussion and/or vote).  However, prior to leaving, the Member may address 
the Committee in the same way that a member of the public may do so. 

 
(c) Voluntary Announcements of Other Interests not required to be disclosed under (a) and 

(b), i.e. announcements made for transparency or good governance reasons, such as: 
 
• Membership of amenity societies, Town/Community/Parish Councils, residents’ groups or 

other outside bodies that have expressed views or made representations, but the Member 
was not involved in compiling or making those views/representations, or 

 
• Where a Member knows a person involved, but does not have a close association with 

that person, or 
 
• Where an item would affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate, 

employer, etc. but not his/her financial position. 
 
 Note: Where an item would be likely to affect the financial position of a Member, relative, 

close associate, employer, etc.; OR where an item is an application made by a Member, 
relative, close associate, employer, etc., there is likely to be an OSI or in some cases a DPI. 
ALSO, holding a committee position/office within an amenity society or other outside body, 
OR having any involvement in compiling/making views/representations by such a body, may 
give rise to a perception of bias (similar to that arising when a Member has made his/her 
views known in advance of the meeting), and require the Member to take no part in any 
motion or vote. 

 
Advice to Members on Declarations of Interest:   
(a) Government Guidance on DPI is available in DCLG’s Guide for Councillors, at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5962/2193362.pdf 
 

(b) The Kent Code of Conduct was adopted by the Full Council on 19 July 2012, 
and a copy can be found in the Constitution alongside the Council’s Good Practice Protocol 
for Councillors dealing with Planning Matters. See https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/2098/z-word5-
democratic-services-constitution-2019-constitution-of-abc-may-2019-part-5.pdf  

 
(c) Where a Member declares a committee position or office within, or membership of, an outside 

body that has expressed views or made representations, this will be taken as a statement 
that the Member was not involved in compiling or making them and has retained an open 
mind on the item(s) in question. If this is not the case, the situation must be explained. 

 
If in doubt about any matters that they may need to declare, Members should seek advice 
from the Corporate Director (Law and Governance) and Monitoring Officer, the Deputy 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5962/2193362.pdf
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/2098/z-word5-democratic-services-constitution-2019-constitution-of-abc-may-2019-part-5.pdf
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/2098/z-word5-democratic-services-constitution-2019-constitution-of-abc-may-2019-part-5.pdf


Monitoring Officer, or other Solicitors in Legal and Democracy as early as possible, and in 
advance of the Meeting. 

Page 2



Agenda Item 3 
 
Summary of the Scheme of Public Participation for Planning Committee 
Meetings  
 
1. Written notice of a wish to speak at the meeting (by means of either procedure 
below) must be given, either to membersservices@ashford.gov.uk or on the 
Council’s website at 
https://secure.ashford.gov.uk/committeesystem/haveyoursay.aspx, 
by 15:00 hours on the second working day before the meeting. 
 
Hence, for example, for meetings of the Planning Committee on Wednesdays:- 
(i) If there is no Bank Holiday on the Monday preceding the meeting, written notice 
must be given by 15:00 hours on the Monday. 
(ii) If there is a Bank Holiday on the Monday preceding the meeting, written notice 
must be given by 15:00 hours on the preceding Friday. 
(iii) If the meeting immediately follows the Easter Weekend, written notice must be 
given by 15:00 hours on Maundy Thursday. 
 
2. Registering to speak at the meeting confers the right to either make a speech in 
person or submit a speech to be read on your behalf by a Council Officer, as 
follows: 
(i) on a first-come, first-served basis, one speech in support of, and one speech 
against, an item for decision, or 
(ii) as a duly-authorised representative of the Parish Council1 or Community Forum 
affected by an item for decision. 
 
3. Those who have registered to speak and wish a Council Officer to read their 
speech on their behalf must submit a copy of the speech to 
membersservices@ashford.gov.uk by 10.00 hours on the day of the meeting. The 
speech must be no longer than 400 words, and must be in English and in a 12-point 
non-italic sans-serif font (e.g. Arial); any text above 400 words will not be read out. 
No speech should contain personal data about individuals, other than the speaker’s 
name and (if relevant) postal address. Late or incorrectly-presented copies of 
speeches cannot be accepted, but any registered speakers who do not submit their 
speeches as above may speak in person at the meeting as set out below 
 
4. At the meeting:- 
(i) Speakers who are present in person may speak to the meeting for a 
maximum of 3 minutes when called to do so. No speech should contain personal 
data about individuals, other than the speaker’s name and (if relevant) postal 
address. Please note there is no ability to present any material such as photographs 
or diagrams at the meeting. 
 
(ii) If speakers are not present in person, but had previously submitted speeches 
as above, their submitted speeches will be read to the meeting by a competent 

 
1 The term “Parish Council” includes Town Councils and Community Councils. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3

https://secure.ashford.gov.uk/committeesystem/haveyoursay.aspx
membersservices@ashford.gov.uk%20


Officer for and on behalf of the speakers, at the normal times and in the normal order 
(subject to the Chairman’s normal discretion). 
 
IMPORTANT: 
An Officer reading any speech on behalf of any speaker shall have discretion to 
omit/edit out any inappropriate language, information or statements. 
 
If any defamation, insult, personal or confidential information, etc. is contained 
in any speech received from any speaker, and/or is read to the meeting by an 
Officer, each speaker accepts by submitting the speech to be fully responsible 
for all consequences, thereof and to indemnify the Officer and the Council 
accordingly. 
 

Page 4



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Application Number 
 

22/00001/NSIP/AS 

Location     
 

Land at Bank Farm opposite Becketts Green, Bank Road, 
Aldington, Kent 
 

Grid Reference 
 

00513/37642 

Parish Councils 
 

Aldington, Mersham & Smeeth 

Wards 
 

Saxon Shore, Mersham & Bircholt 
 

Application 
Description 

Solar photovoltaic array plus energy storage with 
associated infrastructure and grid connection, with a 
generating capacity of up to 99.9MW 

 
Applicant 
 

EPL 001 Limited (Evolution Power), 2nd Floor, Regis 
House, 45 King William Street, London, United Kingdom, 
EC4R 9AN   
 

Agent 
 

Ben Lewis, Stantec, Studio 117, The Creative Quarter, 8a 
Morgan Arcade, Cardiff, CF10 1AF 
 

Site Area 
 

189 ha 

(a) - 
 

(b) - (c) - 

 
Introduction 

1. This report relates to the formal s.42 pre-application consultation by 
Evolution Power. The scheme would qualify  as a Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Project (‘NSIP’) and would, if an application is made, be 
determined under the separate NSIP procedure set out under s.37 the 2008 
Planning Act (as amended).  

2. Evolution Power (‘EP’) is intending to develop a renewable energy generating 
project, together with on-site energy storage, associated infrastructure and an 
underground cable grid connection, on land at Aldington, near Ashford. 
Known as ‘Stonestreet Green Solar’, the project would generate renewable 
energy through solar photovoltaic (PV) panels. The proposed solar farm 
would have an energy generating capacity of up to 99.9 MW. 
 

3. Following a round of non-statutory consultation in March and April 2022, EP is 
now carrying out a statutory s.42 consultation on the proposals. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6a



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

4. This pre-application consultation is one of the initial and important 
requirements of the NSIP process prior to submitting an application for 
development consent order (‘DCO’): such applications are dealt with by the 
Planning Inspectorate (‘PINS’) on behalf of the Secretary of State, which in 
this case is the Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy, who will make the final decision. Ashford Borough Council therefore 
does not determine the scheme but, along with others, is a consultee. A DCO 
that is granted is synonymous with the grant of planning permission. 

5. The last NSIP proposal in the Borough was that relating to the proposed J10A 
scheme on the M20. My report therefore recaps the NSIP process and the 
Council’s role and duties as a consultee. It describes the proposals based on 
the information provided. It assesses the main issues and proposes a 
Recommendation to Members as to the Council’s response. Whilst the 
Planning Act 2008 requires a minimum of one s.42 consultation prior to an 
application for DCO being made, it does not prevent an applicant carrying out 
more than one round of consultation at this stage to deal with a scheme that 
might go through a number of iterations in response to consultation feedback. 
 
Summary 

6. Having considered the applicant’s consultation material, my Recommendation 
is that the Council;- 
 
(i) does not raise objection to the general principle of a renewable energy 
solar scheme subject to satisfactory mitigation to minimise scheme impacts 
being put in place, especially in a rural countryside location,  
 
(ii) raises a HOLDING OBJECTION to the scheme as presented by the 
applicant in the s.42 consultation because the scheme does not yet, in my 
opinion, deliver the necessary mitigation needed in order to minimise its harm 
as far as possible on the rural countryside location and those matters that 
contribute to the character and quality of the countryside as it presently exists 
and is enjoyed, and,  
 
(iii) invites the applicant to consider this Council’s comments further and carry 
out a further s.42 consultation on an evolved scheme in response.  
 
Important issues for the applicant to consider as part of the scheme are 
highlighted. Only a certain level of detail and information has, however, been 
provided at this first s.42 consultation stage and so my Recommendation is 
caveated that the Council will wish to provide further comments on 
outstanding detail and information when it becomes available and can be fully 
assessed.  
 
 

Page 6



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Introduction 

What is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP)? 
 
7. The Planning Act 2008 created a new decision making process regime for 

nationally significant infrastructure projects in the fields of energy, transport, 
water, waste water and waste. These projects are large scale developments 
both onshore and offshore such as new powers stations, large renewable 
energy projects, new airports, airport extensions and major road projects.  

8. The aim is to streamline the decision making process for such projects 
making it fairer and faster for communities and developers alike. The Planning 
Act sets out the thresholds above which certain types of development are 
considered nationally significant and requires an application for development 
consent under the NSIP procedure. The Stonestreet Green Solar scheme has 
been held to be of such significance to be determined under this process due 
to its generating capacity being above the 50MW threshold in the Regulations. 

9. The NSIP regime is a front loaded process and therefore pre-application 
consultation of the project by the applicant/promotor is a key and important 
requirement prior to the submission of the application for development 
consent to the Planning Inspectorate. A development consent order (‘DCO’), if 
eventually granted by the Secretary of State, is meant to be a ‘one stop shop’ 
in that it not only provides planning consent for the project but incorporates 
other consents (if they are necessary) such as compulsory acquisition of land 
and any necessary listed building consent.  

What are the stages of the NSIP process and how long will a decision take?  
 
10. There are 6 key stages involved in the NSIP development consent regime. 

The pre-application consultation is the first stage of the process, a simplified 
version of which is shown in Figure 1 below. The pre-application stage has no 
set time period beyond a minimum consultation period and can be carried out 
multiple times.  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 Page 7



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1: The NSIP Process 
 
 

Pre-application (current stage) 
 
11. Before submitting an application, the applicant is required to carry out 

extensive consultation on their proposals. This involves providing information 
about the proposals to various statutory and non-statutory bodies and the 
wider community, responding to questions, listening to suggestions, and 
taking these into account to influence and inform the application proposals 
ultimately submitted to PINS. This does not mean that the applicant has to 
either accept or agree with every comment or suggestion made but the 
requirement is that ultimately they must be shown to have been given proper 
consideration.  

12. The pre-application stage is the best time to influence any changes to the 
project as once an application has been submitted to PINS the application 
then moves forward to be determined under a strict timetable. It is not 
normally possible for substantial changes to be made to an application once it 
has been submitted. It is therefore a matter of judgement by the scheme 
proposer how to long to stay at pre-application stage. 

13. Before formal s.42 consultations are carried out the applicant is required to 
prepare a Statement of Community Consultation (‘SOCC’), having consulted 
relevant local authorities beforehand. The SOCC details the consultation the 
applicant intends to undertake with the local community. A draft SOCC was 
submitted to Ashford Borough Council and comments were provided in Page 8



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

February and August 2022. The SOCC has subsequently been published by 
EP.  
 

14. The length of the formal pre-application consultation is down to the applicant 
depending on the complexity of the scheme but must be at least a minimum of 
28 days. In the case of the scheme subject of this report, the s.42 consultation 
ran between the 25th October and the 29th November 2022. However due to 
the timing of the Council’s Planning Committee meetings, EP agreed on the 
3rd November 2022 to extend the deadline for ABC’s response to the s.42 
consultation until 11.59.59pm on 8th December 2022 to allow the Council to 
consider the matter at the Planning Committee meeting of the 7th December.  
 
Application stage (next stage) 
 

15. Once the pre-application stage has been completed a formal application can 
be submitted to PINS who have 28 days to accept the application. If accepted, 
an Examining Authority (consisting of either a single Inspector or panel of 
Inspectors) is appointed to deal with the application for DCO. The public will 
be able to register with the Planning Inspectorate and provide their views on 
the scheme during the pre-examination stage that typically lasts for around 3 
months.  
 

16. The Planning Inspectorate then has 6 months to carry out the examination 
where consideration is given by the examining authority to all the important 
and relevant matters including representations. The Government has 
produced separate National Policy Statements (‘NPS’) for NSIPs which are 
used as the primary basis for making decisions. 
 

17. After the examination PINS must prepare a report on the application to the 
Secretary of State within 3 months. The Secretary of State has 3 months to 
make the decision whether to grant or refuse development consent.  
 

18. Once the decision has been issued there is a 6 week period in which the 
decision may be challenged in the High Court. The total application period 
lasts for approximately 15 months. 

 
What level of information is required to be provided by the applicant at the 
pre-application consultation stage? 

 
19. The Planning Act 2008 does not specify a set level of information/plans to be 

provided by the applicant at the pre-application stage. NSIP guidance 
recognises there is a ‘balancing act’ between consulting early but also having 
project proposals firm enough to enable consultees to comment and 
recognise and understand the impacts.  
 

20. This scheme will require an Environmental Impact Assessment (‘EIA’) through 
the submission of an Environmental Statement (’ES’). The ES is not required 
to be submitted at the s.42 pre-application stage; instead applicants are 
advised to submit a Preliminary Environmental Information Report (PEIR) to Page 9



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

enable consultees to develop an informed view of the project. Conceptually, 
the PEIR might therefore best be viewed as a draft ES. 
 

21. The information provided by the applicant is described later in this report but 
comprises a consultation questionnaire and a PEIR. The PEIR is divided into 
a number of sections that deal with a number of topics together with 
supporting plans and appendices. 
 

22. The formal DCO application to PINS would require more detailed plans and 
information including a full ES. The Inspectorate would be responsible for 
deciding if the application and its supporting documents are satisfactory and 
capable of being examined within the statutory timescale.  

 
What are the duties/requirements of Ashford Borough Council as a local 
authority? 

 
23. Ashford Borough Council is a consultee giving its views on the scheme but, as 

the ‘host’ local authority for the prospective development, it has some wider 
duties and responsibilities under the process from the pre-application stage 
through to the post decision stage. The Council’s participation is not obligatory 
but is strongly advised by PINS. A table showing the extent of a local 
authority’s role in the process is shown in Figure 2, below.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 2: The Role of Local Authorities 

 
 

Page 10



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

24. The local authority’s role includes commenting on the draft SOCC at the pre-
application stage. At the application stage it must also comment to PINS on 
the adequacy of consultation, produce a Local Impact Report (‘LIR’) wherein 
the local authority sets out views on likely impacts of the development on their 
local area (this is separate from its formal s.42 response on the emerging 
scheme). The local authority is also responsible for responding to and 
agreeing to Statement(s) of Common Ground (‘SoCG’) with the applicant if it 
is able to. Local authorities are likely to also become responsible for 
discharging many of the requirements (akin to planning conditions) associated 
with an NSIP project if a Development Consent Order is granted together with 
subsequent monitoring and enforcement.  
 

25. The Council is not responsible for the consultation that EP carries out in 
respect of its proposed scheme. A local authority and the local community are 
consultees in their own right and they provide responses to the prospective 
applicant. Whilst local authorities may have regard to points made by the 
wider community, it is not intended that they necessarily adopt all of the views 
they know of or might be put to them. In this context, local authorities in 
particular must take into account known NPS’s any other relevant guidance 
when making a s.42 consultation response.  

 
What is the significance of the pre-application views made by the Council and 
other consultees?  
 

26. The aim of the pre-application consultation is to enable EP to take into 
account issues and concerns that may lead to improvements and 
amendments to the scheme prior to the submission of the formal DCO 
application to PINS.  
 

27. The applicant is required to provide a Consultation Report alongside the 
formal DCO application. There are a number of requirements for this Report 
including setting out a summary of the responses to the consultations carried 
out, how the application has been informed and influenced by such responses 
with any changes made clearly outlined. An explanation is also required in the 
Report as to why responses advising on major changes to a project were not 
followed including advice from statutory consultees.  
 

28. The Council can make comments as it sees fit at the current s.42 stage, 
although these need to be relevant to the scheme and have regard to the 
relevant NPS. The Council will have the opportunity to make further 
representations at the formal DCO application stage. The Council however 
does need to give a steer at this early stage in this emerging project as to how 
it views the principle of the scheme subject to matters of fine detail.  
 

29. The s.42 consultation is the formal part of the pre-application process and 
liaison/negotiations between the applicant and local authority officers on 
issues can and should, continue beyond this.  

 

Page 11



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Site and Surroundings  

30. The site comprises a number of irregularly shaped agricultural fields 
approximately 189 hectares (ha) (467 acres) in size located outside of the 
confines of, and to the north and west of the village of Aldington. The site is 
currently primarily used for arable cropping and grazing. A small part of the 
site falls outside of the Ashford Borough within the District of Folkestone and 
Hythe.  
 

31. The High Speed 1 Channel Tunnel Rail Link (HS1) is located immediately to 
the north of the site boundary. The M20 motorway lies a further 45m to the 
north of HS1. On the opposite side of the HS1 railway line to the site, located 
between HS1 and the M20, lies the UK Power Networks substation and 
National Grid substation (Sellindge Converter Station), and a sewage 
treatment works.  
 

32. To the east of the site lies the existing 25ha Partridge Farm solar farm which 
has a generating capacity of approximately 11MW.  
 

33. To the north of the site flowing in an east to west direction is the River East 
Stour which joins the River Great Stour further downstream.  Across the site 
are a number of ditches and ponds. The majority of the site is located within 
the Stour Catchment area with a small portion falling within the Rother 
Catchment.  
 

34. The majority of the site is located within Flood Zone 1 (i.e. low risk – defined 
as land having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability of flooding). Land 
located at the northern parts of the site falls within Flood Zones 2 and 3 (i.e. 
medium to high risk - land having between a 1 in 100 and 1 in 1,000 annual 
probability of flooding and land having a 1 in 100 or greater annual probability 
of flooding). 
 

35. The site does not fall within any locally or nationally designated landscape 
areas but is located within the (10)East Stour Valley, (14) Bonnington Wooded 
Farmlands and (25) Aldington Ridgeline Character Areas as defined in the 
Council’s Landscape Character Assessment SPD (Jacobs 2009).  
 

36. The Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) arcs around the 
valley of the East Stour River, such that its boundary is located as near as 
approximately 340m to the south and 2.7km to the north east of the site.  
 

37. There is an extensive network of Public Rights of Ways (PRoW) within the site 
itself and the surrounding area.   
 

38. The site is not located within any Conservation Areas and there are no listed 
buildings located within the site. Within 1km of the site, there is one 
Scheduled Monument, two Grade I listed buildings, six Grade II* listed 

Page 12



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

buildings, 69 Grade II listed buildings and the Clap Hill and Church Area 
Conservation Areas.  
 

39. Parts of the site lie above areas safeguarded for two different types of 
minerals. The northern part of the site (on land generally alongside the M20 
motorway) is safeguarded to protect –sub-alluvial river terrace deposits (i.e., 
sand and gravel). Parts of the southern sections of the site are safeguarded to 
protect limestone in the Hythe formation which is also known as Kentish 
Ragstone. 
 

40. The applicant has submitted an Agricultural Land Classification (‘ALC’) report 
(appendix 2.4 of the PIER) following the completion of a detailed survey.  In 
terms of agricultural land classification, the survey confirmed the grading of 
the agricultural land within the site to be predominantly non-BMV (‘best & 
most versatile’) quality land (142.01ha, 75.09%) comprising ALC Subgrade 
3b; with smaller areas of BMV quality land (36.42ha or 19.26%) comprising 
ALC Grade 2 and Subgrade 3a; and a small area of not surveyed agricultural 
land in the area of the cable route (4.17ha, 2.20 %). The remaining land within 
the site boundary being non-agricultural land (6.52ha, 3.45%) 

 
41. Station Road / Calleywell Lane runs north south within and adjacent to the 

central part of the site. Bank Road / Roman Road divides the central and 
western parts of the site. In terms of the relationship of residential dwellings to 
the site, these are located predominantly to the south and east. Residential 
dwellings within the area of Stonestreet Green are located adjacent to the 
east of the site.  
 

42. Figure 3, below details the extent and location of the site.  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 3: Proposed Site Location Plan Page 13



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
43. Figure 4 below sets out the individual fields which have been numbered. This is 

useful for identifying the various parts of this large site.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 4: Field boundaries plan 
 
 
Proposal 

44. The proposed scheme subject to this s.42 consultation includes the following 
key elements: 

 
• Solar photovoltaic (PV) modules;  

• PV module mounting structures;  

• On site electrical stations including inverters, transformers and switchgear;  

• On site and grid connection cabling with a maximum voltage of 132kV;  

• Project substation, consisting of a private-side project owned substation and a 
UKPN adopted substation;  

• On site energy storage;  

• Two spare parts storage containers (proposed to be located within field 25, 
next to the Project Substation), both 12.2m (length) x 2.6m (height) x 2.4m 
(width);  

• Boundary fencing and closed-circuit television (CCTV) security measures;  Page 14



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

• Access tracks.  

• Temporary compounds and access tracks (required during the construction 
and decommissioning phases).   

 
• The applicant advises that the development would result in an improvement in 

local biodiversity, above the 10% national biodiversity net gain (‘BNG’) target 
or the 20% Kent BNG target. 
 

• The project will provide a £40,000 per annum (inflation linked) community 
benefit fund for the lifetime of the project to be used locally for social and 
environmental projects.  

 
45. The indicative site layout plan is shown in Figure 5, below (and also attached 

for clarity as Annex 1 to this report). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 5: Indicative Site Layout Plan 

 
46. Further details of each element of the proposed development is set out below. 
 

Solar PV modules and mounting structures 
 
47. Solar PV panels convert sunlight into direct electrical current (DC). Individual 

panels would typically be up to 2.5m long and 1.5m wide. The individual 
panels (indicatively totalling 246,000 for this proposal) would comprise mono-
crystalline PV cells underneath a layer of heat strengthened glass. It is Page 15



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

suggested that these are likely to be dark blue or black in colour.  
 

48. Panels would be fixed to a mounting structure in groups known as ‘strings’ at 
an angle to the sun of 20-25 degrees. It is expected that the maximum height 
of the panels from the ground would be approximately 3.2m with the lowest 
point typically 800mm above ground level. As an example, Figure 6 below 
shows PV panels attached to strings at the existing Partridge Farm solar farm 
in Aldington. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Figure 6: PV panels at Partridge Farm solar farm, Aldington 
 

49. The panels would be installed as ‘fixed’ tilt (rather than utilising single axis 
trackers) so that once installed there would be no moving parts. Panels would 
be mounted individually on a metal frame attached to galvanized steel piles 
that would be driven up to 3m into the ground. Again, as an example, Figure 
7 below shows the underside of strings at the existing Partridge Farm solar 
farm in Aldington. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Figure 7: Underside of strings at Partridge Farm solar farm 
 
50. The distance between each row of frames is proposed to be 3.2m - 5m to limit 

the impact of inter-row shading and there would be a border gap between Page 16



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

panels of approximately 10mm to 20mm. The applicant suggests that this 
would allow rain to pass through. Figure 8 below shows the gaps between 
panels at Partridge Farm as an example of gaps between panels. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 8: Gaps between panels at Partridge Farm solar farm 
 
51. The electrical output from the groups of panels would be exported by low 

voltage cabling to dedicated stations that would include an inverter, 
transformer and switchgear, mounted on concrete foundations or piles. 
Inverter stations would either be containerised or would have the individual 
components (inverter, transformer and switchgear) installed in proximity to 
each other. 
 
Inverters, transformers and switchgear 
 

52. Inverters are necessary to convert the DC electricity produced by the solar 
PV modules into alternating current (AC) so that this can be exported to the 
national grid. The applicant anticipates that approximately 34 central inverters 
would be required for the size of project that is proposed. These would be 
located at regular intervals amongst the solar PV modules. The dimensions of 
each inverter would be approximately 1.6m (w) x 2.4m (h) x 2.8m (d). 
 

53. Transformers increase and control the voltage of the electricity produced. It 
is anticipated that approximately 34 on site transformers would be required 
and would be located adjacent to the inverters. The dimensions of each 
transformer would be approximately 1.6m (w) x 2.3m (h) x 2.2m (d). 
 

54. Switchgear would be necessary and would include electrical disconnect 
switches, fuses and circuit breakers to control, protect and isolate electrical 
circuits and equipment. The dimensions of the switchgear would be 
approximately 1.5m (width) x 2.9m (height) x 1.0m (depth).  
 

55. The electrical output from the solar panels would feed into the inverter 
stations and then will either be stored in an energy storage system (to be 
exported to the Grid at a later time) or exported to the Grid immediately to the 

Page 17



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

intermediate substations that would be approximately 8m (l) x 3.4m (h) x 4m 
(w) land and would be located in fields numbered 3, 14, 19 and 25 on the 
indicative project layout. An indicative arrangement is shown below as Figure 
9. 

 
Figure 9: Inverter, transformer and switchgear 

 
56. From the intermediate on-site substations, the power would flow to the main 

project substation that would be located in a fenced compound (approximately 
80m (l) x 45m (w)) located in the northern part of the site within field number 
25. From that main substation, electricity would be exported to the National 
Grid. 
 
Grid connection: two options 
 

57. The site would connect to the National Grid via underground cabling with a 
voltage up to 132kV. The applicant advises that the grid connection route 
would be included in the DCO application and that it has accepted a grid offer 
from UKPN. UKPN has indicated that, subject to National Grid confirmation 
and the availability of existing ducts, the project would be able to connect to 
the Grid directly through the existing UKPN 132kV substation located at 
Sellindge. This is the preferred route and is shown in purple to the east of 
Fields 26 & 27 in Figure 10 below. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 10: EP’s preferred Grid connection route 
 

58. The applicant states that UKPN owns and controls a number of existing ducts 
under the HS1 railway line and anticipates that these can be utilised for the 
project.  
 Page 18



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

59. In the event that it is not possible to connect via the above-mentioned 
preferred route, the project would instead connect into the UKPN substation 
via an existing 132kV tower located on the south side of HS1 as shown in 
yellow on Figure 11 below. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 11: Proposed alternative cabling route for connection to the grid 
 

60. In either case, all cabling to the point of connection would be underground 
but, subject to feedback from UKPN, it may be the case that the final few 
metres of cabling into the UKPN substation or the existing 132kV tower would 
be overground. If this is the case, the full details and an assessment of the 
impacts would be included in the ES which will be submitted with the DCO 
application. 
 

61. If the preferred route for the grid connection is implemented, then the project 
would be solely within the Ashford Borough and no element would be within 
Folkestone and Hythe District. If the alternative route is required then 
approximately 350m of underground cabling, a switching station adjacent to 
the tower and an access track approximately 510m in length would be 
required to be located within the Folkestone and Hythe District. The applicant 
advises that that the dimensions of the switching station are being 
investigated and the full details and an assessment of its impacts would be 
included in the ES submitted with the DCO application. 
 
Energy Storage  

 
62. Energy storage is proposed to be provided within the site to allow the project 

to ‘load-shift’ generation from periods of low demand to high demand (in order 
to enable the maximum benefit to be obtained from the renewable energy 
produced) and to also provide grid balancing services to the National Grid. 
 

63. It is expected that the Grid would typically be charged using electricity 
generated by the solar PV modules at the site but that it would also be 
possible to import electricity to charge the storage facilities using Grid 
supplied power when the solar PV modules are not generating sufficient 
power (for example, during the night).  
 

64. The energy storage element of the project would be DC-coupled (charged 
using direct current) and accommodated in containerised units (approximately 
13.75m (l) x 2.9m (h) x 3.8m (w)) which would be distributed throughout the 

Page 19



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

site located adjacent to the inverter stations. A heating, ventilation, and 
cooling (HVAC) system would be integrated into the containers to ensure 
efficiency and safe performance and the system would also include an 
integrated fire safety management system. An indicative image of energy 
storage is shown below as Figure 12. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 12: Indicative energy storage system 
 
65. Electricity from the panels would directly charge the batteries via AC-DC 

convertors (approximately 1m (l) x 2.1m (h) x 0.85m (w)) located beside the 
energy storage units and inverter stations. The AC-DC convertors also enable 
the storage units and the inverters to interact. 

 
66. Battery storage is proposed to be dispersed throughout the site rather than 

located all together and grouped together with inverters and converters. An 
example of this is shown below in Figure 13, which details the location of the 
energy storage containers in Field 1, a similar distribution arrangement is 
proposed throughout the site.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 13: Example of energy storage location within the site 
 

Fencing, CCTV & lighting 
Page 20



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
67. It is proposed that the project would be set within deer-proof fencing (post and 

wire), approximately 2.2m in height, and which would include appropriate 
clearance to allow continued animal movement.  
 

68. The distance between the perimeter fencing and existing hedges is suggested 
as varying but at its minimum, the applicant expects this to be approximately 
4.2m with a greater ‘buffer zone’ of at least 15m applied in instances where 
fencing would be adjacent to areas of ancient woodland.  

 
69. The project main substation compound would be enclosed by palisade 

fencing, 2.4m in height. 
 

70. CCTV systems would be placed on the edge of the operational elements of 
the project and all cameras would face into the site. Approximately 130 CCTV 
cameras would be located across the site located on poles of up to 3m in 
height. Cameras would use infrared at night-time and so would produce no 
visible light. 
 

71. The project would not be permanently lit during the operational phase, with 
lighting limited to motion activated security lighting. Operational lighting would 
be installed for emergency purposes only.  
 

72. Lighting would also be required during the construction and decommissioning 
phases of the development which are anticipated to last approximately 12 
months.  During these phases the potential sources of lighting are expected to 
comprise of headlights from construction traffic and plant, temporary fixed 
lighting associated with construction compounds including welfare facilities, 
motion activated security lighting and small scale task lighting for construction 
activities that occur outside of daylight hours. Construction and 
decommissioning activities are expected to be limited to 07:00 to 19:00 
Monday to Saturday.  

 
73. Figure 14 below shows the expected timetable for the key activities taking 

place over the anticipated 12 month construction period. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 14: Timetable of key activities during construction phase 

 
The ‘River Walk’ and cycleway  Page 21



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
74. The applicant is also exploring upgrades to existing footpaths, including the 

delivery of a new ‘river walk’ and an off-road cycleway that could become part 
of a future route between Aldington and Mersham.  
 
The Preliminary Environmental Information report (PEIR) 

Preliminary Environmental Report (PEIR) Summary (October 2022) 
 

Introduction 
 
75. The PEIR has been prepared by Stantec, on behalf of EPL 001 Limited 

(Evolution Power) in support of statutory pre-application consultation being 
undertaken in respect of a proposed application for development consent. The 
application, under s.37 of the Planning Act 2008, will seek a DCO for the 
Stonestreet Green Solar project. Volume 1 of the PIER contains the ‘Non-
Technical Summary’ with the main text provided in Volume 2 and the 
Technical Appendices in Volume 3.   
 

76. The PEIR sets out the preliminary information on the likely significant 
environmental effects of a proposed scheme to allow statutory bodies, the 
local community and the general public, to come to an informed view on the 
proposals. The structure of the PEIR follows that of an ES and contains the 
initial findings of the assessment of the likely significant environmental effects 
resulting from the (i) construction, (ii) operation and maintenance, and (iii) 
decommissioning phases of the proposed development, including measures 
necessary to mitigate any potential significant adverse environmental effects. 
The information contained within the PEIR is preliminary, reflecting the design 
of the proposals to date. It does not represent a final project design and the 
findings and conclusions contained within the PIER are also preliminary and 
subject to change.  
 

77. The site is located approximately 2.4km to the south-east of Ashford and 
approximately 13.7km west of Folkestone town centre. The majority of the site 
falls within the administrative area of Ashford Borough Council, with the north 
eastern part of the site located within the administrative area of Folkestone 
and Hythe District Council.  

 
78. The proposals comprise the construction, operation and maintenance, and 

decommissioning of a solar energy electricity generating project.  
 
79. The applicant, EPL 001 Limited, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Evolution 

Power Limited which is a UK-based independent solar developer. The 
Directors of Evolution Power Limited have installed and/or financed more than 
50 UK solar photovoltaic projects, including four of the five largest solar 
projects built in the UK during the renewable obligation certificate subsidy 
period.  
 
 Page 22



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

EIA Methodology 
 
80. Evolution Power submitted a Scoping Report in support of a formal request for 

a Scoping Opinion to the Secretary of State in April 2022. The Scoping 
Opinion was adopted on 30 May 2022 by PINS on behalf of the Secretary of 
State. In response to this PINS decision, the following topics have been 
‘scoped into’ the ES  i.e. included for detailed assessment:  

 
• Cultural Heritage;  

• Landscape and Views  

• Biodiversity;  

• Water Environment;  

• Land Contamination;  

• Socio-Economics;  

• Traffic and Access;  

• Noise; and  

• Climate Change.  
 
81. Human Health, Major Accidents and Disasters and Lighting have also been 

scoped into the ES but are considered within the topics areas set out above. 
The topics scoped out of the ES, i.e. those environmental aspects where 
significant effects are not anticipated as a result of the proposed development, 
are as follows:  

 
• Agricultural Land and Soils;  

• Air Quality;  

• Vibration;  

• Electric, Magnetic and Electromagnetic Fields;  

• Telecommunications, Television Reception and Utilities;  

• Wind Microclimate;  

• Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing;  

• Glint and Glare; and  

• Minerals 

 
82. The assessments in the PEIR identify, describe and assess the likely 

significant effects of the proposed development on the environment during the 
construction, operation and maintenance, and decommissioning phases. The 

Page 23



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

significance of each environmental effect identified is generally determined by 
two factors:  

 
• The sensitivity, importance or value of the environment (such as people or 
wildlife); and  
• The actual change taking place to the environment (i.e. the size or severity 
of change taking place).  

83. Effects are largely classed as negligible, adverse or beneficial, where effects 
are minor, moderate or major. The duration and nature of the effect are also 
identified, and the assessment has considered cumulative effects with other 
relevant local development (including the EDF East Stour Solar farm 
proposal). Environmental effects have been evaluated with reference to 
definitive standards and legislation, where available. Where it has not been 
possible to quantify effects, qualitative assessments have been carried out, 
based on available knowledge and professional judgement.  
 

84. The PEIR includes a description of the current environmental conditions 
known as the baseline conditions, against which the likely significant 
environmental effects of the proposed development have been assessed.  
 
Consultation 
 

85. Consultation responses will aid in refining the proposed development’s 
design. The final design will be assessed for likely significant environmental 
effects in the ES to be submitted in support of the DCO application. The 
consultation process will also be used to continue to obtain information that 
will inform the final assessment of impacts which will be contained within the 
ES.  
 

86. Feedback on the PEIR received from consultees, along with a summary of 
other relevant issues raised during consultation, will be recorded and 
referenced within the ES and the Consultation Report, to be submitted with 
the DCO application, which will also include commentary on how the feedback 
was considered and how it informed the evolution of the design of the 
development proposed.   

 
The Proposals 

 
87. The proposals relate to a renewable energy generating project with an 

operational lifespan of up to 40 years. Solar panel technology is rapidly 
evolving and the application will include flexibility to ensure the latest 
technology can be utilised at the point of construction to maximise benefits. 
 
Grid Connection 

 
88. The preferred route for the grid connection is to connect directly into the 

Sellindge Substation, subject to confirmation from the National Grid and the 
availability of existing ducts under the HS1 railway line. In the event that it is Page 24



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

not possible to connect via the preferred route, it is proposed that the 
development would instead connect into the Sellindge Substation via an 
existing nearby 132-kilovolt tower on the south side of the HS1 railway line.  
 
Alternatives and Design Evolution 

 
89. The south east of England was identified by EP as a suitable area for the 

development for two key reasons:  
 
1. The higher levels of sunlight relative to other parts of the UK; and  
2. High levels of local demand for electricity.  

 
90. The key commercial requirement for a solar project is the ability to export the 

electricity generated. This can either be to the National Grid infrastructure or 
to a local energy user. The location near to an available grid connection at 
Sellindge Substation is a key advantage of the site.  
 

91. A number of other factors were also considered at the stage of site selection. 
These included areas protected for landscape, ecological and cultural 
heritage importance, topography/visual impact, ability to access a site, flood 
risk, agricultural land value, and agricultural land availability. EP consider that 
the site represents a suitable area for solar and energy storage development, 
and that there is not another identifiable area that provided a better alternative 
site that could connect to the Sellindge Substation.  

 
92. Not proceeding with the scheme would mean that the site would remain in 

agricultural use and the beneficial and adverse effects outlined in the PEIR 
relating to the proposed development would not occur. Further, there would 
be no contribution to the UK’s requirement for renewable energy generation or 
storage and therefore reduce the probability of the UK achieving its stated 
policy goal of net zero by 2050. In addition, farm diversification and the 
anticipated biodiversity net gain would not be realised. As a result, the ‘do 
nothing’ alternative is not considered by the applicant to be a reasonable 
alternative.  

 
Consideration of Alternative Designs 

 
93. The design has evolved and will continue to do so following consultation. 

Changes made to the design from initial design drawings include amending 
the layout and PRoW corridors to provide a more cohesive PRoW network 
within the site and the creation of new routes.  
 

94. Sections of panels have been removed from the proposed layout and 
replaced with biodiversity and landscaping planting. New hedges have been 
added to the layout, along the lines of historic hedgerows, to break up the 
visual impact of the larger fields. Fields and panels have also been removed 
from the layout to reduce the impact on visually sensitive receptors. The 
proposed layout has also changed in response to areas of flood risk. 

Page 25



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Consideration of Alternate Technologies  
 

95. In light of the nature of the area surrounding the Sellindge grid connection and 
the current national policy provisions for renewable energy technologies, it is 
considered that ground-mounted solar PV, together with energy storage, 
represents the most appropriate technology for this site.  
 

96. Alternative onshore renewable energy technologies could include wind, small 
scale nuclear or pumped hydro storage. Onshore wind technology would have 
a greater visual impact on residential properties within close proximity, and is 
not currently supported by planning policy. The topography of the area does 
not allow for pumped hydro storage schemes. The available grid capacity is 
not sufficient to support small scale nuclear generation. As such, alternative 
onshore renewable and low carbon technologies are not considered by the 
applicant to be feasible options.  
 
Construction and Decommissioning 

 
97. If consent is granted the construction phase would be anticipated to start in 

2025 and take approximately 12 months to complete.  
 

98. During the construction phase, one or more temporary construction 
compounds would be required along with temporary access tracks. The 
compounds would be located within the site adjacent to entrances. Bridges 
would be located over watercourse crossings, where required. All compounds 
and temporary access tracks would be removed following completion of 
construction and the areas reinstated as appropriate.  
 

99. On site activities during the construction phase would be as follows:  
 

• Installation of temporary security and safety equipment;  

• Ground clearance,  

• Construction of the access points and laydown area; 

• Compound and panel testing area creation;  

• Setting out the positions for the inverters, substations, cable trenches 
and panel rows;  

• Installation of the solar PV mounting frames (steel legs will be driven 
into ground using pile driver machinery) and the PV panels;  

• Trenches dug for cables, including for the Point of Connection (POC);  

• Fitting and connection of cabling between PV arrays;  

• Laying and connection of DC cables;  

• Installation of combiner boxes/ string inverters;  

Page 26



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

• Substation building activities including ground clearance and 
foundation pouring;  

• Inverter groundworks, including foundation pouring and/or piling;  

• Inverter build and associated high voltage, low voltage and 
communication system electrical works;  

• POC electrical works;  
 

• Pathway clearance and re-directions;  

• Fencing and gate installations;  

• Installation and connection of communications cabling and equipment; 
and  

• CCTV installation  

• Reinstatement and creation of habitat  
 

 
100. An outline Construction Traffic Management Plan (‘CTMP’) will be submitted 

with the ES and will set out the methods that will be used to regulate the 
delivery of materials and movement of construction personnel to the site 
during the construction phase.  

101. An outline Construction Environmental Management Plan (‘CEMP’) will also 
be submitted with the ES. The CEMP will work in parallel with the CTMP and 
will detail the environmental requirements relevant to the construction phase 
in order to ensure good construction practices and reduce the risk of 
accidents or potential for adverse, avoidable effects on the environment.  

102. The final detailed CEMP and CTMP documents would be prepared following 
the grant of the DCO and submitted to ABC for approval prior to construction 
work starting and secured through appropriately worded DCO requirements.  

103. Construction activities would be limited to Monday to Saturday 07:00-19:00. 
During winter months, some temporary lighting may be required.  

104. Where possible, deliveries to the site would be timed to avoid HGV 
movements during the AM and PM traffic peak times (08:00-09:00 and 17:00-
18:00).  

 
105. Following cessation of energy production, all PV modules, mounting 

structures, cabling, and equipment would be removed and recycled or 
disposed of in accordance with good practice and market conditions available 
at that time.  

Page 27



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

106. An outline Decommissioning Environmental Management Plan (‘DEMP’) and 
outline Decommissioning Traffic Management Plan (‘DTMP’) would be 
submitted with the ES. Similar to the CEMP, the DEMP will detail the 
environmental requirements relevant to the decommissioning phase in order 
to ensure good working practices and reduce the risk of accidents or potential 
for adverse, avoidable, effects on the environment.  

107. The final detailed DEMP would be submitted to ABC for approval prior to 
decommissioning starting.  

108. The decommissioning phase would be expected to take approximately 12 
months. As with the construction phase, one or more temporary compounds 
would be required, as well as temporary access tracks. Again, as with the 
construction phase, compounds would be located next to entrances and all 
compounds and temporary access tracks would be removed once 
decommissioning is completed.  

 
Cultural Heritage 

 
Baseline 
 

109. A history of the site has been informed through surveys, a walkover, and a 
review of published available information. The results, sectioned into 
archaeological time periods and with a focus on legally protected features, 
identified one designated asset (i.e. a protected feature) and 26 non-
designated assets within the site. 
  

110. The designated asset is the crash site of the Messerschmitt Bf109E-4 
(identified as Protected Military Remains (PMR)) and is located close to the 
southern boundary of the site.  
 

111. With regard to the likelihood for as yet unknown archaeology, the research 
has identified the potential for Palaeolithic and early medieval remains on site 
as low to negligible; the potential for prehistoric remains, and iron age, 
Romano-British remains as moderate; and the potential for Medieval, Post-
Medieval, and Modern remains as moderate to high.  

 
112. Within 1km of the site, there is one Scheduled Monument, two Grade I listed 

buildings, six Grade II* listed buildings, 69 Grade II listed buildings, two 
Conservation Areas and five further PMR sites. Stonelees, a Grade II* listed 
building is located approximately 65m to the south of the site.   

 
Assessment 

 
113. The assessment determined the potential for the development to impact 

physically upon buried archaeological remains and to indirectly impact upon 
the significance of designated heritage assets through change within their 
setting and identified a number of potential adverse effects.  
 Page 28



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

114. During construction, direct effects on known and unknown archaeology would 
be slight adverse; direct effects from change to the historic landscape 
character of the area would be slight adverse, and direct effects from the 
reinstatement of hedgerows along historic boundaries would be slight 
beneficial. None of these effects are considered significant in EIA terms.  
 

115. During the operational phase, effects on the setting of a listed building and on 
a farmhouse, a barn and two attached stable ranges in proximity to the site 
would be moderate adverse, also not significant (based on professional 
judgement). During decommissioning, effects on the same buildings would be 
neutral, and effects from the reinstatement of the historic landscape character 
of the area to its original agricultural use would be slight beneficial and also 
not significant in EIA terms.  
 
Mitigation 
 

116. Mitigation during construction could include a programme of archaeological 
works (if necessary). This would be delivered through a DCO requirement. 
Other construction mitigation comprises the use of native species for the 
reinstatement of hedgerows along historic boundaries. Operational mitigation 
comprises the management of proposed planting of hedgerows to screen 
views and remove the potential for glint from the solar panels. It is considered 
that no mitigation is required during decommissioning.  
 
Residual Effects 
 

117. After the implementation of mitigation, construction phase effects are 
considered slight adverse to slight beneficial. Operational effects are 
considered slight adverse and decommissioning effects are neutral to slight 
beneficial. None of these residual effects are considered to be significant EIA 
effects.  

 
Landscape and Views 

 
Baseline 

 
118. In order to establish the baseline conditions desktop studies and field surveys 

were undertaken which identified that there are no areas on the site 
designated as protected landscape. However, the site is within the setting of 
the Kent Downs AONB, and there are Conservation Areas and several listed 
buildings within the immediate context of the site.  
 

119. Backhouse Wood, which is an area of ancient woodland, directly abuts the 
site.  

 
120. In terms of the nature of the landscape, the site comprises an extensive area 

of mixed farmland delineated by hedgerows and occasional tree cover and 
sub-divided by country roads with sporadic clusters of houses. The landform 
varies from gently undulating to rolling, with the site broadly occupying the 

Page 29



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

East Stour River valley and the Aldington Ridgeline. Fields are often large 
scale. In visual terms, the site is visible in open views from the extensive 
network of PRoWs that run across it, albeit these views are always partial. 
There are also close-range views of the site from a limited number of 
residential properties that lie adjacent. However, there are no views from the 
cores of local settlements, including the two Conservation Areas in Aldington. 
Visibility of the site diminishes rapidly to the south, east and west, due to a 
combination of landform and vegetation, with some exceptions.  
 
Assessment 

 
121. Assessment of the likely significant landscape and visual effects of the 

proposed development has been undertaken for the construction phase, 
Years 1 and 15 of the operational phase, and the decommissioning phase.  

122. Mitigation to prevent significant adverse effects has been considered as part 
of the design of the proposed development and includes measures such as 
appropriate planting. Subsequently, the effects during construction and 
decommissioning will only relate to visual receptors and are considered to be 
of moderate adverse significance. Operational effects on features of the 
landscape and landscape character would be of moderate adverse 
significance and effects on visual receptors would be of major-moderate to 
moderate adverse significance. All identified effects are considered significant 
in EIA terms, prior to the implementation of additional mitigation measures.  
 
Mitigation 

123. Best practice measures would be undertaken during the construction and 
decommissioning phases and include an outline CEMP and outline DEMP, 
which will include protecting existing vegetation on the site, limiting hours of 
work on site, ensuring that all unloading/loading of materials and equipment is 
undertaken within the site boundary, and cleaning construction and 
decommissioning vehicles regularly to limit noise, dust and dirt levels.  

124. Operational phase mitigation comprises the maintenance and management of 
the comprehensive landscape strategy, which would be outlined in a 
Landscape Environmental Management Plan (LEMP), and secured by a DCO 
requirement.  
 
Residual Effects 
 

125. Following the implementation of the additional mitigation, residual effects 
during construction and decommissioning will remain moderate adverse and 
significant, although these effects will be temporary and short term.  
 

126. Residual effects on landscape features during the proposed development’s 
operational phase are considered to be moderate to neutral beneficial, 
following the maturation of planting. There will be a moderate to minor 

Page 30



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

adverse effect on landscape character and visual receptors. These are still 
considered significant EIA effects.  
 
Biodiversity 

Baseline 

127. The site supports a range of important ecological features that are broadly 
similar to the wider area of arable farmland within this part of Ashford 
Borough. The most important ecological features present are the adjacent 
Backhouse Wood ancient woodland (which is also a Local Wildlife Site 
(LWS)) and the on-site yellowhammer bird population.  

128. Three sites of international ecological importance are within 10km of the site. 
These are the Wye and Crundale Special Area of Conservation (SAC), 
Dungeness, Romney Marsh and Rye Bay RAMSAR and Special Protection 
Area (SPA), and the Folkestone to Etchinghill Escarpment SAC. There is one 
nationally important site within 2km of the site, the Hatch Park Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI), and one site of local importance within 2km, the 
Poulton Wood Local Nature Reserve (LNR).  

129. The Stodmarsh SPA, SAC, RAMSAR and SSSI site is located approximately 
23km from the site. It is sensitive to nutrient-related ecological effects arising 
from new development and is connected to the site via the Stour River 
catchments.  

 
Assessment  

 
130. Prior to additional mitigation, there is an effect of international adverse 

significance anticipated on the Stodmarsh site resulting from nutrients. Effects 
of county adverse significance due to the risk (in the absence of mitigation) of 
damage to veteran trees, the loss of yellowhammer habitat, and harm to the 
otter population are also identified. All other construction effects, including on 
species such as badgers, great crested newts, and hazel dormouse, are 
considered to be of local adverse or negligible significance.  

131. During operation, anticipated effects also include an effect of international 
adverse significance anticipated on the Stodmarsh site resulting from 
nutrients, prior to the implementation of additional mitigation measures. There 
are also effects of county adverse significance anticipated due to the 
sustained depletion of local food and habitat resources for yellowhammers, as 
well as due harm and disturbance for otters, and the damage of their habitat. 
Other effects, including on other species such as wintering birds, harvest 
mouse and bats, range from local beneficial-local adverse and negligible.  

132. Similar to the construction phase, prior to the implementation of additional 
mitigation measures, anticipated decommissioning effects include effects of 

Page 31



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

international adverse significance on the Stodmarsh site, effects of county 
adverse significance due to veteran tree damage and harm to otters.  
 
Mitigation 
 

133. Construction phase mitigation would include the tankering of foul water to a 
location beyond the Stour River catchment, and the implementation of 
protection and pollution prevention measures outlined in a CEMP to avoid any 
impact on the Stodmarsh site. Suitable protection zones would be set up 
around veteran trees that are to be retained, and the adjacent Backhouse 
Wood ancient woodland, within which no construction activities would be 
undertaken. Further measures include the implementation of ecological 
‘watching briefs’ (including to mitigate impacts on otter habitats), closure of 
badger setts (if required), translocation of animals if needed and the retention 
and enhancement of habitats. Following good practice lighting guidelines 
during construction is also proposed.  
 

134. Operational phase mitigation also includes tankering of foul water to a location 
beyond the Stour River Catchment (to avoid impacts on the Stodmarsh site), 
as well as the creation of new habitats adjacent to Backhouse Wood and the 
East Stour River, the enhancement of existing habitats on site and the design, 
implementation and monitoring of appropriate habitat management. Other 
measures include the use of mammal gates / gaps under fences and following 
good practice lighting guidelines.  

135. Decommissioning phase mitigation, such as measures to prevent and control 
the spread of invasive species during works, and following good practice 
lighting guidelines, will be included in the outline DEMP to be implemented.  

136. It should be noted that the details of mitigation not available at the PEIR stage 
will be determined following surveys and assessment as part of the ES.  
 
Residual Effects 
 

137. A county adverse and significant effect is expected from the loss of 
yellowhammer habitat. There is a local adverse and significant effect on the 
loss habitat for skylark and brown hare. All other effects are not considered 
significant or are yet to be confirmed at this PEIR stage.  

138. Operational residual effects include local beneficial and significant effects on 
the Backhouse Wood LWS and ancient woodland, notable river habitats, 
ponds and hedgerows, invertebrate species, the habitat expansion and 
enhancement of great crested newts, common toads, reptiles, breeding birds, 
wintering birds, hazel dormouse, badgers, otters, bats, hedgehogs, harvest 
mouse, and brown hare. There is a county adverse and significant effect on 
the sustained depletion of yellowhammer food and habitat, and a local 
adverse effect on the elevated predation risk on skylarks. Further investigation 
is ongoing on whether mitigation is possible for these impacts and will be 

Page 32



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

confirmed in the ES. All other effects are considered not significant or yet to 
be confirmed.  
 

139. Residual effects during decommissioning are either negligible adverse and 
not significant, or to be confirmed in the ES, following surveys and 
assessments.  

 
Water Environment  

 
Baseline 

 
140. The assessment of the water environment included consideration of the 

existing watercourses, risks of flooding and current drainage patterns. A 
review of the baseline conditions identified the East Stour River, within and 
adjacent to the northern boundary of the site; a number of unnamed ditches 
and ponds across the site and off-site lakes and streams. The site is located 
within two surface water catchments, with most of the site draining to the ‘East 
Stour’ surface water catchment, and a small area to the ‘Romney Marsh 
between Appledore and West Hythe’ surface water catchment. The majority of 
the site is located within Flood Zone 1 whilst some land in the northern parts 
of the site is classified as in Flood Zones 2 or 3. 
 
Assessment 
 

141. Potential effects on the water environment are those which may change the 
existing drainage patterns, and those which could cause pollution and a 
degradation in water quality. Mitigation incorporated into the design of the 
development has included standoff distances between proposed works and 
the East Stour River, ponds, lakes, and drains. Prior to the implementation of 
additional mitigation, during the construction, operational and 
decommissioning phases, degradation of water quality affecting surface or 
groundwater receptors was identified as resulting in moderate adverse effects 
(which are significant). Changes in the drainage regime were considered likely 
to be negligible, resulting in effects that are not significant.  

 
Mitigation 

 
142. Additional mitigation measures during construction is proposed to include 

adherence to the CEMP, which would put in place good working practices, 
such as minimising disruption to the natural flow regime of watercourses and 
drains within the layout, sediment capture, secure storing of all fuels, oils and 
polluting substances, and pollution incident response plans.  
 

143. Operational mitigation would include a surface water drainage regime that 
accounts for a climate change uplift. The drainage proposals would ensure 
the existing greenfield (pre-development) rate of surface water runoff 
discharged to the adjacent watercourses is maintained and, in the long-term 
can take into account climatic changes. In addition, due to the potential for 
pollution from maintenance activities, there will be a requirement for vehicles 
and plant to carry a spill kit.  Page 33



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
144. A DEMP will be prepared in accordance with the outline DEMP that would be 

secured through a DCO requirement. It is expected that the contents of the 
DEMP would be similar to those set out in the CEMP.  

 
Residual Effects  

 
145. Following additional mitigation measures, during construction, operation and 

decommissioning, residual effects on the water environment would be 
negligible with regard to the drainage regime and minor adverse with regard 
to degradation of water quality affecting receptors. Neither residual effect is 
considered significant.  
 
Land Contamination 

 
Baseline 
 

146. The site comprises agricultural land or pasture with discrete areas of 
hardstanding located within the north and south west. There is also a large 
agricultural shed, four smaller agricultural sheds and two grain silos in the 
western part of the site and a substation and access track in the north eastern 
part of the site. Historically, surrounding land use has predominantly 
comprised agricultural land in all directions and has remained largely 
unchanged. Historical mapping indicates that a sewage treatment works to 
the north of the site boundary was first recorded in 1971, and further industrial 
land is recorded to the north of the site in 1985.  
 

147. The geology of the site comprises thick Made Ground15 (up to 8m in depth), 
and the Weald Clay Formation (sedimentary rock) of mudstone, interbedded 
sandstone and limestone and sandy mudstone. The soils in the north-east 
and north of the site have been classified as a ‘Secondary A’ aquifer16. There 
are no records of active or recent landfill sites within the site or within 250m, 
nor are there records of unexploded ordnance on-site.  

 
Assessment 

 
148. Available reports and published information have been reviewed with the aim 

of identifying the ground conditions within and surrounding the site. This 
information has then been used to determine the likely sources of any 
contamination, the potential pathways for identified contamination, and any 
receptors that could be significantly affected. The assessment identified that 
during the construction, operation, and decommissioning phases of the 
proposed development, exposure of workers to contaminated land would be 
of moderate adverse significance, and contaminants from the construction 
works could result in minor adverse effects on the East Stour River and other 
relevant watercourses, prior to the implementation of mitigation measures.  
 
Mitigation 
 

Page 34



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

149. Mitigation proposed for the construction phase includes the implementation of 
a CEMP, containing measures such as analysis of soil samples, collected 
from the shallow sub-surface and at depth to test for a range of contaminants, 
subsequent gas monitoring if ground gas is detected, a remediation strategy 
to be implemented if contamination is detected, dust generation to be 
minimised by damping down working areas and machinery, and the storage of 
fuel, oil, and chemicals within a secure bunded area or secondary 
containment. The CEMP would also include measures related to appropriate 
working methods and site management in accordance with current best 
practice and identification of appropriate PPE, which would be adhered to.  
 

150. There are no proposed additional mitigation measures during the operational 
and decommissioning phases. However, mitigation measures beneficial to 
these phases implemented during the construction phase will remain in place.  
 

151. Mitigation during decommissioning would be outlined in the DEMP.  
 
Residual Effects 
 

152. Following implementation of additional mitigation measures, effects on human 
health will be of minor adverse significance (not a significant effect in EIA 
terms) for all three phases (construction, operation and decommissioning). 
Effects on controlled waters will be minor adverse (not significant) also for all 
three phases of the development proposed.   

 
Socio- Economic 

 
Baseline 

 
153. This assessment in the PEIR has focused on the proposed development’s 

contribution to the local economy, as well as addressing effects on existing 
residential, community, tourism and recreation uses.  
 

154. Two study areas have been defined for this assessment; the Local Study Area 
in the assessment has been defined as the residential communities of 
Aldington Parish, Mersham Parish and Smeeth Parish, whereas the Wider 
Study Area comprises the two local authorities of ABC and FHDC. The Local 
Study Area has a population of circa 3,700 people, with a younger age profile 
than the Wider Study Area. However, the Local Study Area has a marginally 
lower proportion of working age people (57% compared to 58%). The 
percentage of those considered economically active is 68% in the Local Study 
Area, lower than the wider area and national average of 71%. In regard to 
occupation, residents of the Local Study Area tend to be more skilled than 
compared to those of the Wider Study Area, as well as the national average. 
Overall, therefore, the Wider Study Area has a wide-ranging skill set to draw 
on.  
 

155. The construction phase will result in the creation of 130 direct jobs, with the 
potential to increase to a peak of 199 direct jobs. A further 52 to 80 indirect 

Page 35



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

jobs could be supported through the supply chain (a minor beneficial effect, 
not significant); an economic contribution of between £8.4m and £12.9m 
during the 12-month construction phase (a minor beneficial effect, not 
significant); and workforce expenditure (i.e. the money the construction 
workforce will spend in the local area (a moderate beneficial effect, 
significant). Prior to the implementation of mitigation measures, moderate to 
negligible adverse (significant to not significant) noise and visual effects on 
local amenity are anticipated, as well as moderate adverse (significant) effects 
on the PRoW network. The decommissioning phase will generate similar 
effects to the construction phase.  
 

156. During the operational phase, the effects of its contribution towards renewable 
energy has been identified as minor to major beneficial (significant). Similar to 
the construction and operational phases, prior to the implementation of 
mitigation measures, moderate to negligible adverse (significant to not 
significant) noise and visual effects on local amenity are anticipated, as well 
as moderate adverse (significant) effects on the PRoW network.  

 
Mitigation 

 
157. For the construction and decommissioning phases, measures set out in a 

CTMP and CEMP would be adhered to. For the operational phase, a LEMP 
would be implemented to manage the growth of planting proposals and their 
ongoing maintenance to mitigate visual impacts on local amenity. EP has 
engaged with Kent County Council to identify areas where improvements can 
be made to offset any impact on existing PRoWs.  

 
Residual Effects 

 
158. There is expected to be a moderate beneficial and significant residual effect 

on workforce expenditure during construction and decommissioning. All other 
residual effects during these phases are not significant.  
 

159. The contribution towards renewable energy generation is considered to be 
minor to major beneficial residual effect (significant). All other residual effects 
during this phase are not significant.  

 
Traffic and Access 

 
Baseline 
 

 
160. The site includes several existing access points, some of which are gated, 

and are used solely by agricultural equipment, except for those which also 
form public footpaths. Road side footways are not present in the vicinity of the 
site. The expected routing for construction traffic travelling in the direction of 
the site will exit the M20 motorway at junction 10a, travel south-east along the 
A20 Hythe Road, then turn right onto Station Road, continuing south and 
entering the site via Station Road. Traffic leaving the site will travel in the 
reverse direction. No construction traffic will pass through Aldington village.  Page 36



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
Assessment 
 

161. The scope of the traffic and access assessment has been limited to 
construction phase effects. An assessment of effects from operational phase 
and decommissioning phase traffic has been scoped out of further 
assessment as significant effects are considered unlikely. Prior to the 
implementation of mitigation measures, the construction phase is anticipated 
to result in negligible to minor adverse (not significant) effects on: severance; 
driver delay; pedestrian delay and amenity; fear and intimidation; accidents 
and safety; and hazardous/ dangerous and abnormal loads.  
 
Mitigation 

 
162. A CTMP will be prepared (and secured by DCO requirement) to ensure 

construction phase effects are avoided where possible and minimised. The 
CTMP will include measures to reduce the impact of construction traffic on the 
local highway network. These measures include hours of operation/access, 
provision of wheel washing facilities, mini-bus collection/drop-off 
arrangements and parking strategies for construction workers.  
 

163. Construction traffic will start and end outside of the local network peak hours, 
minimising impacts in terms of traffic flow volume and highway network 
capacity.  
 

164. EP has engaged (ongoing) with Kent County Council to identify areas where 
improvements can be made as part of the proposed development to offset 
any impact on existing PRoWs.  

 
Residual Effects  
 

165. Following the implementation of mitigation measures, all effects are expected 
to be negligible adverse (not significant).  

 
Noise 

 
Baseline  

 
166. The existing baseline noise comprises local road traffic, rail traffic, aircraft, 

domestic noise, noise from a nearby school and natural sounds. To determine 
the likely significant noise effects of the development, receptors sensitive to 
noise were investigated. The baseline assessment identified 41 
representative Noise Sensitive Receptors (‘NSR’) within 300m of the 
boundary of the site and these NSRs include residential properties, a hotel, 
and a school. As well as these NSRs, on the PRoWs which cross the site, the 
baseline noise level experienced by their users may change as a result of the 
development as they move along their chosen route. These have also been 
included in the assessment.  

 
Assessment Page 37



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
167. To undertake an assessment of noise impact, a noise survey was undertaken 

at eight locations around the site. These locations were agreed with ABC and 
are considered representative of the noise conditions at the site, as 
experienced by the NSRs. Predictions of specific noise levels were made 
using computer noise modelling. The modelling assumed a typical noise 
emission from plant and machinery likely to be used during the construction, 
operation and decommissioning phases.  
 

168. Construction and decommissioning effects on users of PRoWs at the site 
have been identified as negligible (not significant). Minor adverse/ negligible 
effects (not significant) from construction and decommissioning traffic noise 
on the road network and potentially moderate adverse/ minor adverse/ 
negligible effects (significant to not significant) from on-site construction and 
decommissioning noise are also anticipated, prior to the implementation of 
mitigation measures Operational effects from plant/ machinery noise during 
daytime and nighttime have been identified as minor adverse to negligible (not 
significant), prior to the implementation of additional mitigation measures.  

 
Mitigation 

 
169. Mitigation measures during the construction phase will be related to the 

management of plant and best working practices, which will form part of the 
CEMP. Measures will include regular maintenance of machinery to control 
noise and vibration, site staff will be made aware of where the nearest NSRs 
are located and will avoid unnecessary activities, and the occurrence of two 
noisy operations simultaneously in close proximity to the same NSRs will be 
avoided as far as possible.  
 

170. During operation, where any plant is seen to develop a fault or otherwise 
emits non-typical noise, maintenance will be undertaken as soon as 
reasonably practical.  

 
171. The DEMP for the decommissioning phase will be produced with a view to 

best practice mitigation measures being implemented throughout the 
decommissioning process. The measures implemented will be similar to those 
listed for the construction phase above.  

 
Residual Effects  
 

172. The transitory nature of the PRoW network will ensure noise impacts during 
construction and decommissioning on any users are negligible (not 
significant). Construction and decommissioning traffic noise residual effects 
resulting from the development will be minor adverse or negligible (not 
significant). Following the implementation of the mitigation measures as part 
of the CEMP, residual effects from construction noise due to on-site activities 
would be minor adverse or negligible (not significant). Similarly for the 
decommissioning phase, noise from on-site activities would be minor adverse 
or negligible (not significant), following the implementation of the measures as 
part of the DEMP.  Page 38



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
173. Residual effects during operation will be minor adverse or negligible and not 

significant.  
 

Climate Change 
 
174. The two main approaches that can be taken to determine a project's climate 

change impact within EIA, and which have been addressed in the PIER 
assessment, involve identifying:  
 

• The direct and indirect influence of the Proposed Development on 
climate change (climate change mitigation); and  

 
• The vulnerability of the Proposed Development to climate change 

(climate change adaptation/ resilience).  
 

Baseline 
 
175. Regionally, the climate is warm and temperate, with significant rainfall all year 

round. Within the study area, annual average rainfall is 796.60mm, with the 
driest month being in March. The average annual maximum temperature is 
14.40°C. August is the warmest month with an average of 21.48°C and 
January is the coldest month with temperatures averaging 7.85°C.  
 

176. In Ashford Borough, carbon emissions have steadily declined in the period 
between 2005 and 2019. There has been a downward trend in the 
contribution of each of the four main sources of emissions, with commercial 
emissions seeing the greatest percentage decrease of 44.3% over the 
fourteen-year period. Per capita emissions have declined from 7.7 tonnes of 
carbon dioxide (‘CO2’) in 2005 to 4.3 tonnes CO2 in 2019.  
 
Assessment 

 
177. Carbon emissions arising from project construction vehicle emissions are 

anticipated to have a minor to moderate adverse effect locally, prior to the 
implementation of mitigation measures. This is considered significant, in line 
with best practice guidance on climate change impacts.  
 

178. The generation of electricity from the solar farm will displace the generation of 
fossil fuel electricity generation. A carbon saving of approximately 34,500 
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (‘CO2e’) per year is predicted, which is a 
total saving of 1,380,000 tonnes of CO2e over the project lifespan. This is 
considered to be in keeping with the trajectory to net zero by 2050, resulting in 
a minor to major beneficial effect (not significant to significant) at the national 
level.  
 

179. Anticipated effects from climate change adaptation are considered to be no 
more than minor adverse, which is not significant. The anticipated effects with 
regard to flood risk and drainage are minor beneficial (not significant), and 

Page 39



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

cloud cover are negligible to minor beneficial (not significant). This is due to 
flood risk mitigation incorporated into the design, and the projection of cloud 
cover reducing over time, enhancing the productivity of solar panels. Effects 
on biodiversity and noise are anticipated to be negligible (not significant).  
 

180. Effects due to decommissioning traffic are expected to be minor to moderate 
adverse and significant. The disturbance of species at the site would likely 
reduce the resilience of the site to adapt to a changing climate, resulting in a 
minor adverse effect which is not significant.  

 
Mitigation 

 
181. A CEMP and CTMP will be submitted alongside the DCO application. With 

respect to minimising the number of vehicle movements and subsequent 
emissions, the CTMP will provide for measures to consolidate the delivery of 
materials, as well as ways to promote the most sustainable methods of 
construction workers to get to the site.  
 

182. Operational climate resilience mitigation comprises a LEMP to detail habitat 
creation, enhancement and maintenance measures. The Drainage Strategy 
will also account for the projected increase in annual precipitation.  
 

183. With respect to future impacts on climate resilience and the interface with 
species and habitats during the decommissioning phase, a detailed Ecological 
Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy will be submitted with the ES. This will 
include measures such as the monitoring of effects upon important ecological 
features. A DTMP will be secured by DCO requirement and will provide 
management procedures to the removal of materials on-Site.  

 
Residual Effects  

 
184. During the construction and decommissioning phase, no significant adverse 

effects are expected.  
 

185. With respect to climate resilience, no significant adverse effects are expected. 
Minor beneficial effects on the proposed development due to extreme weather 
events are anticipated. A minor to major beneficial effect is anticipated with 
respect to the offset of carbon emissions from renewable energy generation, 
which is considered significant.  

 
Cumulative Effects 

 
186. The PEIR has considered the potential for likely significant inter-project 

cumulative effects on the environment (i.e. those resulting from the proposed 
development combined with other relevant development in the area).  
 

187. An EIA must assess the likely significant effects of a development that may 
arise cumulatively when combined with other relevant development in the 
area. One project has been identified for the assessment of likely significant 

Page 40



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

cumulative effects on the environment. This project is the East Stour Solar 
Farm proposal (Planning application 22/00668/AS). 

 
188. The significant residual cumulative effects identified in the assessment are set 

out as follows: 

Landscape and Views:  

• Effects on Visual Receptors during construction and decommissioning 
of the proposed development (nil and not significant to moderate 
adverse and significant);  

• Effects on Landscape Character during operation of the proposed 
development (moderate adverse and significant); and  

• Effects on Visual Receptors during operation of the proposed 
development (moderate adverse and significant).  

Biodiversity: 

 
• Construction effects of the proposed development on yellowhammer: 

loss of habitat (county adverse and significant);  

• Construction effects of the proposed development on skylark: loss of 
habitat (local adverse and significant);  

• Operational effects of the proposed development on yellowhammer: 
sustained depletion of local food and habitat resource (county adverse 
and significant); and  

• Operational effects of the proposed development on skylark: elevated 
predation risk (local adverse and significant).  

 

Socio – Economics:  
 

• Construction effects on workforce expenditure (moderate beneficial 
and significant);  

• Operational effects on the contribution towards renewable energy 
generation (minor beneficial (not significant) to major beneficial 
(significant)); and  

• Decommissioning effects on workforce expenditure (moderate 
beneficial and significant).  

Page 41



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Climate change: 

• Operational effects resulting from the proposed development’s 
provision of renewable energy to the Grid in combination with the 
cumulative development (minor beneficial (not significant) to major 
beneficial (significant)).  

 
Planning History 

189. There is no relevant planning history associated with the site.  
 

190. Whilst not directly associated with the Stonestreet Green Solar proposals 
itself, the following full planning application is considered relevant to the 
scheme due to the close proximity of the application site to the north east of 
the site subject of this s.42 consultation.   
 
22/00668/AS – Installation of a solar farm comprising: ground mounted solar 
panels; access tracks; inverter/transformers; substation; storage, spare parts 
and welfare cabins; underground cables and conduits; perimeter fence; CCTV 
equipment; temporary construction compounds; and associated infrastructure 
and planting scheme.  

191. Planning application 22/00668/AS was submitted on behalf of EDF Energy 
and is referred to as the East Stour Solar Farm. The planning application was 
submitted to the Council in April 2022 and subsequently made valid in June 
2022 is currently still being considered. The proposed generating capacity of 
the EDF East Stour Solar Farm would be 49.9MW and so falls to the Local 
Planning Authority for determination rather than through the NSIP regime. 
Figure 15, below shows the location of the EDF proposal (in green) relative to 
the location of the NSIP proposal (in red).  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 42



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 15: Location of proposed East Stour Solar proposal 

 
Consultations 

192. The consultation on the current proposal, as previously stated, is carried out 
by the applicant/promoter of the scheme (EP). Ashford Borough Council is a 
consultee and is not responsible for the consultation and responses are 
directly sent to EP at the pre-application stage. This includes statutory 
consultees such as the Environment Agency, Natural England and Highways 
England. These comments will be published by Evolution Power in the 
consultation report submitted to PINS. Ashford Borough Council has no 
access to these consultation comments at present.  
 

193. The Council together with officers from KCC have been holding regular 
meetings with EP to informally discuss the progress of the scheme to date 
and to engage with some aspects of detail (such as highway and likely PROW 
impacts).  

 
194. I have carried out internal consultation of other relevant ABC departments for 

input on the proposals. In addition, the Council has sought expert landscape 
and visual impact assessment consultancy advice from Landscape 
Management Services Ltd. KCC is a separate consultee and will respond to 
EP directly in relation to the s.42 consultation but, helpfully, has forwarded 
comments dealing with highways, historic environment, PRoW, ecology, the 
flooding/SuDS and minerals issues and these are  summarised below. 

Page 43



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
Comments from ABC 
 
Environmental Protection Unit  
 
Land contamination 
 
Phase 1 investigation (Groundsure) and site walkover draft of the preliminary 
conceptual site model have identified a low potential for land contamination for the 
current site and effects from construction, operation and decommissioning of the 
proposed development.  
 
A watching brief must be maintained during construction and decommissioning 
works and reported to ABC Environmental Health before works continue.  
 
Air quality 
 
The report identifies a very low impact on air quality during use and low during 
construction and decommissioning (due to dust created). 
 
Lighting 
 
The site will not be permanently lit during operation with sensor lights used if night 
time work is required. 
 
Noise 
 
Noise levels are predicted to be low with a slightly significant effect during operation 
(usually with plant located away from the boundaries of the site) and short term 
lightly significant effect during construction and decommissioning. The proposed 
noise assessment will consider planning polices and local and national guidance, 
standards and documentation and use BS4142 and BS5228. The proposed 
assessments appear satisfactory for the proposed development. 
 
Economic Development and Tourism Officers 
 
This development does not provide a substantial economic benefit as set out in the 
application, and the main impacts are from construction of the site.  Therefore, the 
benefits of this scheme lie elsewhere in the provision of energy. 
 
From a tourism perspective, although there will be visual impact from the placement 
of the solar farm in this rural location, and that this may have an impact on some 
very local businesses that welcome guests that stay in the area, it is not considered 
that this would have a substantial impact on tourism within the area. 
Conservation Officer 
 

Page 44



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

In terms of this submission and the impact on the built heritage, the assessment is 
not robust and is lacking on the scope and criteria of assessment. In particular the 
following is noted:- 
 

1) Due to the scale of the development and the topography of the land, the 
development will have a visible impact on the landscape significantly beyond 
the site boundary. Many designated and non-designated heritage assets, 
including buildings, historic roadways, field patterns and boundaries and other 
man-made landscape features sit within this landscape and derive part of their 
special interest from this rural setting and they, in turn, make a valuable 
contribution to the sense of place and the character of the countryside. These 
heritage assets are mentioned in the PEIR but are yet not adequately 
identified and assessed, in line with the NPPF requirements.  
 

2) Although the report mentions both Listed and non-designated heritage assets, 
it does not provide any meaningful assessment of these and their setting. This 
needs to be expanded to identify all of these buildings, their significance and 
their setting. The scope of setting can be far beyond the land in the 
ownership, or curtilage of the building and each needs to be assessed 
individually. Historic England provide guidance on how to assess setting.  
 

3) If there has been an assessment of long-range views and visibility in the 
landscape, clear reference to it being applied to the built heritage appears 
missing. Some buildings, such as rural churches, which are often of the 
highest national significance, are an historic landscape feature and as such 
the setting of such buildings will likely be much wider than a mid-terraced 
cottage in a village setting, for example. Significant developments may 
therefore have a harmful impact on a building’s setting, even though the 
development is some distance away. This impact therefore needs to be 
assessed. Each heritage asset should be assessed separately, based on a 
true understanding of the special character of the building/asset.  

 
4) Of the few buildings that are identified, only a limited assessment of the 

impact on their setting has been made, hence the point made in respect of the 
robustness of the assessment. The impact is being assessed in a more 
quantitative way using environmental assessment methodology and criteria 
outlined in the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges. This has limited use 
when assessing historic buildings and structures above ground, as it provides 
no criteria for assessing value. The assessment of the impact on the built 
heritage should be a qualitative not a quantitative assessment. The 
professional expertise and experience asserted to be used to assess potential 
harm on the setting does not come across in this part of the PEIR. The 
assessment concludes that there will only be minor harm to the setting of 
Stonelees and Bank Farm – both of which lie directly adjacent to the site. This 
conclusion seems at best, unlikely, and raises questions about the methods of 
analysis used.   

 
5) The document includes an assessment following the KCC HERS/archaeology 

consultation, but ABC’s Heritage Strategy and national guidance from HE Page 45



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

about solar farms (‘Commerical Renewable Energy Development and the 
Historic Environment’ February 2021) do not appear to be part of any 
assessment to date. These two documents are relevant to this development 
and should have been considered.  
 

6) The Barnwell Manor case is potentially relevant to this proposal, although it 
was for four wind turbines, rather than a solar farm. At appeal, the Planning 
Inspector concluded that the renewable energy benefits of the scheme 
outweighed any harm to the extent that planning permission could safely be 
given, but the High Court and the Court of Appeal did not accept the planning 
balance found by the Inspector. https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-
new/news/wind-farm-blown-away-by-court-of-appeal/  
 

7) In conclusion, a more thorough identification and analysis of the designated 
and non-designated heritage assets needs to be made, to include the impact 
on and the impact by, long-range views of the proposed development.  

 
Open Spaces/Recreation Officer 

  
1.1. The approach to mitigation using soft landscape elements is light touch, and 

not in proportionate scale to the significant scale of the development.  
 
1.2. There is a lack of woodland block planting, with very little identified on site. 

Use of orchard planting will not provide the necessary scale, and we question 
the use of this landscape type in this location as it is does not form part of the 
local landscape character.  
 

1.3. The proposal for additional hedgerow planting is welcomed. However we 
would like to see this combined with the use of individual trees (particularly 
oak), both within and independent of hedgerow, to reflect the local landscape 
character. Currently the schedule lists only wetland trees associated with the 
East Stour River, and no trees to the rest of the development.  
 

1.4. Of particular concern with this development is the extensive use of security 
fencing, particularly when co-located with PRoW. The majority of PRoW 
through the fields of panels will experience a view of solar panels and security 
fencing, both of which are industrial elements within a rural context. This is 
illustrated by the photomontage of View 12.  
 

1.5. Walking through a solar farm is not a particularly pleasant experience, and 
detracts from the recreational value. For users of any PRoW, it is not a typical 
landscape experience, it is unlikely to enhance the recreational experience 
and is unlikely to be a destination experience for a user looking to experience 
a walk within a rural location.  
 

1.6. Solar panels have limited character, are imposing in scale at 3.2m in height, 
are combined with tall fencing of no character, and with CCTV cameras which 
are potentially intrusive to users of a PRoW.  

Page 46

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fhistoricengland.org.uk%2Fwhats-new%2Fnews%2Fwind-farm-blown-away-by-court-of-appeal%2F&data=05%7C01%7Calex.stafford%40ashford.gov.uk%7C8fcb260bd33d4013fd9b08dace5d51b7%7C66a338a5cfb74d1e9354d346e02c3a75%7C0%7C0%7C638049197434984310%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=HGe8ZuH%2BwwoTFtGvIzxP4ib6Ry7COWxWIwaerKow8vw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fhistoricengland.org.uk%2Fwhats-new%2Fnews%2Fwind-farm-blown-away-by-court-of-appeal%2F&data=05%7C01%7Calex.stafford%40ashford.gov.uk%7C8fcb260bd33d4013fd9b08dace5d51b7%7C66a338a5cfb74d1e9354d346e02c3a75%7C0%7C0%7C638049197434984310%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=HGe8ZuH%2BwwoTFtGvIzxP4ib6Ry7COWxWIwaerKow8vw%3D&reserved=0


Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
1.7. As such it is important that users of the PRoWs are sufficiently screened and 

separated from the Solar Farm, and that views of the Solar Farm are 
sufficiently mitigated for so as not to detract from the recreational value and 
landscape character of the location.  
 

1.8. It would be preferable and feasible for PRoW to be co-located with buffers of 
tree planting / meadow, so as to improve landscape character and the 
experience for users of the PRoW. Providing some landscape with depth 
could potentially avoid the need for footpath diversions.  
 

1.9. Fields 19, 20 and 21 are in a particularly open area, and will be highly visible 
from the PRoW, particularly long views from PRoW AF474. Significant 
screening is required – this is an example where orchard planting will be of 
insufficient scale.  
 

1.10. Field 18 is also another open area, low lying with a network of ditches and 
sparse vegetation. The proposal here is to divert the PRoW to the edge of the 
ditch/drain. There is logic to this however the experience for the walker will be 
a view entirely of solar panels and security fence, with fields 14 to 18 all in 
view with no visual barriers and no proposed mitigation to improve the view 
and recreational experience.  
 

1.11. The legend to the Landscape Strategy Plan does not identify the grey blocks. 
What is the purpose of the large rectangle?  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.12. Where proposed security fence is visible from public highway and footpaths, it 

should be screened or an alternative and more rural approach used. The 
landscape character assessment for East Stour Valley provides a guideline to 
‘encourage sympathetic fencing types where necessary’. Given the area is 
graded with ‘high sensitivity’ in terms of landscape, the use of extensive 
industrial security fence will be a significant landscape detractor.  

 
1.13. More consideration needs to be given to the impact on residential properties. 

A quick appraisal has picked up a lack of mitigation to the residential 
properties associated with Bank Farm, and to Becketts Green. Both these 
properties are along Roman Road, which is open and relatively flat in 

Page 47



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

character, allowing for long views. A detailed appraisal on all the residential 
properties impacted by the development is required.  
 

1.14. The solar farm has a potential life span of 40 years, which is significant to 
residents impacted by the development. Those residents should have the 
opportunity to be able to make changes to their property over the 40 year 
duration, without experiencing a negative impact to their view – e.g. if they 
choose to build an extension or remove vegetation, mitigation should already 
be in place within the solar farm development to screen the potential new 
view.  
 

1.15. Large structures will require mitigation, with a combination of appropriate 
colour finish and adjacent landscaping. It is noticeable that the current 
buildings associated with the existing Aldington array, which are white and 
pale grey in colour, are conspicuous within views of the wider landscape, and 
do not blend well.  

 
Tree Officer  

 
General comments relating to: 

 
• Woodland/hedgerow enhancement and connectivity 
• Footpath buffers and planting opportunities 

 
1.0 Woodland/hedgerow enhancement and connectivity 
 

When viewing the site layout plan the spatial distribution of the woodland has 
been assessed against the NE MagicMap to gauge whether any linkages may 
provide benefits. 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Woodland and Ancient Woodland – MagicMap 
 Page 48



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Site Layout 
 

Woodland and hedge planting/strengthening opportunities 
 

a) Backhouse Wood  
 

There exists an opportunity in the north east quarter of the development to link 
the woodland adjacent to the railway line to provide a meaningful legacy and 
significant biodiversity benefit.  In addition, the footpath experiences would be 
provided with an improved environment. There would be a small loss of panels 
for a large biodiversity gain. 
 

 
 
(b) Land between Byway and Laws Lane 

Page 49



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Opportunities exist in this area to provide an improved area of woodland long-term 
and to improve the quality of the biodiversity linkages as shown above.  There would 
be a small loss of panels for a large biodiversity gain. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.0 Footpath buffers and planting opportunities. 
 

The experience of the footpath users on the many paths is likely to be 
compromised by the panels – this situation can be much improved by the 
planting of a minimum 7.5 metre buffer on each side of the footpath of native 
shrub and small tree species such as hawthorn, guilder rose, wayfaring tree, 
hazel and elder. This planting will provide a meaningful contribution for the 
biodiversity enhancement and improve the experience for footpath walkers. 
 
The setting of listed buildings is likely to be impacted by the development, 
planting around such settings may assist in ameliorating the impact. 
 
Access trackways and routes could be softened and screened by planting 
hedgerow buffers where space allows. 

 
Conclusion 
 

Very little of the site in terms of Ha2 will be used for planting/biodiversity 
enhancements and, to offset the development in a meaningful way, more area 
should be given over to improvements than is on offer. 
 

 
 
 

Page 50



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
Consultancy advice on the PEIR Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment  
 

Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) Methodology  
 

The proposed LVIA Methodology (PEIR Appendix 7.2) is consistent with 
guidance set out in ‘Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment’ 
(3rd Edition) (GLVIA3) prepared by the Landscape Institute and the Institute of 
Environmental Management and Assessment, and also additional guidance 
on landscape and visual matters set out in Technical Guidance Notes 
prepared by the Landscape Institute.   Methodologies for the preparation of 
LVIAs will vary between Consultancies, but it is our view that the proposed 
Methodology provides an approach which should inform a comprehensive and 
reasonable assessment of the anticipated impacts and effects of the scheme 
on landscape character and visual amenity. 
 
It is noted that the 37 Site Context Views have been agreed with ABC.  We 
have undertaken an initial site visit and would agree that the 37 views provide 
a representative set of views to inform the assessment.  It is also noted that 
views are predominantly winter views when views will be most open (although 
the Photomontages in Appendix 7.9 utilise summer views).   For the full LVIA 
ES chapter it would be helpful to include both summer and winter views for 
each Context View. 
 
Evidence is provided on the evolution of the design process through 
consultation and assessment and how views expressed during consultation 
have been considered, although we have not had sight of earlier iterations of 
the proposals. 
 
Within the Landscape Policy Context the PEIR includes extracts from the 
current draft National Policy Statement for Energy NPS EN-1 (2021), in 
addition to the local policy context.  This section also includes policy extracts 
from the Kent Downs AONB Management Plan.  Although the land does not 
lie within the AONB, the proposals are potentially visible from the AONB and it 
is important to assess the potential impacts and effects on the setting to the 
AONB. 
 
The PEIR largely follows the anticipated layout to a full LVIA and includes 
preliminary analysis of landscape and visual receptors, based on desk top 
and site assessments and anticipated impacts and effects.   As noted above, 
the PEIR references amendments to the proposals informed by consultation 
and the Scoping exercise (much of this is described in Chapter 4 Alternatives) 
but details of the evolution of the scheme as informed by this process are not 
included in the PEIR.  The role of LVIA in informing the design process is a 
clear requirement of GLVIA 3 (Paras 4.5 to 4.10) and an overview of this 
process should be included in the full LVIA. Page 51



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

The PEIR addresses the impacts and effects during the construction phase 
(anticipated 1 year), operational phase (anticipated 40 years) and de-
commissioning (anticipated 1 year).   This report focuses on the operational 
phase of the scheme.   The landscape and visual receptors and anticipated 
impacts and effects are largely similar for each phase, although it is 
anticipated that there would be greater localised disruption with temporary 
noise, traffic and lighting impacts associated with the construction and de-
commissioning phases.  The PEIR also addresses night-time effects. 
 
Cumulative impacts are not directly addressed in the landscape and visual 
chapter, but are identified in Chapter 15 of the PEIR.  From a landscape and 
visual perspective it is essential that the LVIA considers the potential 
cumulative impacts associated with the neighbouring East Stour Solar 
Proposals.  Whilst it is appreciated that there can be limitations on what can 
be assessed when considering cumulative impacts, given the combined 
extents and similarity of the schemes this is felt to be of particular importance 
in this instance and there is a full LVIA including photomontages available for 
the East Stour scheme. 

 
Project Extents 

 
The proposed Stonestreet scheme extends to a total area of an estimated 
189ha (467 acres) located mainly to the north west and west of the village of 
Aldington.   The majority of the project area extends over an irregularly 
shaped area running south west to north east across the Aldington Ridgeline 
and into the shallow, broad Upper/East Stour Valley.  The northern limit to the 
scheme is defined by the HS1 railway line and higher ground to the north west 
in the vicinity of Mersham and The Forstal.   The bulk of the scheme 
comprising Fields 1 to 18 (Figure 3.2) would form a largely unbroken, 
continuous area of solar panels interspersed with hedges and (in the context 
of the scale of the development area) small areas of woodland and other 
landscape infrastructure.   The northern most part of the scheme (Fields 22 to 
27) is more fragmented and set within a more wooded existing landscape 
pattern.   There is also a smaller, more isolated area (Fields 19 to 21) to the 
north east of Aldington on the lower slopes of the Aldington Ridge.  All of the 
panels are largely located within the existing field pattern, minimising impacts 
on vegetation, in particular hedges.  

 
The main physical change to features in the local landscape would be the 
proposed diversion of public rights of way (PRoW) within the main site area.  
The local area benefits from an extensive and relatively dense network of 
PRoW, in particular within the Stour Valley.  The current proposals are to 
divert the majority of the PRoW within the site area to field perimeters. 
 

 
 Page 52



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Plans and Figures 
 

The plans and figures included in the PEIR cover the relevant baseline 
landscape and visual information. 

 
The Topography Plan (Figure 7.3) covers the wider study area.  From our site 
visit it is apparent that subtle and relatively minor variations in topography at a 
more local scale are important in understanding the site and immediate 
surroundings.  The scheme runs across the Aldington Ridgeline and into the 
shallow valley of the upper Stour.   The land rises gently on the northern side 
of the valley towards Mersham.    
Contours are shown on the Site Appraisal Plan (Figure 7.5), but are difficult to 
read.  It is suggested that a more localised topography plan or 3D modelling 
covering the extents of Figure 7.5 could be included in the full LVIA in order to 
better understand the subtleties of the local topography.  
 
Landscape Character 
 
The baseline description of landscape character is informed by a combination 
of the published landscape character assessments and site visits.   Breaking 
down the site into a series of parcels (Figure 7.5) is helpful both in the 
description of the landscape character of such a large site and in the 
interpretation of the Photomontages, identifying which parts of the site are 
potentially visible from each viewpoint.   
 
The published landscape character context is relatively complex with the 
scheme running across landscape character areas at a national, county and 
local level.   The nature of the development is such that it is agreed that the 
impacts on landscape character are predominantly associated with the 
physical impact of the scheme on the local landscape resource.  There are, 
however, important perceptual aspects (closely linked to visual amenity) in 
terms of the impacts on the more elevated character areas, principally the 
Aldington Ridge or Ridgeline.   
 
The approach to limit the impact assessment to those Landscape Character 
Areas (LCA)s directly affected by the proposals is agreed (principally the 
Aldington Ridge/Ridgeline and the Upper/East Stour Valley and a small part of 
the Old Romney Shoreline Wooded Farmland).  It is noted that the LCA 
descriptions combine the ABC Character Areas or the KCC Character Areas 
as the basis for the assessment.  Tables 7.2 and Appendix 7.4 draw on both 
assessments, which could be confusing.  In our view, where possible utilising 
the more recent ABC Character Areas, where possible, would seem more 
appropriate. 
 
The LVIA methodology does not specifically address the impacts and effects 
on the setting to the local villages (principally Aldington and to a lesser degree Page 53



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Mersham, The Forstal and Broad Oak).  Impacts and effects are addressed 
principally through reference to landscape and visual receptors, which include 
wider landscape character areas and features and visual receptors such as 
roads, public rights of way (PRoW) and residential properties.  With a 
development of this scale it is felt important to consider the effects of the 
scheme on the setting to local villages as well as individual properties.   
 
Viewpoints 
 
The 37 Context Views provide a reasonable and representative set of 
viewpoints to inform the visual assessment.   There are a number of medium 
distance viewpoints from which it is anticipated that the Stonestreet scheme 
would potentially be seen in association with the neighbouring East Stour 
Scheme.   Viewpoints 19, 28 and 31 are highlighted as locations from which it 
is considered there could be a substantial cumulative impact in medium 
distance views north across the Stour valley, but there are other locations 
from which it is anticipated both schemes would be visible.   It should be 
noted that the East Stour Solar Farm ES LVIA Chapter is considered to be 
severely lacking in terms of provision of representative views.    
 
The Visual Effects Table (Appendix 7.7) which is set out by visual receptors 
references both the site context (viewpoints) and site appraisal (character) 
views to inform the assessment. 
 
The combination of visual receptor types, in particular PRoW (Visual Receptor 
for PRoW within the site covers 15 PRoW) does tend to over simplify the 
assessment.   The Table summarises the value of many PRoW visual 
receptors (in particular those within the site) as very low which, although 
consistent with the methodology, seems to undervalue the character and 
appearance of these open, predominantly rural views from PRoW within the 
Stour Valley.    
 
Landscape Effects 
 
The assessment of landscape effects identifies two anticipated significant 
adverse effects.  These are: 
 

• The Character of the Site – Minor-Moderate Adverse effect; 

• LCA Aldington Ridge – Minor-Moderate Adverse effect. 

Large parts of the scheme also lie within the Upper Stour Valley LCA.   
Adverse effects are identified but the PEIR concludes that limited intervisibility 
and landscape mitigation will reduce the effects to minor adverse. 
 

Page 54



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

A key consideration in the PEIR assessment is that the solar project will not 
directly impact on characteristic features ie the landscape pattern and 
features will be retained and that the changes are reversible (the Landscape 
Duration and Reversibility criteria set out in Table 5 identifies 40 years as the 
limit for a medium assessment, which conveniently ties in with the anticipated 
operational timeframe).  In our view a timeframe of 15 to 25 years would be a 
more reasonable ceiling to a medium timeframe.  The importance of these 
considerations is that these inform the overall judgement on the assessment 
of effects. 
 
In terms of the physical landscape resource, the assessment predicts that 
there will be a significant adverse effect as a consequence of the loss of open 
fields, but that implementation of the landscape proposals will have an 
anticipated beneficial impact on hedgerows, trees and woodlands.   The 
existing hedgerow pattern within the Stour Valley is somewhat fragmented.  
Some (but not all) of the proposed hedges appear to re-establish former 
hedgelines (historic mapping is included in the Cultural Heritage PEIR 
Chapter).   In all cases a moderate beneficial effect is identified which seems 
high in particular in relation to trees and woodland (Appendix 7.4 identifies 
only 360 trees to be planted of which 260 are orchard trees, whilst new 
woodland is largely limited to shelter belts).  The Landscape Effects Table in 
Appendix 7.4 identifies an ‘ample’ scale change in relation to both canopy 
trees and woodland at year 15, which is described as ‘likely be change to a 
high proportion of the landscape receptor, which will likely result in a 
noticeable change in the integrity of the landscape or the key characteristics 
of an extended geographic area’.   The Landscape Strategy Plan (Figures 7.8 
to 7.10) shows that the extent of landscape planting or green infrastructure is 
dwarfed by the scale and extent of the land under solar panels.   The 
conclusions drawn in the PEIR as to the contribution of the Landscape 
Strategy to the landscape resource and overall landscape character are felt to 
over emphasise the benefits of such limited proposals in the context of the 
scale of the project as a whole.   
 
Visual Effects 
 
These are assessed in Appendix 7.7.  The viewpoints from which a significant 
(moderate adverse or greater) effect is anticipated at Year 15, ie once 
landscape planting has established, are listed in paragraph 7.7.11.  Twelve of 
the thirty nine visual receptors are anticipated to experience a significant 
adverse effect.  These significant residual adverse effects can broadly be 
grouped as follows: 
 

• Users of public rights of way within the site; 

• Locations on Bank Road, PRoW 370, AE377, AE396 and Handen 
Farm located on the Aldington Ridgeline; Page 55



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

• Viewpoint on PRoW AE401 on Colliers Hill; 

• Viewpoints on PRoW AE370 and AE428 and Residents in The Forstal 
and Mersham on the northern side of the Stour valley. 

The assessment identifies significant moderate adverse effects on many 
PRoW visual receptors, but it is felt that because the value of the view is 
considered very low this underestimates the effects of the proposals on some 
views/visual receptors.   For instance it is difficult to understand why the 
assessments for Viewpoints 12 and 16 at Year 1 could be concluded as 
anything other than major adverse as opposed to moderate (Appendix 7.9).   
Viewpoints 12 and 16 provide a useful comparison in terms of locations where 
mitigation is or is not proposed which would ultimately provide a degree of 
screening.   Although shown on the Landscape Strategy Plans it would be 
useful to have further information on locations, in particular lengths of PRoW 
which would run adjacent to panels with or without associated landscape 
mitigation. 
 
The visual assessment describes winter views when the panels would be 
most visible.   The descriptions of the selected landscape visualisation 
viewpoints (Appendix 7.9), includes identification of those locations which it is 
anticipated would be visible by reference to the land parcels shown on Figure 
7.5.   This is helpful in seeking to identify which locations or elements of the 
scheme are visible in longer distance views.  It is noted that the 
Photomontages in Appendix 7.9 include summer views only, when screen 
planting would be most effective.  As noted above, it would be helpful to 
include both summer and winter views for each Context View in the full LVIA. 
 
The significant adverse effects on residential visual amenity identified in 
relation to residents on Bank Road, Handen Farm, The Forstal and Mersham 
should be of particular concern bearing in mind the 40 year life of the scheme 
and subject to further review to explore opportunities to provide mitigation. 

 
Comments from Kent County Council 
 
Kent Highways and Transportation  
 

1. It is noted that EP has revised the construction delivery routing proposal to 
avoid the problematic section of Station Road at Evegate Mill.    
  
2. HGV’s and deliveries would be unloaded within the site compound and 
transferred to the other parts of the proposal site via tractor and trailer - mainly 
via internal haul roads. In order to reach fields 19, 20 and 21 the tractor and 
trailer arrangement will need to take a route along Station Road south from 
the site access crossing and Goldwell Lane to the existing site access just 
north of Goldwell Close. The initial part of the construction vehicle access 

Page 56



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

route to reach the main site compound on Station Road is considered 
acceptable however there are some concerns related to HGVs taking the left 
turn into the gate. Vegetation will need to be cleared on the verge on the 
western side of Station Road. Warning signs will also be required.  

 
3. The two locations where full crossing points are located (Station Road and 
Roman Road) can be safely implemented by traffic control holding 
approaching traffic in both directions to allow site traffic to emerge and cross. 
Details will need to be agreed by KCC.   
 
4. Construction vehicle routing via Goldwell Lane – vehicle tracking shows 
that the tractor and trailer will take up the entire width of the road at the bend. 
The supporting information details potential traffic control or escort vehicle.  
An escort vehicle would be more appropriate. The OS drawing used for the 
vehicle tracking does not appear accurate.  If overrun does occur, remedial 
works may be required to prevent further damage to the verge and damage to 
the edge of the carriageway.  
 
5. Even though daily vehicle movements would be low, there will still be 
occasions when the construction related vehicles have to pass other traffic on 
the network.  There is a chance that in manoeuvring (long vehicles) to allow 
vehicles to pass there may be overrun onto the highway verge.   A highway 
condition survey should therefore be carried out prior to commencement of 
works and post completion to ensure any damage is rectified at the cost of the 
developer.  Damage to the highway, should be rectified as soon as practical 
at the cost of the developer.      
 
6. A mechanised street sweeper should be used to ensure that any material 
dragged from the site onto the highway is cleared as soon as possible so as 
to prevent a hazard to highway users.  
 
7. Site access points show that adequate visibility is available from the main 
site access on Station Road.  In terms of the highway crossings on Station 
Road and Roman Road, if these accesses are required to be used outside of 
traffic control, then visibility splays must be provided for approval by KCC.   
 
8. During the construction phase the predicted number of HGV’s arriving per 
day is 9, with an uplift buffer of +25% which brings the daily HGV deliveries to 
12 vehicles.   Spread across the working day and timed to avoid network and 
school related peaks, this is not of a level that could be considered severe in 
its impact.   
 
9. The traffic associated with the operational phase would be minimal.  The 
supporting information has now demonstrated that the associated traffic 
during the construction period by routing or volume would not be considered a 
point of objection by the Local Highway Authority.  Page 57



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Kent Countryside and Access Service (PRoW) 
 

The value of the PRoW network is in providing the means for residents and 
visitors to access and appreciate landscapes for personal health and 
wellbeing, enhancing community connectivity and cohesion, reducing local 
traffic congestion for economic benefit and improvement in air quality, and 
much more. The existence of the PRoW are a material consideration. 
 
There are eighteen 18 Public Footpaths and 1 Byway Open to all Traffic 
affected and within the site boundary.  Public Footpaths: AE385, AE442, 
AE370, AE377, AE378, AE448, AE447, AE431, AE438, AE657, AE457, 
AE656, AE454, AE475, AE455, AE474, AE436 (Ashford) & HE436 
(Folkestone & Hythe).  Byway Open to all Traffic: AE396 (Ashford). 
 
The substantial size of this development will have an adverse impact on the 
PRoW network, through visual impact, and loss of amenity over a significant 
period of time and therefore appropriate measures will need to be taken to 
help mitigate this impact.   Sustainable Active Travel as well as recreational 
activity across both the development and the wider area connectivity must be 
future-proofed. 
 
The amount of use of a PRoW is not a factor as a PRoW has public rights 
regardless of use. There is also the cumulative effect of this development, 
The East Stour solar development and Otterpool Park leading to wide and 
long-term disruption to the PRoW network.  
 
KCC and ABC are involved in ongoing discussions regarding opportunities to 
in some way address the impact on the area, in terms of creating a green 
corridor connecting these sites into Ashford to the West as significant 
mitigation. These discussions involve other stakeholders. The public benefits 
of such work would help to compensate for the level of disruption caused by 
the construction and long-term operation of this site and the associated 
negative effects on the PROW network.  
 
KCC welcome continued engagement with the Applicant and other relevant 
stakeholders to progress a detailed PRoW Management Plan as part of the 
application. Negotiations and responses between all parties should therefore 
be seen as ongoing and evolving. KCC would therefore recommend that 
further consultation is undertaken in respect of the PRoW proposals.  
 
PEIR: Chapter 7 - Landscape and Views 
 

Page 58



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

KCC does not agree with the conclusions reached within Table 7.4: Receptor 
Summary – Visual Appraisal - the long-term scale of the impact on user 
experience from all receptors should be regarded as high (as is the North 
Downs Way) due to the loss of recreational walks within open countryside. 

 
In respect of paragraph 7.5.10 – from ongoing discussions, KCC understands 
that PRoW diversions will be minimalised and agreed accordingly.   The 
applicant should ensure that there are no “dog leg” right angles which are not 
convenient for the user, or that routes are diverted as a matter of course to 
field edges.  It is also essential that connectivity of the network is maintained. 
 
Wider area PRoW connectivity is also part of ongoing discussions with the 
applicant and KCC requests further details on this matter. Considerations 
include:  
 

• Whether the landownership has been addressed.  
• What is the proposed status/rights of the proposed routes, and 

therefore has consideration been made as to the legal processes?   
• Will new PRoW be recorded  – if so, consideration is necessary for 

future maintenance costs to avoid impact on public expenditure; if 
not, are they to be permissive paths with landowner permission 
only, which questions the future use once the solar farm is 
decommissioned, also future maintenance costs as would not be 
covered by KCC.   

 
It should be noted by the applicant that mitigation measures in the form of 
landscaping and planting is not sufficient to address the impact of such a 
project and these points and request ongoing discussions on this matter.  
 
During the construction phase, working hours will be 0700-1900 Monday to 
Saturday. This will have major impact on PRoW given use largely during 
daylight hours.  
 
In respect of the decommissioning phase – KCC requests further engagement 
in respect of legacy for the PRoW network improvements proposed and how 
the network in this area will be futureproofed.   
 
East Stour Solar Farm (planning reference: 22/00668/AS) as noted in section 
7.8 Cumulative Effects – KCC requests continued engagement between both 
applicants over mitigation and connectivity between the two sites that again 
amounts to more than landscaping and planting which takes a long time to 
realise and mature. 
 Page 59



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

PEIR: Chapter 12 – Traffic and Access 
 
KCC appreciates the research and user surveys carried out, however, it 
should be recognised that the duty of KCC is to protect and enhance the 
rights of PRoW regardless of level use. 
 
The County Council also requests the consideration of PRoW within the 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and the 
Decommissioning Environment Management Plan (DEMP) 
 
PEIR: Chapter 16 – Summary and Residual Effects  
 
KCC disagrees with the conclusion that the direct effects on the PRoW 
network will be negligible and would welcome further engagement with the 
applicant to discuss and agree appropriate mitigation to reduce the level of 
impact where possible.  

 
Kent Biodiversity  
 

1. Justification is required for the onsite mitigation areas for brown hare, 
yellowhammer and skylark habitat as the onsite mitigation areas proposed do 
not provide optimum habitat.  
 
2. A Biodiversity Net Gain assessment should be submitted with the DCO 
application and KCC would recommend further engagement on this matter.  
 
3. ABC are providing landscape and visual impact advice and it is understood 
that there may be opportunities to further mitigate the impacts and effects 
identified in the PEIR to provide wider benefits in terms of landscape 
enhancement, access to the countryside and to local communities. Further 
engagement on this matter to minimise the landscape and visual impacts 
arising from this proposal would be welcomed.  

 
Kent Heritage Conservation  
 

The County Archaeologist makes the following comments:  
 
The PEIR heritage assessment is reasonable and provides currently 
acceptable assessment of archaeology, notwithstanding this, KCC welcomes 
the archaeological landscape assessment but requests this is broadened and 
recommends that a specialist, separate report on archaeological landscapes 
in view of the scale and visibility of this scheme is provided.   
 
KCC also recommend that a specialist report is submitted on geo-
archaeological and Palaeolithic potential as it is considered that there is Page 60



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

potential for important geo-archaeological information and Palaeolithic 
remains to survive towards the northern part of this scheme. 
 
The proposed retention of historic landscape features such as hedgerows is 
welcomed as are the considerations of preservation of archaeological 
landscape features if currently visible. Flexibility with the scheme is 
encouraged to accommodate the retention of archaeological landscape 
features as the scheme progresses. 
 
The archaeological assessment includes a geophysical survey however, the 
consideration of the results and interpretation of the data is limited and more 
detailed assessment is required to inform appropriate mitigation.  
 
This geophysical survey has highlighted anomalies many of which may be 
archaeological remains.  No targeted archaeological work has taken place so 
these anomalies are undated and their significance is not known.  Some may 
be of significance and merit preservation in situ.   
 
It is essential that preliminary archaeological works are undertaken in time to 
influence the detailed scale and nature of groundworks.  Preliminary targeted 
trenching could provide data to inform slight adjustment of design and location 
of groundworks, avoiding unnecessary disturbance of significant and/or 
sensitive archaeology.   
 
The very brief and generalised mitigation approach is not acceptable and 
more detail is required. Mitigation needs to consider the nature and character 
of the archaeological site within its landscape setting.  For example, Aldington 
Mount may be a barrow and other barrows may be identified.  Barrow Hill 
further to the east could also be a sensitive area and it may be visibly 
impacted by glare. Some of the geophysical anomalies may reflect a ritual 
landscape and these areas should not be covered with solar panels.   
 
It is not just burial mounds themselves which should be mitigated but the 
views of them and the specific landscape they rest in as well as their 
character. Ritual landscapes should be given particularly sensitive 
consideration.  
 
The mitigation approach should consider all forms of potential impact 
including groundworks, visual and noise.  When considering mitigation for 
archaeology, all ground works need to be included. 
 
Archaeological mitigation will include a complex phased programme of 
archaeological works including intrusive fieldwork and safeguarding 

Page 61



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

measures.  In view of the potential for Palaeolithic remains, there is a need for 
a separate programme of geoarchaeological mitigation.  A separate 
programme for archaeological landscape features is also required.  
 
In summary, the archaeological assessment is detailed and reasonable 
however KCC would welcome engagement and further detail. KCC welcomes 
the inclusion of the archaeological landscape assessment but would welcome 
further mitigation for archaeological landscape features.   
 
KCC considers that many archaeological issues can be covered by specific 
requirements and would request dialogue with the applicant to agree 
conditions relating to  the following: 
 

• Geo-archaeological field evaluation works and investigation and a 
programme of post excavation assessment.  

• Archaeological landscape survey works and safeguarding measures to 
ensure preservation in situ of important archaeological landscape 
features and/or further investigation and recording.  

• Archaeological field evaluation works, safeguarding measures to 
ensure preservation in situ of important remains and/or further 
investigation and recording.  

• Post excavation publication work to an agreed timetable.  
 
 
Kent Flood and Water Management  
 

1. The Outline Surface Water Management Plan (‘OSWP’) will be produced 
as part of the ES. Surface water runoff will be discharged by infiltration, where 
feasible to do so, alternatively, surface water runoff will be discharged at a 
restricted rate to the local watercourses. Any discharge off-site will be 
restricted to greenfield runoff rates. There are no objections to this approach.  
 
2. The OSWP should consider not only how surface water from the ancillary 
structures will be dealt with, but also how rainfall upon arrays will be 
managed. Concentration of water can create flows that can erode the soil and 
allow a greater volume of overland flow to enter watercourses or flow to 
adjacent areas at a greater rate than in greenfield conditions. Surface water 
runoff should not be increased to safeguard neighbouring areas of land.  
 
3. To minimise any potential risk of overland flows, additional measures of 
runoff protection should be looked at. Such as: 
 

Page 62



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

• Incorporating bunds, filter drains or other measures to interrupt flows of 
water between rows of solar arrays to disperse water flows over the 
surface and promote infiltration into the soils. 

• Incorporating wide grassed filter strips at the downstream side of 
blocks of solar arrays and maintaining the grass at a long length to 
interrupt water flows and promote infiltration.  

• Incorporating gravel filled filter drains or swales at the downstream side 
of blocks of solar arrays to help infiltrate run-off (where ground 
conditions allow). 

• Vegetated strips through a combination of wildflowers and or grass 
along with buffer strips around the perimeter of the field’s buffer strips 
will be left uncut to capture any runoff leaving the site.  

 
4. The vegetated buffer strips and planting around the panels must be 
maintained throughout the operational phase to avoid increased runoff/ 
erosion and suitable maintenance regime is required to ensure erosion and 
runoff are controlled. 
 
5. The following conditions/ advisories are recommended: 
  
The detailed drainage scheme should demonstrate that the surface water 
generated by this development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up to 
and including the climate change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be 
accommodated and disposed of without increase to flood risk on or off-site.  
 
The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate (with reference to published 
guidance):  
 

• that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately 
managed to ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters. 

• appropriate operational, maintenance and access requirements for 
each drainage feature or SuDS component are adequately considered, 
including any proposed arrangements for future adoption by any public 
body or statutory undertaker.  

 
Upon completion of the work a Verification Report, pertaining to the surface 
water drainage shall also be submitted. The Report shall demonstrate that the 
drainage system constructed is consistent with that which was ultimately 
approved.  The Report shall contain information and evidence (including 
photographs) of details and locations of inlets, outlets and control structures; 
landscape plans; full as built drawings; information pertinent to the installation 
of those items identified on the critical drainage assets drawing; and, the 

Page 63



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

submission of an operation and maintenance manual for the sustainable 
drainage scheme as constructed. 
 

 
 
Planning Policy 

National Planning Policy  
 
Energy White Paper Powering our Net Zero Future (December 2020) 

 
195. The Energy White Paper sets out the Government’s goal of a shift from fossil 

fuels to clean energy, in power, buildings and industry, whilst creating jobs, 
growing the economy and keeping energy bills affordable. It also explains that 
a four-fold increase in clean electricity generation could be required by 2050, 
due to the retiring of existing carbon intensive and nuclear capacity and the 
potential doubling of demand from increased electrification (e.g. vehicles and 
heating). 
 

196. The White Paper does not target a particular mix of energy generation 
technologies to meet the 2050 target, stating that the market should 
determine the best solutions for very low emissions and reliable supply at a 
low cost to consumers. It states however that a low-cost, net zero consistent 
system is likely to be composed predominantly of wind and solar.  

 
197. The White Paper also announced that the Government would review the 

energy NPS’s in order to reflect the policies and broader strategic approach 
set out in the White Paper and to ensure that the planning policy framework 
supports the infrastructure required for the transition to net zero.  

 
National Policy Statements (NPS) 
 
198. The government has produced National Policy Statements (NPS’s) which set 

out the need for and Government polices to deliver the development of 
nationally significant infrastructure projects. NPSs are ‘designated’ following 
compliance with consultation, publicity and parliamentary requirements: 
designation is therefore broadly analogous with ‘adoption’. 
 

199. Section 104 of The Planning Act 2008 promotes NPS’s above the 
Development Plan for NSIP proposals stating that the SoS must have regard 
to any NPS which has an effect in relation to development of the description 
to which the application relates. The Examining Authority must also have 
regard to;- 
 
(i) any local impact report (within the meaning given by section 60(3) i.e. a 
report that details of the likely impact of the proposed development on the 
authority's area) submitted to the SoS,  
 
(ii) any matters prescribed in relation to development of the description to Page 64



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

which the application relates, and  
 
(iii) any other matters that the SoS thinks are both important and relevant to 
the decision.  
 

200. However, there is currently no NPS specifically for solar energy or battery 
storage projects and, instead, more general NPS including the Overarching 
National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1), the National Policy Statement 
on Renewable Energy (EN-3), and the National Policy Statement for 
Electricity Networks (EN-5). EN-3 does not provide any guidance on solar 
energy or battery storage installations, whilst EN-5 principally relates to new 
overhead electricity lines and associated infrastructure.  
 

201. As such, whilst the proposal is a ‘Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project’ 
as defined in sections 14 and 15 of the Planning Act 2008 by virtue of being 
an onshore generating station with a generating capacity of greater than 
50MW, there is no NPS for energy infrastructure in effect which explicitly 
covers solar powered electricity generation or battery storage such as is 
proposed by EP.  
 

202. In the absence of a specific NPS that is applicable to the proposed 
development, the provisions of section 104 of the Planning Act 2008 provide 
the basis for decision-making in this case and the SoS must have regard to 
the matters that are detailed in that section.  
 

203. NPS EN-1 whilst being a general document does apply to electricity 
generating stations with a generating capacity of more than 50MW (although 
not this particular type of generating station). Notwithstanding this, policies in 
EN-1 are matters which are both important and relevant to his decision on 
whether to grant or withhold consent for the development.  

 
204. NPS EN-1 does set the stage for promotion of low carbon energy production 

facilities and a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions. To that extent EN-1 is 
relevant and supportive of the principle behind this proposal, but the NPS also 
supports reducing energy demand, greater interconnection of systems and 
decentralised and community energy systems. The NPS sees most scope for 
new renewable energy to be from wind, wave, waste and biomass systems.  
 

205. EN-1 recognises that virtually all NSIP projects will have landscape effects 
stating that projects need to be designed carefully, taking account of the 
potential impact on the landscape. Schemes should also have regard to siting, 
operational and other relevant constraints with the aim being to minimise 
harm to the landscape, providing reasonable mitigation where possible and 
appropriate. 
 

206. EN-1 highlights the need for decisions to have regard to habitats and to 
consider whether a project may have a significant effect on a European site, 
consider alternatives, seek good design and minimise flood risk by not 
consenting development is flood zones 2 or 3 unless the sequential (and Page 65



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

exception) test is applied. In terms of flood risk, the advice is to locate more 
vulnerable parts of the development in areas of least flood risk.  
 

207. EN-1 also refers to the impact on tourism and on rights of way, stating that 
Rights of way, National Trails and other rights of access to land are important 
recreational facilities for example for walkers, cyclists and horse riders. 
Applicants are therefore expected to take appropriate mitigation measures to 
address adverse effects on rights of way.  
 

208. EN-3, which should be read in conjunction with EN-1, applies to the types of 
renewable energy infrastructure listed in paragraph 1.8.1. of the NPS. That list 
does not include solar, and paragraph 1.8.2 confirms that the NPS does not 
cover other types of renewable energy generation that were not, at that time 
in 2011, technically viable over 50MW. It goes on to state that:  
 
'When it appears that other renewables technologies will be 
economically and technically viable over 50MW, the Government will 
further consider either revisions to this NPS or separate NPSs to cover 
such technologies.' 
 

209. Subsequently, the Government published for consultation a number of draft 
revised energy NPSs (EN-1 to EN-5) in September 2021. Consultation 
concluded in November 2021. 
 

210. Draft EN-1 recognises the UK’s target to cut greenhouse gas emissions to net 
zero by 2050. Paragraph 3.3.20 confirms that there is an urgent need for new 
electricity generating capacity to meet the UK's energy objectives. 
 

211. Paragraphs 3.3.21 to 3.3.23 of the draft EN-1 identify the role of solar (and 
wind) in meeting that need. The draft NPS states that solar is one of the 
lowest cost ways of generating electricity, helping reduce costs and providing 
a clean and secure source of electricity supply. UK government analysis 
demonstrates that a secure, reliable, affordable and net zero consistent 
system in 2050 is likely to be composed predominantly of wind and solar. The 
draft NPS recognises that this will require sustained growth in the capacity of 
solar in the next decade.  
 

212. Alongside the development of wind and solar, paragraphs 3.3.24 to 3.3.25 of 
the draft NPS highlight the need for energy storage to maximise the usable 
output from intermittent low carbon generation (e.g. solar and wind), reduce 
the total amount of generation capacity needed on the system, provide a 
range of balancing services, and reduce constraints on the networks to help 
defer or avoid the need for costly network upgrades as demand increases. 

 
213. Draft NPS EN-3 Covers renewable energy infrastructure comprising solar PV 

above 50MW in England. The draft NPS at paragraph 2.47.1 recognises solar 
farms as one of the most established renewable electricity technologies in the 
UK and the cheapest form of electricity generation worldwide. It provides 
support for large scale solar development, by stating that: 

Page 66



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
‘the government has committed to sustained growth in solar capacity to 
ensure that we are on a pathway that allows us to meet net zero 
emissions. As such solar is a key part of the government’s strategy for 
low cost decarbonisation of the energy sector’. 
 

214. The draft NPS outlines a number of factors that can influence the siting of a 
solar project including: irradiance and site topography; proximity of a site to 
dwellings; capacity of a site; grid connection; agricultural land classification 
and land type and accessibility. It also goes on to state at paragraph 2.48.13 
that:  
 
‘land type should not be a predominating factor in determining the 
suitability of the site location’  
 
and at paragraph 2.48.15 that: 

 
‘the development of ground mounted solar arrays is not prohibited on 
sites of agricultural land classified 1, 2, 3a’.  

 
215. Draft EN-3 sets out matters to be considered in the decision-making process 

and these include: 
 

• Access tracks; 
• Site layout, design, and appearance (including any flood risk); 
• Security and lighting; 
• Project lifetimes; 
• Flexibility (to account for technology types and advancements); 
• Biodiversity and nature conservation; 
• Landscape, visual and residential amenity; 
• Glint and glare;  
• Cultural heritage; and 
• Construction impacts including traffic and transport noise and vibration. 

 
216. Draft EN-5 relates to any above ground electricity line where nominal voltage 

is expected to be 132kV or above with a length greater than 2km which is not 
a replacement line and not exempted. However, similar to NPS EN-5 
paragraph 1.6.2 states that other kinds of electricity infrastructure (including 
underground cables at any voltage and associated infrastructure such as 
substations and converter stations) will be covered by this NPS if it constitutes 
associated development for which consent is sought along with an NSIP such 
as a generating station. 

 
217. The relevance of the draft NPSs to the determination of applications for 

development consent for large-scale solar projects has been confirmed by the 
SoS's decision on the Little Crow Solar Park project located in north 
Lincolnshire (Ref: EN010101 April 2022) Paragraph 4.3 of the decision letter 
states: 

 Page 67



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

'Although the new NPSs are in draft form and have not been designated, the 
Secretary of State considers them to be important and relevant matters for the 
purpose of section 105 of the 2008 Act.’ (my emphasis) 
 

218. Clearly, the draft revised NPSs will therefore be important and relevant 
matters to be taken into account for the purposes of decision making in 
respect of NSIP proposals. 
 

219. Once designated, the revised draft energy NPSs will replace the existing 
NPSs EN-1 to EN-5. The draft overarching NPS for Energy (EN-1) states that:  
 
'The 2021 amendments will… have effect only in relation to those applications 
for development consent accepted for examination after the designation of 
those amendments.'  
 
Paragraph 1.6.3 goes on to state that any emerging draft NPSs (or those 
designated but not yet having effect) are potentially capable of being 
‘important and relevant considerations’ in the decision-making process.  

 
220. EP has confirmed that the DCO application for the proposed development is 

expected to be submitted in early 2023, by which date the draft NPSs may 
have been designated. If so, the new NPS EN-1, EN-3 and EN-5 will have 
effect in relation to a decision in respect of the proposed development. If the 
draft NPSs have not been designated by the date on which the DCO 
application is submitted, or that the final version of the revised NPSs differ 
from that consulted on, the ES that is submitted will have to make appropriate 
references to the existing relevant NPSs and the emerging drafts.  
 

221. In conclusion, it is clear from the above that both the current and draft NPSs 
are significant material considerations that will shape the consideration of the 
proposals by the Examining Authority.  

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
222. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains no specific policies 

for NSIP development, meaning that the NPSs, are the main source of 
specific national policy in relation to the development proposal. 
 

223. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF sets out the planning system has 3 key overarching 
objectives in order to achieve sustainable development. These are: 
 
a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the 
right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved 
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;  
 
b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to 
meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering well-
designed, beautiful and safe places, with accessible services and open Page 68



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ health, 
social and cultural well-being; and  
 
c) an environmental objective – to protect and enhance our natural, built and 
historic environment; including making effective use of land, improving 
biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and 
pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to 
a low carbon economy. 

 
224. Paragraph 152 states that the planning system should support the transition 

to a low carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account of flood risk 
and coastal change. The planning system should help to: shape places in 
ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, 
minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing 
resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support 
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure.  
 

225. Paragraph 155 states that in order to help increase the use and supply of 
renewable and low carbon energy and heat, local authority plans should:  
 
a) provide a positive strategy for energy from these sources, that maximises 

the potential for suitable development, while ensuring that adverse impacts 
are addressed satisfactorily (including cumulative landscape and visual 
impacts);  
 

b) consider identifying suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy 
sources, and supporting infrastructure, where this would help secure their 
development;  

 
c) and identify opportunities for development to draw its energy supply from 

decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply systems and for co-
locating potential heat customers and suppliers.  

 
226. Whilst not strictly relevant to the determination of an NSIP proposal, but 

importantly highlighting the Government’s overall direction of travel in relation 
to renewable and low carbon energy proposals, paragraph 158 of the NPPF 
also states that, local planning authorities should (when they are determining 
planning applications for renewable and low carbon development) approve 
the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. 

 
Ashford Borough Local Plan 

 
227. The Development Plan for Ashford Borough comprises the Ashford Local Plan 

2030 (adopted February 2019), the Chilmington Green AAP (2013), the Wye 
Neighbourhood Plan (2016), the Pluckley Neighbourhood Plan (2017), the 
Rolvenden Neighbourhood Plan (2019) and the Kent Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan (2016) as well as the Kent Minerals and Waste Early Partial 
Review (2020).  

 
Page 69



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

228. Aldington and Bonnington Parish Council submitted a request to designate 
the parishes of Aldington and Bonnington as a neighbourhood area on 7 
November 2019. In accordance with Regulation 5A of The Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended), the Borough Council has 
exercised its powers under section 61G of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 to designate the neighbourhood area without consultation. The 
parishes of Aldington and Bonnington are now designated as a 
neighbourhood area. 
 

229. Aldington and Bonnington Parish Council are currently drafting their 
Regulation 14 (draft) with consultation expected in early 2023. Given that the 
Neighbourhood Plan is in its early stage of preparation it should not be 
afforded any weight at this time. 
 

230. The relevant policies from the Development Plan relating to this proposal are 
as follows:- 

 
SP1 - Strategic Objectives  

SP3 - Strategic Approach to Economic Development  

SP6 - Promoting High Quality Design  

SP7 - Separation of Settlements 

EMP5 - New employment premises in the countryside 

EMP11 - Tourism 

TRA5 - Planning for Pedestrians 

TRA6 - Provision for Cycling 

TRA7 - The Road Network and Development 

ENV1 - Biodiversity 

ENV3a - Landscape Character and Design 

ENV5 - Protecting important rural features 

ENV6 - Flood Risk 

ENV9 - Sustainable Drainage 

ENV10 - Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

ENV13 - Conservation and Enhancement of Heritage Assets 

ENV15 - Archaeology Page 70



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

COM1 - Meeting the Community's Needs 

IMP1 - Infrastructure Provision 

 
231. The following supplementary planning guidance documents are also material 

considerations.  
 

• Landscape Character Assessment SPD 2011 (including Ashford 
Landscape Character Assessment (Jacobs, June 2009) 
 

• Sustainable Drainage SPD 2010  

• Dark Skies SPD 2014 

• The Ashford Heritage Strategy (2017)  

• ABC Renewable Planning Guidance Note 2: The development of large 
scale (>50MW) Solar PV Arrays (2013) 

 
232.  ‘Renewable Energy Planning Guidance Note 2: The development of 

large scale (>50MW) Solar PV Arrays’ (2013)  
 
This document is summarised below.  
 
The guidance acknowledges that the greatest irradiation is within the south of 
England and therefore the greatest solar electricity potential for the UK and 
covers tariff / financial subsidy towards solar PV in place at the time.  
 
In terms of government guidance, reference is made to advice in the NPPF in 
respect of commitment to sustainable development as a core planning 
principle through support to a low carbon future in a changing climate and 
encouragement of the use of renewable resources including renewable 
energy. Reference is made to ‘Planning practice for renewable and low 
carbon energy’ produced by DCLG in 2013. This highlighted a number of 
factors that the Council’s Planning Guidance Note identifies will be relevant 
factors to be considered and addressed in respect of any large scale solar 
farm that is proposed in the Borough. The Note therefore aligns with the 
approach in paragraph 158 of the NPPF in respect of the acceptability of 
impacts.  
 
The factors from the DCLG publication are numbered (1 – 8) below;- 
 
(1) Agricultural Use & biodiversity alongside solar development:  
encouraging the effective use of previously developed land, and if a proposal 
does involve greenfield land, that it allows for continued agricultural use 
and/or encourages biodiversity improvements around arrays, 
 
(2) Temporary Use & Restoration: that solar farms are normally temporary 

Page 71



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

structures and planning conditions can be used to ensure that the installations 
are removed when no longer in use and the land is restored to its previous 
use,  
 
(3) Glint & Glare: the effect on landscape of glint and glare (see guidance on 
landscape assessment at paragraphs 39-40) and on neighbouring uses and 
aircraft safety  
 
(4) Moving Arrays: the extent to which there may be additional impacts if 
solar arrays follow the daily movement of the sun  
 
(5) Security Impacts: the need for, and impact of, security measures such as 
lights and fencing  
 
(6) Heritage Impacts: great care should be taken to ensure heritage assets 
are conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, including the 
impact of proposals on views important to their setting. As the significance of 
a heritage asset derives not only from its physical presence, but also from its 
setting, careful consideration should be given to the impact of large scale 
solar farms on such assets. Depending on their scale, design and 
prominence, a large scale solar farm within the setting of a heritage asset may 
cause substantial harm to the significance of the asset. 
 
(7) Landscape & Visual Impact Mitigation & Cumulative Impact:  
 
(A) the potential to mitigate landscape and visual impacts through, for 
example, screening with native hedges.  
 
(B) In terms of cumulative landscape impacts, these are the effects of a 
proposed development on the fabric, character and quality of the landscape 
and the degree to which a proposed renewable energy development would 
become a significant or defining characteristic of the landscape. 
 
(C) In terms of cumulative visual impacts, these are the degree to which 
proposed renewable energy development would become a feature in 
particular views (or sequences of views), and the impact this would have upon 
the people experiencing those views. Such cumulative visual impacts may 
arise where two or more of the same type of renewable energy development 
would be visible from the same point, or will be visible shortly after each other 
along the same journey. Hence, it should not be assumed that, just because 
no other sites would be visible from the proposed development site, the 
proposal would not create any cumulative impacts. 

 
(8) Energy Generating Potential: the variance from latitude and aspect. 
 
The Council’s Energy Planning Guidance Note 2 then addresses these 
matters in further detail as per the issues set out as 9-27 below;- 

 
(9) Site Levelling: any necessary levelling works due to existing site contours 
would need to be identified (enabling these to be taken into account in terms Page 72



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

of landscape and visual impacts),  
 
(10) Avoiding Sensitive landscapes / areas of particular interest: although 
ideally, large scale solar PV arrays should be directed towards previously 
developed land / brownfield sites, contaminated land, industrial land, there are 
few sites of appropriate status and size in Ashford Borough. It is therefore 
likely that such development will look to land currently in agricultural use. 
Large scale solar PV arrays should avoid (i) landscapes designated for their 
natural beauty and (ii) sites of acknowledged/recognised 
ecological/archaeological importance/interest.  
 
(11) Impacts on agricultural land & its classification: the guidance points 
to NPPF guidance that, when it is demonstrated necessary to use agricultural 
land, the preference should be to use of areas of poorer quality, rather than 
high quality, land. The presence of the best and most versatile agricultural 
land (defined as land in grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land 
Classification) will therefore be a significant issue in the determination of 
applications to be taken into account alongside other sustainability 
considerations.  
 
The Guidance Note acknowledges that readily available maps do not identify 
whether grade 3 land is grade 3a or 3b. In respect of Grade 3a, the Guidance 
Note identifies the need for ‘additional information’ and suggests that;- 
 
(i) the developer provided an explanation for the need for location on such 
land and not land of a lesser agricultural value (Grade 3b, 4 and 5), 
 
(II) the developer provide information on the impact of the proposal on the 
local area’s supply of Grade 3a land that would be lost as a result of the 
proposal, 
 
(iii) for schemes involving part development of a farm, the developer to 
provide information on the viability of the farm to continue to function as an 
agricultural unit with the solar farm in situ, and 
 
(iv) consideration will be needed in respect cumulative impact of solar PV 
arrays on the supply of Grade 3a land across the local area. 
 
For Grades 3b, 4 & 5 land, no such additional information is identified unless 
the existing agricultural use on that land would be lost (rather than sit 
alongside) due to solar PV development and the existing use makes a special 
environmental or local economy contribution. 

 
(12) Ground Maintenance: maintenance considerations will need to be 
considered to avoid sites to become overgrown or have noxious weeds both 
of which might impact on a long term return to agricultural use. Spraying to be 
avoided. Grazing under solar arrays is encouraged, particularly in the aisles 
separating arrays to avoid overshadowing. Arrays designed at a height to 
allow cattle, rather than sheep, to graze underneath are not recommended. 

Page 73



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

(13) Construction stage compound: temporary construction compounds 
should be carefully located in order to minimise environmental or amenity 
impacts Topsoil and subsoil should be stripped from such areas and stored on 
site for replacement following the completion of construction works. Details of 
such soil stripping, storage and replacement should be set out together with 
the anticipated life of the construction compound. 
 
(14) Soil stripping, storage and replacement: besides compounds, 
installation stage may require access roads and cable trenching. Again, 
topsoil and subsoil should be stripped, stored and replaced separately in 
order to minimise soil damage and to provide optimal conditions for site 
restoration: a methodology for such can be secured by planning condition. 
 
(15) Access tracks: The installation and use of access tracks should be kept 
to a minimum to minimise landscape/visual impacts and long terms impacts at 
the end of scheme life stage (removable/reversible vs permanent). Access 
tracks between rows of solar panels will generally not be acceptable. 
Agricultural vehicles, including tractors, quad bikes and 4WD, should be 
capable of servicing facilities without the need to construct access tracks. 
Buffer strips of 5m+ between hedges and solar arrays have scope for solar 
maintenance purposes as well as hedge management and biodiversity. 
 
(16) Security fencing / lighting / CCTV:  security measures need to be 
balanced against the need to avoid unacceptable landscape/visual impacts. 
Applicants should;-  
 
(i) minimise the use and height of security fencing and, where necessary 
consider close-welded mesh panel fencing has a relatively low 
landscape/visual impact while providing good site security.  
(ii) utilise existing features, such as hedges or landscaping, to screen security 
fencing;  
(iii) use natural features, such as vegetation planting, to assist in site security;  
(iv) minimise the use of security lighting with any lighting that is required using 
passive infra-red technology and being designed and installed in a way which 
minimises glare, light pollution and impacts on biodiversity, 
(v) Ensure that appropriate measures are in place to facilitate continued 
access by larger mammals, such as badgers and foxes, 
(vi) Site any pole-mounted CCTV sensitively to reduce impacts. 
 
(17) Ground anchors and tracking arrays:  

 
(A) where arrays are developed on agricultural land they should be reversible.  
Intrusive development, such as trenching and foundations, should therefore 
be minimised and the use of concrete should be avoided. Solar PV arrays 
should be installed using 'pile' driven or screw foundations, or pre-moulded 

Page 74



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

concrete blocks (shoes), that are capable of easy removal. Pile driven 
foundations must not exceed statutory noise levels for sensitive receptors. 
 
(B) Arrays that are designed to move to track the path of the sun (or are 
manually moved in to a series of static positions at certain dates in the year 
will need careful landscape/visual impact consideration.  
 
(18) Grid connection & switchgear / inverter buildings:  

 
(A) The capacity of the electrical grid network in Ashford Borough may be one 
of the greatest constraints to the development of solar PV farms. Such 
development is likely to be attracted to suitable sites within 2km of an existing 
electrical substation with sufficient capacity to accommodate the additional 
electrical supply. There is likely to be considerable interest in some areas and 
electricity substations may be unable to accommodate all development 
interest. It is likely that developers will have approached the relevant power 
distribution network provider to evaluate sites as part of the pre- application 
process. Application proposals should provide a broad indication of the route 
of connectivity to the electrical grid. Such connectivity should avoid areas of 
high landscape, ecological or archaeological sensitivity. 
 
(B) Any buildings required to house switchgear / inverters should be designed 
and constructed to help minimise their landscape and visual impacts. 
Agricultural style clad in timber or vernacular materials is suggested. 

(19) Landscape & visual impacts / field boundaries / trees / screening 
mounds:  
 
(A) this is likely to be one of the most significant impacts. South facing slopes, 
where solar gain is greatest are likely to be attractive to a solar developer but 
equally such land may be of Grade3a land and above and may be more 
visible in the wider landscape.  
 
(B) The removal of existing field boundaries and hedges to accommodate 
solar arrays as a long term but still temporary use of land will not be 
acceptable given the irrevocable damage that would arise. The development 
will need to have regard in both its design layout and future maintenance 
plans for the retention of growth of vegetation on these important boundaries, 
including the opportunity for individual trees within the boundaries to grow on 
to maturity. 
 
(C) The landscape/visual impact must be considered with great care at the 
pre-application stage and mitigation measures proposed wherever necessary. 
Existing hedges and established vegetation, including mature trees, should be 
retained wherever possible. Trees and hedges should be protected during 
construction. The impact of the proposed development on established trees 
and hedges should be informed by a tree survey (to BS 5837) and/or a hedge 
assessment as appropriate. Careful consideration should be given to the Page 75



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

impact of existing or proposed vegetation in order to ensure that any resultant 
shading of solar panels does not result in the future pruning or felling of such 
vegetation. 
 
(D) Mounds less than 2m high can sometimes assist in reducing landscape 
and visual impacts but care is needed to avoid the creation of a feature that 
itself has an unacceptable impact. 
 
(20) Ecology:  
 
(A) Solar arrays could have implications for habitat loss, fragmentation and 
modification and for displacement of species. The nature of impacts will 
depend on the ecological characteristics and features of the site and their 
sensitivity to proposed changes. Schemes may reduce habitat and habitat 
suitability for some species, but may also be capable of integrating different 
uses of land and delivering environmental gains that contribute to wider aims 
such as in Biodiversity Action Plans (BAPs). The NPPF sets out the national 
approach to conserving and enhancing the natural environment. It will be 
important to consider the ecological impacts that could take place through the 
construction, operation and decommissioning stages of a scheme. 
 
(B) Location will be key. Intensively managed agricultural land is likely to be of 
least ecological interest and therefore most suitable, in ecological terms, for 
solar PV farms. Design should be informed and influenced by ecological 
assessments (phase 1 habitat surveys, protected species surveys etc) and 
desk-studies of ecological records. The main biodiversity impacts with solar 
farms is likely to be; 
- lighting impacts on hedges / woodland. Scrub and on bats 
- the need for overground or underground cables  
- construction breaking linear habitat such as hedges and thus impacting on 
dormice and reptiles 
- pile driving affecting badgers nearby 
- fencing location to allow connectivity for badgers, reptiles, other fauna but 
containing any grazing animals 
- fencing design to allow small mammal and reptiles access through a 
combination of small gaps at the base and larger height gaps/gates for 
badgers at intervals 
 
(C) Solar PV farms have the potential to increase the biodiversity value of a 
site if the land was previously intensively managed. Sheep grazing or an 
autumn cut with removal of grass cuttings could increase the botanical 
diversity of the site. An ecological management regime taking into account 
shading impacts of arrays of panels should be prepared. Hedges should be 
managed appropriately and could be laid to reduce gaps. Proposed 
enhancements should build upon and extend existing habitats or create new 
important habitats e.g.: cultivated strips/plots for rare arable plants, rough 
grassland margins, bumble bee plant mixes, wild bird mixes, etc. An 
ecological monitoring programme should be secured to monitor impacts upon 
the flora of the site and upon any particular features (e.g. bats, wintering 
birds). Results of the monitoring can then inform any changes needed to the Page 76



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

management/grazing regime. 
 
 
(21) Historic environment:  

 
(A) Above ground impacts may include the effects of applications on the 
setting of Listed Buildings and Scheduled Monuments as well as on the 
Historic Landscape Character of the area.  
 
(B) Below ground impacts may include direct impacts on archaeological 
deposits through ground disturbance associated with trenching, foundations, 
fencing, temporary haul routes etc. 
 
(C) Proposals should be informed by KCC’s Historic Environment Record 
(HER) and should identify the presence of designated and undesignated 
heritage assets which might be affected. Schemes should take account of the 
results of historic environment assessments in the design, how affected 
assets might be better managed or how settings of designated sites might be 
improved. 
 
(22) Drainage & surface water run-off: 

 
(A) A flood risk assessment will be needed to consider any impacts on 
drainage. On sloping sites, the concentration of run-off from panels could lead 
to run-off caused by the formation of gullying which, as a process, is more 
likely where the underlying soils are not naturally free draining, the site is 
steep and the arrays are installed up-and-down the slope, rather than along its 
contours. Simple Sustainable Drainage Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) 
drainage techniques, such as shallow swales or infiltration trenches, should 
be adopted to overcome this. These should aim to disperse the run-off at 
regular intervals to allow it to soak into the natural ground and prevent 
drainage paths forming straight down a slope. To avoid the concentration of 
surface water flows, trenches and shallow swales should not necessarily be 
linked through the site but can be a series of short, contoured features. 
Access tracks, where required, should have a permeable surface and run-off 
be controlled by appropriate SUDs techniques.  
 
(B) Given the temporary nature of solar farms, they should be configured or 
selected to avoid the need to impact on existing drainage systems and 
watercourses. Culverting existing watercourses/drainage ditches should 
generally be avoided. Where culverting for access is unavoidable, it should be 
demonstrated that no reasonable alternatives exist and where necessary only 
temporarily for the construction period. 
 
(23) Glint & glare: 

  
(A) Solar panels are designed to absorb, not reflect, irradiation. However the 
sensitivities associated with glint and glare, and the landscape/visual impact 
and the potential impact on aircraft safety, should not be underestimated. 
 Page 77



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

(B) Glint may be produced as a direct reflection of the sun in the surface of the 
PV solar panel. It may be the source of the visual issues regarding distraction 
to the viewer. Glare is a continuous source of brightness, relative to diffused 
lighting but is not a direct reflection of the sun, but rather a reflection of the 
bright sky around the sun. Glare is significantly less intense than glint. 
 
(C ) All applications should include a glint and glare assessment. The potential 
for PV panels, frames and supports to have a combined reflective quality 
should be assessed. This assessment needs to consider the likely reflective 
capacity of all of the materials used in the construction of a solar farm. 
 
(24) Community involvement: Community involvement should be 
considered as an integral part of the development process. The local 
community should be engaged, by the developer, at the pre-design, 
conceptual stage, ideally utilising a local exhibition/presentation where 
community views can be sought and recorded. A second 
exhibition/presentation should be arranged, by the developer, some weeks 
prior to submission of the planning application. This second consultation 
should allow sufficient time to seek community views/opinions, and take them 
into consideration, prior to the submission of any final planning application. 
Any planning application should detail the exhibitions/presentations, any 
views/representations received and how any planning application was 
influenced/amended to accord with such representations. The developer may 
also wish to undertake an exhibition/presentation following the submission of 
a planning application. 
 
(25) Aviation impacts: The Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) is seeking to 
develop its policy on the installation of solar photovoltaics in respect of their 
possible impacts on aviation.  
 
(26) Electricity generating capacity: Planning applications for commercial 
scale solar PV development should clearly indicate the installed capacity 
(MW) of the proposed facility. While it is accepted that the performance of the 
solar panels may degrade over time the initial installed capacity should be 
provided. The 'capacity factor' and estimated annual production (MWh p.a.) 
should also be provided together with the number of residential properties 
electricity equivalent for UK, south east and Ashford properties. A pro forma 
table, explaining these terms, is attached in the Guidance Note as Appendix 
B. This information will allow a clear understanding of the generating capacity 
of the proposed facility. 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 78



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

(27) Duration of permission & use of planning conditions: Reference is 
made to the Feed in Tariff for solar PV applying for a period of 25 years. Solar 
farms should normally be regarded as a temporary use of land, and hence the 
need for 'reversibility', and the ability for all structures to be removed and the 
land returned to its original use. Planning conditions can be used to limit the 
time period for the use and remove equipment and restore the land. 

Ashford Borough Council Corporate Plan 2022-2024 

233. The Corporate Plan sets out the Council’s priorities to achieve the ambition for 
the borough that being: 
 
…to be a thriving, productive and inclusive borough in 2030 and beyond; a 
vital part of Kent and the South East where local businesses, social 
enterprises, communities and the public sector provide collective leadership to 
promote shared prosperity, happiness and wellbeing. 

234. The ‘Ashford Ambition’ is supported by three priority themes, one of which is 
‘Green Pioneer’ with the long term aim being that every community and 
individual plays their part in becoming a carbon neutral borough, through a 
more sustainable way of life and that the natural environment is 
protected.  
 

235. The Plan recognises that there are a challenges to achieving these aims such 
as tackling climate change by achieving carbon neutrality, enabling 
development whilst protecting the environment and ensuring that no one is 
disadvantaged as the Council reduces the carbon footprint of its services and 
operations.  Objective GP1 of the Corporate Plan specifically relates to energy Page 79



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

and reducing reliance on fossil fuels in line with the Council’s carbon neutral 
targets. GP1 states that the aim is for homes and buildings to be as energy 
efficient as possible, cheaper to heat, for more energy to come from 
renewable sources and for fewer local car journeys to be made as 
opportunities to cycle, walk and use public transport increase. Further, the 
Plan confirms that the Council is committed to increase renewable energy 
generation and, through the local plan process seek opportunities for 
renewable energy generation and energy efficient homes.  
 

236. Sitting directly beneath the Corporate Plan are the Council’s Climate Change 
Strategy and related Action Plan, the Economic Development Strategy and 
the Local Plan all of which are considered to be key drivers in delivering the 
stated Ashford Ambition.  

 
Ashford Borough Council Climate Change Strategy June 2022 and 
Climate Change Action Plan 2022 – 2024 

 
237. In May 2021, the Council made a commitment to carbon net zero targets 

within its own estate by 2030 and to support the Government’s national 
agenda to reach net zero carbon more widely in the borough by 2050. The 
Council’s Climate Change Advisory Committee (CACC) ensures the 
commitment to act, achieve and collaborate to meet this agenda.  
 

238. Climate change is considered as the golden thread that runs through all 
Council policy considerations. The Council’s climate change strategy sets out 
how the Council will take a systemic approach to achieving net zero with a 
two-pronged approach. Firstly, through leadership and example, ensuring that 
sustainability considerations, action and accountability are ingrained into all 
that the Council does and, secondly, to enable, support and advise all 
partners, communities and stakeholders to contribute to these shared goals. 
The Council envisages that a consultative and problem-solving approach will 
help in understanding and tackling any barriers to change and to ensure that 
all communities join together in this vital work to secure natural balance, 
embrace innovation and drive a new green economy.  
 

239. The Climate Change Action Plan sets out the Council’s 8 priorities aimed at 
meeting the targets for reducing emissions. Priority 3 is of particular relevance 
to this report and states the following: 
 
Priority 3: Reduce reliance on fossil fuel for energy by increasing renewable 
energy generation and consumption.  
 
Objective 3.1.1 of Priority 3 seeks to increase the number of sites suitable for 
renewable energy generation by ensuring renewable energy is included within 
the ‘call for sites’ for the next Local Plan. Further objectives, include assessing 
all Council owned assets for potential to host solar PV panels and installing 
panels where viable. In addition, the Plan sets out the Council’s own 
aspirations to explore the potential to deliver a solar farm as set out in 
Objective 3.2.4 which states that the Council will complete a feasibility study 

Page 80



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

to determine the viability of building a solar farm and to implement where/if 
appropriate.  
 

240. Also of relevance are the following: 
 

• Kent County Council Strategic Delivery Plan 2020 -2023  
 

• Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2020) 
 

• Kent Minerals and Waste Safeguarding SPD 2017 
 

 
Assessment 

General Overview 

241. The purpose of this report is to provide the Council’s response to the formal 
s.42 pre-application consultation on EP’s Stonestreet Green Solar NSIP 
proposals.  
 

242. This is not yet a formal DCO application and the level of information and plans 
provided at this consultation stage is down to the applicant. The Council and 
other consultees can only respond to what is in front of them even though 
some of the details and information are outstanding. The Council’s 
consultation response therefore needs to be caveated accordingly but I 
consider a steer should be given at this stage as to whether the Council  
supports the principle of the proposals subject to details and impacts being 
clarified for further Council assessment and comment.  
 

243. As identified elsewhere in this report, how long a prospective NSIP applicant 
wishes to stay at the pre-application stage taking into account s.42 
consultation response feedback and then refining an emerging scheme is 
necessarily a matter of judgement for the applicant.  
 

244. An inherent tension exists between consultation too early when proposals are 
insufficiently firm enough to the able meaningful consultation responses to be 
made. In this regard, an iterative, phased consultation consisting of two or 
more stages is encouraged by Government advice, especially for large 
projects. Furthermore, such advice suggests that the timing and duration of 
consultation is likely to vary from project to project depending on its size and 
complexity and that whilst the 2008 Act provides for a minimum 28 day period 
(which might be sufficient for straightforward and uncontroversial projects) this 
may need to be considerably longer for larger projects that are not 
straightforward and are controversial: in my view, the proposals fall into the 
latter category for the reasons that I set out further in this Assessment section. 
 

245. Clearly, if there is an objection in principle to a scheme from the Council as 
the host authority then it is unlikely that an applicant would wish to stay at this 
pre-application stage longer than necessary, especially if the applicant Page 81



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

considers (i) that the scheme is one where the planning benefits of the 
proposal in terms of NPSs and other relevant and important considerations 
would outweigh planning harms and (ii) that the approach to mitigation of 
scheme impacts is well-reasoned, would be effective, would be deliverable 
and that this could be demonstrated to the Examining Authority. 
 

246. In the alternative scenario where an objection as a matter of principle is not 
made but there are concerns with the emerging scheme to the point of a s.42 
consultation response effectively constituting a ‘holding objection’ then it will 
be open for the prospective applicant receiving such a response to;- 
 
(i) progress without further consultation or further changes to the scheme, or 
 
(ii) carry out another formal s.42 consultation on a further refined scheme 
making extensive changes (given that there is no limit on the number of such 
formal consultations), or 
 
(iii) if the changes made by an applicant in response to s.42 consultation are 
considered of a more minor nature in extent or affecting only part of the 
development to further consult on a more informal basis communicating to all 
parties the nature of the changes made and giving an opportunity to comment 
further. 
 

247. How to proceed in relation to (ii – formal route) and (iii – informal route) above 
will be a matter of judgement for an applicant as ultimately, when an 
application for DCO is made, the applicant will need to be able to demonstrate 
the adequacy of its approach to community consultation bearing in mind that a 
scheme cannot be materially changed at that advanced stage of the process.  
 

248. Relating the above to the scheme subject of this report, my preference is for 
any scheme changes seeking to address the Council’s s.42 response to be 
the subject of further formal s.42 consultation.  
 

249. My assessment below covers the following:  
 
a) The principle of the proposed development. 

b) The potential environmental effects and other issues that the Council 
wishes to highlight on the current proposals based on the information 
provided.  

c) The future delegation arrangements for the development consent 
application.  
 

a) The principle of the proposed development 

250. In terms of renewable energy, designated NPS EN-1 is clear that there is a 
need for this type of infrastructure and that the scale and urgency of the need 
means that that there must be no upper limits placed on capacity. Decision 
makers must therefore give substantial weight to the contribution NSIP Page 82



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

projects will make towards satisfying this need. Designated NPS EN-1 is also 
clear that meeting these targets requires major investment in new 
technologies, electrification of much of the heating, industry and transport, 
prioritisation of sustainable energy and cleaner power generation. Key to 
unlocking this is the ability to provide power when it is most required, i.e. at 
night and winter months. It is noted that the battery element of the EP scheme 
would, enable the transition to low carbon energy production by storing 
energy and releasing it into the system when it is most required.  
 

251. Whilst designated NPS EN-3 provides assessment and technology-specific 
information on certain renewable energy technologies it does not include solar 
PV development. The reason for this appears to be that at the time of drafting 
EN-3, the Government did not consider other forms of renewable energy 
generation to be viable over the relevant NSIP threshold. However, draft NPS 
EN-3 confirms this is no longer the case, stating that solar farms are one of 
the most established renewable energy technologies in the UK and the 
cheapest form of electricity generation worldwide. Further, it states that solar 
farms can be built quickly and, coupled with consistent reductions in the cost 
of materials and improvements in the efficiency of panels, large scale solar is 
now viable in some cases to deploy subsidy free and at little to no extra cost 
to the consumer.  

 
252. Draft NPS EN-1 sets out the Government’s up to date objectives and 

commitments for the energy system, providing planning policy for NSIPs that 
is intended to facilitate the delivery of these objectives and meeting the 
Government’s commitments. 

 
253. Paragraph 2.3.2 in the draft sets out that the Government’s three objectives of 

the energy system. These are to:  
 
a) Ensure security and reliability of energy supply;  
b) Provide affordable energy to consumers; and  
c) Cut greenhouse gas emissions, delivering carbon budgets and achieving 
net zero by 2050. 
 

254. The same paragraph sets out that “This will require a step change in the 
decarbonisation of our energy system”, and paragraphs 2.3.3 to 2.3.4 go on to 
set out that a significant amount of energy infrastructure, including of large 
scale, will need to be delivered and the volume and proportion of energy 
supplied from low carbon sources will need to be “dramatically” increased.  
 

255. Paragraph 2.3.5 of draft NPS EN-1 summarises the challenges facing the 
energy system: 
 
“we need to transform the energy system, tackling emissions while continuing 
to ensure secure and reliable supply, and affordable bills for households and 
businesses”. 
 

Page 83



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

256. Paragraph 3.3.21 of draft NPS EN-1 sets out that, along with wind, the 
government expects solar to form the majority of generation capacity in a net 
zero, secure and cost-efficient energy system:  
 
“Wind and solar are the lowest cost ways of generating electricity, helping 
reduce costs and providing a clean and secure source of electricity supply. 
Our analysis shows that a secure, reliable, affordable, net zero consistent 
system in 2050 is likely to be composed predominantly of wind and solar”. 
 

257.  Whilst draft NPS EN-1 paragraph 3.3.13 acknowledges the role that smaller 
scale developments would have in helping to achieve the government’s 
objectives and commitments for the energy system, it states that this, alone, 
will not be enough and that;  
 
“the government does not believe they will replace the need for new large-
scale electricity infrastructure to meet our energy objectives”.  
 

258. Paragraph 3.3.14 goes on to set out that large-scale centralised electricity 
generating facilities have numerous economic and other benefits, including 
the more efficient bulk transfer of power, which enables surplus generation 
capacity in one area to be used to cover shortfalls elsewhere. 
 

259. Paragraph 1.1.1 of draft NPS EN-3 sets out that electricity generation from 
renewable sources of energy is an essential element of the transition to net 
zero, stating that analysis suggests that demand for electricity is likely to 
increase significantly over the coming years and could more than double by 
2050 – requiring a fourfold increase in low carbon energy generation with 
most of this likely to come from renewable sources.   
 

260. In summary, draft NPS EN-1 sets out that the delivery of a large amount of 
renewable generation capacity is required for delivery of the government’s 
energy objectives and commitments. Further, draft NPS EN-1 sets out that the 
delivery of a large amount of solar generation capacity, in particular, is an 
essential element required for the delivery of the Government’s energy 
objectives and legally binding net zero commitments. 
 

261.  Draft NPS EN-1 sets out at paragraphs 4.1.2 and 3.1.2, that the basis for any 
decision on an application for an energy NSIP, including a solar farm NSIP, 
should be: 

 
• a presumption in favour of granting development consent, and that; 
• substantial weight should be given to the established need for energy 

infrastructure.  
 
262. Government planning guidance set out within the NPPF recognises the 

responsibility on all communities to contribute to energy generation from 
renewable and low carbon sources. Local planning authorities are required to 
have a positive strategy to promote energy from renewable and low carbon 

Page 84



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

sources as it helps ensure a secure more sustainable supply of energy that 
reduces carbon emissions minimising the impact of climate change.  
 

263. In terms of dealing with Climate Change, paragraph 152 of the NPPF states 
that the planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future 
in a changing climate and should support renewable and low carbon energy 
and associated infrastructure 

264. When determining planning applications for renewable energy local planning 
authorities are advised to approve schemes if the impacts are acceptable or 
can be made acceptable.  
 

265. At a local level chapter 2 of the ABLP sets out the vision for Ashford borough 
in 2030. Part of this vision relates to the need to adapt to and mitigate against, 
the effects of climate change stating that a positive approach will be secured 
by (amongst other things) promoting sustainable energy technologies.  

 
266. Policy SP1 of the ABLP sets out the strategic vision for the borough and form 

the basis of the local plan policy framework as well as providing the core 
principles that planning applications are expected to adhere to. Of particular 
relevance is criterion i) which states (with my emphasis) that: 
 
i) to ensure new development is resilient to, and mitigates against the 

effects of climate change by reducing vulnerability to flooding, 
promoting development that minimises natural resource and energy 
use, reduces pollution and incorporates sustainable construction 
practices including water efficiency measures.  
 

267. Policy ENV10 of the ABLP sets out how proposals for renewable and low 
carbon energy generation will be considered by the Council. Policy ENV10 
states the following: 
 

Planning applications for proposals to generate energy from renewable 
and low carbon sources will be permitted provided that:  
 
a) The development, either individually or cumulatively does not result 
in significant adverse impacts on the landscape, natural assets or 
historic assets, having special regard to nationally recognised 
designations and their setting, such as AONBs, Conservation Areas 
and Listed Buildings;  
 
b) The development does not generate an unacceptable level of traffic 
or loss of amenity to nearby residents (visual impact, noise, 
disturbance, odour);  
 
c) Provision is made for the decommissioning of the infrastructure once 
operation has ceased, including the restoration of the site to its 
previous use; and,  
 Page 85



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

d) Evidence is provided to demonstrate effective engagement with the 
local community and local authority.  

 
A statement should be submitted alongside any planning application 
illustrating how the proposal complies with the criteria above and any 
mitigation measures necessary and be informed by a Landscape and 
Visual Impact Assessment. 

 
268. ABC’s Corporate Plan in objective GP1 sets out the Council’s commitment to 

reducing the reliance on fossil fuels in line with the Council’s carbon neutral 
targets. The Council’s Carbon Neutral Strategy and Action Plan further 
endorses this objective by stating in Priority 3 that this would be achieved by 
increasing renewable energy generation and consumption. 

269. In the preamble to policy ENV10, reference is made to the renewable energy 
planning guidance notes that have been approved by Cabinet. These 
guidance notes were prepared to assist applicants in bringing forward 
domestic and medium scale solar PV arrays, as well as large scale solar PV 
arrays, such as solar farms. Guidance Note 2 relates to larger scale solar 
projects with a generating capacity in excess of 50kW. 

270. It is clear from all of the above that the Government has committed to 
sustained growth in solar capacity in the UK to ensure the promise to achieve 
net zero emissions can be met and that solar is a key part of the strategy for 
low cost decarbonisation of the energy sector. The emerging NPS’s support 
the principle of large scale (>50MW) solar photovoltaic generation whilst 
recognising that developments of this scale will inevitably have impacts, 
particularly if they are located within rural areas.  

271. In addition, local plan policy and adopted guidance together with the Council’s 
Corporate Plan, Carbon Neutral Strategy and Action Plan all recognise the 
need for, and support the principle of, renewable energy generation subject to 
appropriate mitigation against significant adverse impacts (to be considered in 
subsequent sections of this report). How well a large solar scheme mitigates 
its impacts in a rural location is therefore key and I turn to that in the following 
section of this report.  

272. Therefore, in the light of the above I consider that there is a demonstrable and 
overarching policy drive from both planning and other legislative documents to 
deliver renewable energy on an increasingly larger scale as a matter of 
principle. Furthermore, the urgency by which this needs to be delivered 
should be given weight in the decision making process and any adverse 
impacts of the development must be considered against this comprehensive 
and pressing need to deliver energy capacity in the form of renewable 
sources. Accordingly, my Recommendation is that the Council does not raise 
objection to the proposal as a matter of fundamental principle.   

Page 86



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

b) The potential environmental effects and other issues that the Council 
wishes to highlight on the current proposals based on the information 
provided 

Cultural Heritage 

273. National planning policy contained within Draft NPS EN-1 sets out the matters 
to be considered in the assessment of any likely significant heritage impacts. 
It states that the construction, operation and decommissioning of energy 
infrastructure has the potential to result in adverse impacts on the historic 
environment above, at, and below the surface of the ground 

274. Draft NPS EN-3 confirms that large scale solar proposals may affect heritage 
assets (sites, monuments, buildings, and landscape) both above and below 
ground, and their impacts will require expert assessment in most cases.  

275. The Ashford Heritage Strategy (adopted 2017) sets out a positive strategy for 
the conservation and enjoyment of the borough’s rich historic environment 
and seeks to ensure that heritage assets will be sustained and enhanced so 
as to best meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of 
future generations to appreciate their significance.  

276. Policy ENV13 of the ABLP relates to the conservation and enhancement of 
heritage assets. The policy states that development will not be permitted 
where it would cause loss or substantial harm to the significance of heritage 
assets or their settings unless it can be demonstrated that substantial public 
benefits will be delivered to outweigh the harm or loss. It further sets out that 
where a proposal would lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, or where a non-designated heritage asset is 
likely to be impacted, harm will be weighed against the public benefits. 

277. Policy EN15 of the ABLP further deals with archaeology stating that the 
archaeological and  historic integrity of Scheduled Monuments and other 
important archaeological sites, together with their settings, will be protected 
and where possible enhanced.  

278. EP’s PIER contains an assessment of the potential impacts of the project on 
archaeological and cultural historic assets (such as listed buildings). There 
are no listed buildings within the site. Within 1km of the site, there is one 
Scheduled Monument, two Grade I listed buildings, six Grade II* listed 
buildings, 69 Grade II listed buildings and the Clap Hill and Church Area 
Conservation Areas.  
 

279. The PIER confirms that there is a potential impact on the setting of nearby 
listed buildings but it is expected to be limited. Mitigation measures, including 
hedgerow planting are proposed to seek to minimise any cultural heritage Page 87



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

impacts. A geophysical assessment has been undertaken for the project and 
the applicant advises that this has identified some limited areas where there 
could be potential for belowground archaeological remains although there are 
not expected to be any significant adverse effects on these unknown remains 
if present.  

280. A protected World War 2 Messerschmitt crash site is located within the 
boundary of the site although the remains appear to have been removed from 
the site at the time of the downing.  

281. The Council’s Conservation Officer in reviewing the PIER has raised a 
number of concerns concerning the robustness of the applicant’s assessment 
of the impact of the proposed development upon the built heritage. I agree 
that the applicant’s assessment should contain a more thorough assessment 
of all listed and non-designated heritage assets including a separate, 
meaningful assessment of their individual significance and setting. The 
assessment needs to actively take into account Historic England 2021 
guidance.   

282. Concerns are raised about the applicant’s methodology for assessing impact 
upon setting. The applicant’s conclusion that there would only be minor harm 
to the setting of Stonelees and Bank Farm – both of which lie directly adjacent 
to the site - is disputed and raises questions about the methods of analysis 
used.   

283. I recommend that more thorough identification and analysis of the designated 
and non-designated heritage assets needs to be made, to include the impact 
on and the impact by, long-range views of the proposed development to 
ensure that the development would not result in significant adverse effects.   

Landscape and Views 

284. Designated NPS EN-1 sets out that “virtually all nationally significant energy 
infrastructure projects will have effects on the landscape” (paragraph 5.9.8). 
They should therefore be designed carefully to minimise (my emphasis) harm 
to the landscape, providing reasonable mitigation where possible and 
appropriate. The existing character and quality of the local landscape, how 
highly it is valued and its capacity to accommodate change should all be 
considered in judging the impact of the proposed development. 

285. Designated NPS EN-1, section 5.9 provides detailed guidance for the 
assessment of landscape and visual effects. The applicant should carry out a 
landscape and visual assessment and report it in the ES. The LVIA should 
include reference to any landscape character assessment and associated 
studies as a means of assessing landscape impacts relevant to the proposed 

Page 88



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

project. The assessment should also take account of any relevant policies 
based on these assessments in local development documents in England. 

286. Draft NPS EN-1 (paragraph 5.10.9) relates to landscape impact stating that 
projects need to be carefully designed, taking account of potential landscape 
impacts. The guidance states that having regard to siting, operational and 
other relevant constraints the aim should be to minimise (my emphasis) harm 
to the landscape, providing reasonable mitigation where possible and 
appropriate.  

287. In terms of mitigation related to large scale solar proposals, draft NPS EN-1 
recognises that reducing the scale of a project can help to mitigate the 
landscape and visual effects. However, it also recognises that reductions in 
scale or other amendments may result in a significant operational constraint 
and reduction in function.  

288. Draft NPS EN-3 recognises that given the likely extent of solar sites, it is likely 
that schemes may affect PRoW’s. Notwithstanding this, applicants are 
encouraged to design layouts to ensure continued recreational use of PRoW’s 
both during construction/decommissioning and operational phases and to 
minimise, as much as possible, the visual outlook from existing footpaths. It is 
also noted that there may also be opportunities for upgrades and 
enhancements to existing PRoW’s or the creation of new routes.  

289. Policy ENV3a of the ABLP relates to landscape character and design and 
requires that all proposals within the borough shall demonstrate particular 
regard to the landscape characteristics of the site, to ensure that landscape is 
not compromised. Where a site is located within the setting of an AONB, the 
development must also conserve and where appropriate enhance or restore 
the character of the landscape.  

290. The Council’s Guidance Note 2 which specifically sets out the Council’s 
approach in dealing with planning applications for large scale solar farms 
acknowledges that the landscape and visual impact of a solar farm is likely to 
be one of the most significant impacts of such development. The guidance 
states that the removal of existing vegetated field boundaries, including 
hedges will not be permitted as this will irrevocably alter the landscape 
character of the site. It further sets out that the development would need to 
have regard in both its design layout, and future maintenance plans for the 
retention and growth of vegetation on these important boundaries, including 
the opportunity for individual trees within the boundaries to grow on to 
maturity. In addition, existing hedges and established vegetation, including 
mature trees, should be retained wherever possible. Trees and hedges should 
also be protected during construction.  

Page 89



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

291. An LVIA has been carried out by the applicant and will form part of the ES 
submitted with the DCO application. The LVIA has identified areas where the 
site is most visible, including from homes and businesses, PRoW, roads and 
long distance viewpoints and also parts of the scheme where landscape and 
visual mitigation (planting) would be required.  

292. The Council’s Landscape consultants have undertaken a review of the LVIA 
methodology and are satisfied that it provides an approach which should 
inform a comprehensive and reasonable assessment of the anticipated 
impacts and effects of the scheme on landscape character and visual 
amenity.  

293. The site is not designated in landscape terms, however it is within the setting 
of the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. The site is also 
partially within an area designated as a dark sky zone. 

294. The proposed development would be of a significant scale, located mainly to 
the north west and west of Aldington.   The majority of the site would extend 
over an irregularly shaped area running south west to north east across the 
Aldington Ridgeline and into the shallow, broad Upper/East Stour Valley.   

295. The northern limit to the site is defined by the HS1 railway line and higher 
ground to the north west in the vicinity of Mersham and The Forstal. The bulk 
of the scheme comprising Fields 1 to 18 would form a largely unbroken, 
continuous area of solar panels interspersed with hedges and small areas of 
woodland and other landscape infrastructure. The northern most part of the 
scheme (Fields 22 to 27) would be more fragmented and set within a more 
wooded existing landscape pattern.   There would also be a smaller, more 
isolated area (Fields 19 to 21) to the north east on the lower slopes of the 
Aldington Ridge.  All of the panels are largely located within the existing field 
pattern, minimising impacts on vegetation i.e. hedges which would be in 
accordance with the Council’s recommended approach in guidance note 2.  

296. The main physical change to features in the local landscape would be the 
proposed diversion of PRoW within the main site area within which there is an 
extensive network of footpaths. EP currently proposes to divert the majority of 
the PRoW within the site area to field perimeters. 
 

297. The concentration of solar panels (in particular when considered in 
association with the neighbouring proposed East Stour project and the 
existing Partridge Farm solar farm), will have a substantial impact on the 
landscape character, visual amenity and people’s enjoyment of this part of the 
Kent countryside. The principal concerns are therefore as follows: 

 
• Impact on medium/longer distance views from the elevated areas across 

the Stour Valley from the Aldington Ridgeline (Viewpoints 7, 11, 10, 12 Page 90



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

and 28) to a lesser extent from the northern fringes of the scheme 
(Viewpoints 18, 30 and 31).  The views from the Aldington ridgeline north 
towards the North Downs are identified as a characteristic feature of the 
LCA; 

• Impact on public enjoyment of the local PRoW network.  Where routes run 
through the scheme itself these will be diverted to field edges.   The 
photomontages from Views 12 and 16 illustrate how the character of 
PRoW within the site will be affected.   Hedge planting will mitigate 
impacts in some cases, but this in itself will create a more enclosed 
character to the path network and it is questioned whether planting will be 
as effective as suggested by the summer view of Viewpoint 16 after 15 
years;  

• Impact on the character and appearance of the site itself and the Aldington 
Ridgeline and Upper/East Stour LCAs; 

• Impacts on residential visual amenity as identified in the PEIR.   

298. The majority of these anticipated impacts and effects are identified in the 
PEIR and in most cases are recognised as a significant (moderate adverse) 
residual impact. As set out above, some of these effects would more 
reasonably be judged as major adverse residual effects, in particular where 
these relate to the site itself and visual amenity within the site, but the PEIR 
does nonetheless identify significant adverse effects on both landscape 
character and visual amenity. 
 

299. The principal reason for these substantial adverse impacts and effects is the 
largely unbroken swathe of solar panels which form the core area of the 
scheme (Fields 1 to 18).  The landscape treatment within this core area is 
largely limited to the perimeters of fields in the form of hedge planting and 
occasional shelter belts.  Whilst this might eventually screen near views at a 
similar level e.g. from adjoining PRoW or roads, it will have a minimal effect in 
breaking up longer distance views over the scheme from the north and south.   
The diversion of PRoW to field edges bordering the scheme will also impact 
significantly on public enjoyment of the network within the scheme area.    
 

300. The northern parts of the scheme (Fields 22 to 27) are less prominent and 
have less of an impact on landscape character, due to the more fragmented 
layout with larger swathes of open land between blocks of panels.    
 

301. From a landscape perspective, a development of this scale in the countryside 
would normally be required to incorporate a far greater element of green 
infrastructure in order to break up the scheme extents and associated impacts 
and effects.  The introduction of larger swathes of green infrastructure, 
perhaps with a reduction in the extent of the many minor interventions Page 91



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

currently proposed, could potentially be more effective in reducing the impact 
of the scheme in longer distance views.  It is recognised that the opportunities 
for tree planting are limited due to the nature of the scheme (and may not be 
appropriate to the character of the Stour Valley LCA), but broader, open green 
corridors would help reduce the massing and scale of the panels in longer 
distance views and would potentially provide opportunities to retain or divert 
PRoW within broader green corridors, set back from the main banks of solar 
panels.    
 

302. The longer distance views (in particular views 29 and 30) and views from the 
Aldington Ridgeline should be analysed in more depth to identify which 
elements of the scheme are visible and whether these could be further 
mitigated.  The Visual Effects table submitted with the PEIR helpfully identifies 
broadly which locations and elements of the scheme are visible by reference 
to the land parcels. In some cases (for instance Viewpoint 14), a minor 
change to the site layout could potentially remove all panels from view.  The 
close proximity of panels to other longer distance views from Bank Road and 
PRoW on the ridgeline (such as Viewpoint 12) will result in the loss of open 
expansive views.   Drawing the panels back a little from these locations would 
help to retain these open views.  
 

303. The proposed inclusion of Fields 19, 20 and 21 creates an isolated block of 
panels which are of particular importance in considering cumulative impacts 
associated with the East Stour Scheme. 
 

304. Overall, I consider that the proposed development has potential to largely 
conserve the immediate landscape setting to Aldington.  There would be 
limited glimpsed views from the edge of the village towards the main area of 
the scheme (for instance Fields 8 and 11 on Bank Road and Field 16 on 
Calleywell Lane) on the approaches to the village. The block of panels in 
Fields 19, 20 and 21 would be located between the main village and the 
Conservation Area and therefore has the potential to impact more directly on 
the setting to the main village and the Conservation Area.  Significant adverse 
effects on residential visual amenity are identified in relation to residents on 
Bank Road, Handen Farm, The Forstal and Mersham and these should be 
reviewed further to identify opportunities for more effective mitigation. 
 

305. One Photomontage is included to demonstrate views from the Kent Downs 
AONB (Viewpoint 34).  Whilst the scheme can be glimpsed in this view it is 
considered that the impact of the scheme on the setting to the AONB would 
be negligible. 
 

306. In conclusion, I consider that from a landscape and visual impact perspective, 
the scheme as currently proposed by EP would cause significant harm to local 
landscape character and visual amenity and the public perception and 

Page 92



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

enjoyment of the local countryside and that greater efforts to minimise such 
harmful impacts, as per the guidance in draft NPS EN-1, are needed.  
 

307. With this in mind, I recommend that the provision of stronger landscaping and 
additional green infrastructure should be incorporated into the scheme in 
order to break it up from longer distance views as well as provide an improved 
experience for PRoW users.  Greater green infrastructure has the ability to 
provide the connection and linkage ideas suggested by the Council’s Tree 
Officer through planting opportunities yielding biodiversity gains.  At the very 
least, these ideas should be explored with EP to understand their viability in 
the context of operational requirements, economics and energy outputs 
required from the scheme.  
 

308. As per the Council’s Guidance note 2, the importance of colour will be 
important in respect of the supporting infrastructure to the proposed solar 
panels in order to minimise the impact of these industrial elements within the 
landscape setting. The scheme is not yet at a stage where such fine detail is 
known but colour will be important because without care it has the potential to 
undermine the benefits that would arise from an enhanced landscape 
infrastructure approach.      

 
Biodiversity 

309. The PEIR outlines that there are valuable habitats and species present of 
nature conservation importance which could be affected by the proposed 
scheme. I agree with the view of the KCC biodiversity officer that further 
information is required relating to the justification for the onsite mitigation 
areas for brown hare, yellowhammer and skylark habitat. Further I agree that 
a Biodiversity Net Gain assessment is submitted with the DCO application.  
 

310. Natural England is a statutory consultee and will be providing direct 
comments to EP. 
 
Water Environment 

311. The Environment Agency is a statutory consultee and will be providing direct 
comments to EP.  
 

312. KCC as the Lead Local Flood Authority have provided comments in response 
to this s.42 consultation which are summarised in the consultation section of 
this report. I recommend that the Council fully support these comments.  
 

313. The Ashford Borough Council Sustainable Drainage SPD is a fundamental 
local planning policy and should be considered throughout the design phase 
of the project to ensure that the scheme is in line with these requirements.  

 
Page 93



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Land contamination 

314. The PEIR outlines that an assessment of baseline data including a Phase 1 
Geoenvironmental and Geotechnical Desk Study and environmental searches 
has been undertaken. A conceptual model has been devised to identify 
potential sources of contamination, pathways, and receptors with an 
assessment of the significance of contamination impacts which could be 
associated with the project completed.  
 

315. Consideration has been given to the site’s historical use, as well as its 
environmental setting. Through the implementation of proposed detailed 
Environmental Management Plans (‘DEMP’) during the construction and 
decommissioning phases, EP advises that no potential significant impacts 
have been identified. 
 

316. The Council seeks to ensure all potential sources of contamination are 
properly mitigated. The Phase 1 investigation (Groundsure) and site walkover 
draft of the preliminary conceptual site model have identified a low potential 
for land contamination for the site and effects from construction, operation and 
decommissioning of the proposed development. The Council’s Environmental 
Health Officer advises that a watching brief must be maintained during 
construction and decommissioning works and reported to ABC Environmental 
Health before works continue.  

 
Socio-economics 

317. The applicant suggests that, the 12 month construction period would create 
an approximately 130 direct jobs (across a number of construction disciplines) 
with an expected peak level of 199 direct jobs during the most active 
construction months. The applicant also states that a further 52 to 80 indirect 
jobs could be supported through the supply chain. It is anticipated that 76% of 
the jobs created would provide employment for residents of the Wider Study 
Area and that it is estimated that in total, the jobs created during the 12-month 
construction period would create a combined Gross Value Added of between 
£8.4m and £12.9m 
 

318. The developer also suggests that the direct workforce of the project would 
generate additional expenditure in the Local Study Area through using local 
shops and businesses for purchasing convenience goods such as food and 
drink. It is therefore anticipated that the direct workforce could generate 
between £38,350 and £58,705, increasing workforce expenditure in the Local 
Study Area by a minimum of 4.3%. 
 

319. This development would not provide a substantial economic benefit as set out 
in the application, and the main socio-economic impacts are from construction 
of the site.  Therefore, the overall benefits of this scheme lie elsewhere in the 
provision of energy during the operational phase. 
 

Page 94



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

320. Impacts on tourism are likely to be much localised and as such it is not 
considered that the development would have a substantial impact on tourism 
within the area. Nevertheless, it is important to recognise that by minimising 
landscape impacts as per draft NPS EN-1 the scheme can help retain the 
attractiveness of the location generally for tourism and that any enhanced 
connections between people and places that the scheme could facilitate 
and/or create could have benefits for tourism that, to date, remain untapped in 
this part of the County.  

 
Traffic and Access 

321. Access to the site would be from M20 junction 10a, via the A20 and then the 
C609/Station Road. The applicant states that no construction vehicles would 
pass through Aldington village.  
 

322. The number of traffic movements is expected to be approximately seven 2-
way trips per hour, with two of these being HGVs. Where possible, deliveries 
to the site would be coordinated to avoid HGV movements during the 
traditional morning (AM) peak hour (08:00- 09:00) and afternoon (PM) peak 
hour (17:00-18:00).  
 

323. The main construction compound would be located to the north east of the 
site within field 25. This would be the primary location for unloading and 
sorting of construction materials as well as their storage. This location has 
been selected due to its proximity to the Station Road/A20 junction which 
would help limit the travel distance after exiting the A20 trunk road. It is 
proposed that there would be three secondary construction compounds (in 
fields 8, 19, and 22). Transport from the main construction compound to the 
secondary compounds in field 8 and field 22 would be via the proposed 
internal haulage road in order to limit construction traffic on local roads (the 
only impact being crossing points). Connection to the secondary compound in 
field 19 would involve limited traffic movements, suggested to be less than 
10% of the total traffic from the south west of field 23 along Goldwell Lane. 

 
324. KCC as the Local Highway Authority have provided comments in response to 

this s.42 consultation which are summarised in the consultation section of this 
report. I recommend that the Council fully support these comments.  

 
Noise 

325. During the operational phase, the activities would generally be minimal and 
amount to limited maintenance activities, including servicing of plant and 
equipment, cleaning of solar PV panels, and vegetation management, 
including management of sheep grazing activities. 
 

326. Once operational, solar and energy storage farms generate very little noise. 
The only sources of noise at this stage are the transformers (which produce a 
‘low hum’ at close distance) and the HVAC units which control the 
temperature of the inverters and energy storage units.  Page 95



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
327. The transformers, inverters and energy storage are proposed to be located in 

small compounds (approximately 34 across the site) in order to limit any 
potential noise impacts. The main project substation (which would contain the 
main transformer) would be located adjacent to HS1.  
 

328. During construction and decommissioning, some traffic and noise would be 
generated. This would vary over time and measures to reduce potential noise 
impacts at these phases would be proposed by EP as part of the DCO 
application. 
 

329. Given that noise levels are predicted to be low with plant located away from 
the boundaries of the site and the proposed noise assessment will consider 
planning polices and local and national guidance, standards and 
documentation and use BS4142 and BS5228, the Council’s Environmental 
Health Officer is satisfied with the information provided within the PEIR and 
raises no objections and I concur with that position 

 
Climate change 

330. Draft EN-1 sets out how applicants and the SoS should take the effects of 
climate change into account when developing or consenting infrastructure 
because if new energy is not resilient to the possible impacts of climate 
change, it will be unable to satisfy the energy requirements to meet the 
Governments objectives.  
 

331. In line with EIA requirements EP has as part of the PEIR assessed the 
potential effects of the proposed development on climate change. The 
assessments looks at the effects of the development on climate change 
together with the vulnerability of the development to climate change.  
 

332. The NPS sets out that climate change is likely to mean that the UK will 
experience hotter, drier summers and warmer wetter winters. As a result there 
is an increased likelihood of flooding, drought, heatwaves, and intense rainfall 
events. As such, adaption is necessary to deal with potential impacts. 
Renewable and low carbon energy is seen as an adaptive measure to 
address climate change. The guidance encourages developers to consider if 
nature based solutions can provide a basis for adaption as this can result in 
biodiversity benefits as well as carbon capture.  
 

333. The construction phase CO2 emissions would be generated from direct and 
indirect sources such as emissions resulting from construction vehicles. 
However, it is expected that this would not be significant following 
implementation of standard construction mitigation measures to be set out in 
the CTMP.  
 

334. During the operational phase, there will be a potential carbon saving resulting 
from the export of renewable electricity to the grid, in lieu of other sources of 

Page 96



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

energy which include fossil fuels , anticipated to be approximately 34,500 
tonnes of CO2e per year.  

 
335. From a design perspective (including mitigation measures such as biodiversity 

enhancements and drainage strategy) EP conclude within the PEIR that the 
development would be resilient to projected climate change.  
 
Cumulative effects  

336. The requirement for a cumulative effects assessment (‘CEA’) is set out in the 
EIA regulations.  
 

337. Cumulative visual impacts may arise where two or more of the same type of 
renewable energy development will be visible from the same point, or will be 
visible shortly after each other along the same journey. As such it should not 
be assumed that, just because no other sites will be visible from the proposed 
development site, the proposal will not create any cumulative impacts.  
 

338. Designated NPS-1 states that when considering cumulative effects, the ES 
should provide information on how the effects of the applicant’s proposal 
would combine and interact with the effects of other development (including 
projects for which consent has been sought or granted, as well as those 
already in existence).  
 

339. The East Stour Solar Farm planning application (application 22/00668/AS) is 
currently being considered by the Council. The East Stour proposals are for a 
smaller (up to 49.9MW) solar farm. The East Stour solar farm would be 
located directly to the east of the proposed development, both proposals are 
proposing to utilise a Grid connection to the Sellindge Converter station.  
 

340. Whilst EP have considered the impact of the adjacent proposed scheme in 
chapter 15 of the PEIR (in terms of landscape, biodiversity, climate change 
and socio-economics) cumulative impacts are not directly addressed in the 
landscape and visual chapter.  From a landscape and visual perspective I 
consider that it is essential that the LVIA considers the potential cumulative 
impacts associated with the neighbouring East Stour Solar proposals.  Given 
the combined extents and similarity of the schemes this is considered to be of 
particular importance in this instance and there is a full LVIA including 
photomontages available for the East Stour scheme as well as layout plans.  

 
Other Matters 

Minerals Safeguarding 

341. Part of the site falls within a minerals safeguarding area. Draft EN-1 
paragraph 5.11.21 states that where development has an impact upon a 
Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA), the SoS should ensure that appropriate 
mitigation measures have been put in place to safeguard mineral resources. 

Page 97



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

342. The County Council is the Minerals and Waste Local Planning Authority. The 
adopted Minerals and Waste Local Plan includes areas identified for minerals 
extraction and waste disposal in the county and also identifies MSAs where 
economically viable minerals deposits may be found. Applicants for non-
minerals development should have regard to the presence of MSAs when 
preparing planning applications and seek to address any issues with the 
County Council in accordance with the relevant policies of the Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan and the associated Minerals Safeguarding SPD. This will be 
a material consideration for the Borough Council in its determination of 
planning applications for non-minerals development. 

343. Given that minerals safeguarding is a County matter and KCC will provide 
comments directly to EP.  
 
Agricultural Land and Soils 

344. Draft NPS EN-1 and EN-3 include a preference for development of non-
agricultural land over agricultural land, and when unavoidable, for 
development of agricultural land to be directed towards land of the lowest 
available quality. EN-3 does confirm, however, that ‘the development of 
ground mounted solar arrays is not prohibited on sites of agricultural land 
classified 1, 2 and 3a’. 

345. Section g) of ABC’s guidance note 2 seeks to steer large scale solar 
developments to previously developed land/brownfield sites, contaminated 
land or industrial land. However, it acknowledges that there are few sites of 
appropriate status and size within the borough. The guidance states that large 
scale solar PV arrays should therefore seek to avoid landscapes designated 
for their natural beauty, sites of acknowledged/recognised 
ecological/archaeological importance/interest whilst recognising that it is likely 
that such development will look to land currently in agricultural use. The 
guidance does not place an embargo on the use of agricultural land. Rather, it 
seeks that development is located on poorer quality land.  

346. Section h) of the Guidance note goes further to state that the Council will not 
normally support development that results in the loss of grade 1 and 2 
agricultural land stating that the best quality agricultural land should be used 
for the purposes of agriculture. If development is proposed on grade 1 and 2 
agricultural land the applicant must provide clear justification demonstrating 
the benefits the development would have for the land to be taken out of full 
agricultural use.  

347. The applicants Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) survey identifies 75.09% 
of the site as comprising as grade 3b agricultural land (poorer quality) with 
19.26% comprising grade 2 and subgrade 3a. A small area of land totalling 
2.20% of the site was not surveyed (given that it would be the cable route and Page 98



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

could remain in agricultural use), the remaining land totalling 3.45% is not 
agricultural land. Given the lack of blanket prohibition in draft NPS EN-3 to 
solar development on Grade 3a land and above, I do not consider that the 
relatively small % of such land that would be involved with the EP scheme is 
an issue that could be sustained as an objection. However, given my 
comments in respect of minimisation of landscape and visual impacts through 
changes to the layout in terms of green structure a reduction in land take of 
Grade 3a land and above may be possible and could be viewed as a benefit.      

348. The nature of the proposed development is such that it provides potential for 
the land beneath and around the solar panels to continue in a form of 
agricultural use during the operational lifetime of the solar farm, with potential 
for agricultural grazing. The Council’s guidance note 2 states that grazing 
should be encouraged where practicable.  

349. Permanent grassland cover for the lifetime of the development would be 
beneficial to the health of the soil structure, as it would protect the soil from 
wind erosion when dry, scour erosion due to runoff from the panels, and 
damage from trafficking and surface water runoff during periods of wet 
weather. Further, the applicant suggests that if managed as unimproved 
grassland, there would also be no requirement for annual fertiliser 
applications over the lifetime of the development, which will have an 
environmental benefit and allow the soils to return to their normal nutrient 
levels and promote the growth of native grass species. 

c) The future delegation arrangements for the development consent 
application  

 
350. I have outlined elsewhere in this report the various stages of the NSIP 

process and the role of the Council as the host local authority. If no further 
pre-application consultation (whether formal or informal in nature) is carried 
out by EP then the next stage will be the formal submission of the DCO 
application. If accepted by PINS, the Council will be able to comment further 
on the proposals.  
 

351. I have full delegated powers to respond in relation to the Planning Act 2008 
and I will need to be able to exercise these as otherwise I am unlikely to meet 
strict deadlines set during the examination period. However, I am mindful that 
Members are likely to have continued interest in the proposals and so I will 
keep senior members including the Portfolio Holder briefed of issues. For the 
avoidance of doubt, I have outlined what matters I will be responding to under 
delegated powers. 
 
Adequacy of consultation  

 
352. Once a DCO application is accepted by PINS the Council has 14 days to 

submit an adequacy of consultation representation. This is whether the 
Page 99



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Council considers that the applicant has complied with its duties of 
consultation. The Council is not, however, being asked for its views on the 
merits of the application at that stage.  

 
Relevant representation submission/further representations 

 
353. Once the application is accepted there will be a meeting with the examining 

authority and interested parties including the Council. A timetable for the 
Examination will be finalised.  
 

354. The Council will be invited to submit a relevant representation. This is a 
summary of what it agrees and/or disagrees with in the application, what it 
considers the main issues to be as well as their impact. The comments made 
in the relevant representation are used by the Examining Authority to help 
inform the initial assessment of the principal issues for assessment. There is a 
minimum period of 28 days to submit this.  
 

355. The Council, as with other registered interested parties, would have the 
opportunity to submit a written representation during the Examination which 
can elaborate on the matters raised in a relevant representation. The 
Examining Authority is likely to ask the Council a number of questions during 
the examination period that it will need to respond to in a strictly time limited 
period.  

 
Local Impact Report (LIR)  

 
356. The Council will be invited to submit this to an agreed timetable. The LIR 

gives details of the likely impacts of the development in their area but does 
not replicate the environmental statement. It is distinct from the local 
authority’s representation on the merits of the scheme. It includes issues such 
as relevant development plan policies and planning applications. The LIR 
should contain a statement of positive, neutral and negative impacts but does 
not need to contain a balancing exercise which is a matter for the examination 
panel.  
 
Statements of Common Ground/Planning Obligation Agreement  

 
357. Statements of common ground between the local authority and applicant can 

be prepared as early at the pre-application stage. The examining authority will 
find these useful to identify matters agreed, matters subject to negotiation and 
matters not agreed. The Council can also enter into section a 106 planning 
obligation agreement with the applicant if required: this might, for example, be 
used to secure any community benefits that are proposed by an applicant 
(such as an inflation linked Community Benefit Fund and any upgrades to 
PRoW to create enhanced connections between Aldington and Mersham). 

 

Page 100



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Human Rights Issues 

358. I have also taken into account the human rights issues relevant to this 
application. In my view, the “Assessment” section above and the 
Recommendation below represent an appropriate balance between the 
interests and rights of the applicant (to enjoy their land subject only to 
reasonable and proportionate controls by a public authority) and the interests 
and rights of those potentially affected by the proposal (to respect for private 
life and the home and peaceful enjoyment of their properties). 

 
Conclusion 
 
359. I consider that there is compelling case in principle for renewable electricity 

generation and it is clear from NPSs that solar is a key part of the 
government’s strategy to meet its carbon net zero targets. The Council’s own 
planning policy and guidance supports the principle of large scale solar 
development within the Borough provided that the impacts can be 
satisfactorily mitigated.  
 

360. With this in mind, I recommend that the Council does not raise objection to the 
principle of the proposed large scale solar farm development but does raise a 
holding objection relating to the emerging scheme subject of this s.42 
consultation on the basis that more work is considered necessary in order to 
minimise scheme impacts on the rural countryside location including the 
assets that contribute to the character and quality of the countryside as it 
presently exists and is enjoyed.  
 

361. This report highlights that some additional information is required and should 
be submitted with the DCO application and there are also a number of issues 
for EP to consider. In order to overcome these concerns material changes 
would be required to the proposed development and as such I recommend 
that EP continue to work with the Council (and other statutory consultees) and 
that the proposed development be subject to a further formal s.42 
consultation.   

 
Recommendation 
 
(A) Ashford Borough Council makes the following comments to Evolution 
Power in response to the s.42 pre-application consultation: 
 

1. The Council is committed to reducing the reliance on fossil fuels and accepts 
that there is a compelling need, as a matter of principle, to increase renewable 
energy generation and consumption in order to support the Government’s 
national agenda to reach net zero carbon by 2050. The Council therefore does 
not raise objection to the principle of large scale solar photovoltaic generation 
within the Borough subject to the appropriate mitigation of any significantly 
harmful impacts that would arise from such development being put in place with 
mitigation tailored specifically and sensitively to matters of location and related 

Page 101



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

context in order to minimise the impacts of development as far as possible, 
especially for solar schemes in a rural countryside location.   

 
2. The Council;- 

 
(i) raises a HOLDING OBJECTION to the emerging proposal as detailed in the 
EP s.42 consultation for the reasons set out in this report and detailed further 
below relating to inadequate mitigation to minimise the impacts of the proposal 
on the rural countryside location and those matters that contribute to the 
character and quality of the countryside as it presently exists and is enjoyed, and  
 
(ii) invites EP to consider the Council’s concerns further and work pro-actively 
with officers to refine and amend the emerging solar scheme, and  
 
(iii) invites EP to then carry out a further s.42 consultation in respect of an 
updated scheme that seeks to address the concerns that have been raised as 
far as possible. 
 

Cultural Heritage 
 
1. Each heritage asset needs to be assessed separately, based on a true 
understanding of the special character of the building/asset,  
 
2. Assessment of setting - The impact is being assessed in a quantitative way using 
environmental assessment methodology and criteria outlined in the Design Manual 
for Roads and Bridges. This has limited use when assessing historic buildings and 
structures above ground, as it provides no criteria for assessing value. The 
assessment of the impact on the built heritage should be a qualitative not a 
quantitative assessment. 
 
3. The full ES must reference and consider the Ashford Heritage Strategy (2017) and 
national 2021 guidance from HE about solar farms. These two documents are 
relevant to this development and must be considered. 
 
Landscape and Views 
 
1. The LVIA ES chapter should include both summer and winter views for each 
Context View. 
 
2. The PEIR largely follows the anticipated layout to a full LVIA and includes 
preliminary analysis of landscape and visual receptors, based on desk top and site 
assessments and anticipated impacts and effects. The PEIR references 
amendments to the proposals informed by consultation and the scoping exercise but 
details of the evolution of the scheme as informed by this process are not included in 
the PEIR.  The role of LVIA in informing the design process is a clear requirement of 
GLVIA 3 (Paras 4.5 to 4.10) and an overview of this process should be included in 
the full LVIA. 

Page 102



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
3. The approach to mitigation using soft landscape elements is not of a proportionate 
scale to the significant scale of the development. Insufficient landscape screening is 
proposed to be provided, particularly in open areas with long range views.   
 
4. There is a lack of woodland block planting. Use of orchard planting will not provide 
the necessary scale, and the use of this landscape type in this location does not form 
part of the local landscape character.  
 
5. The reinstatement of historic hedgerows and additional hedgerow planting is 
welcomed. Hedges should be combined with individual trees (such as oak) within 
and independent of hedgerow, to reflect the local landscape character. Currently the 
schedule lists only wetland trees associated with the East Stour River, and no trees 
to the rest of the development. 
 
6. Security fencing, particularly when located next a PRoW could be better screened.  
 
7. The provision of deeper landscaped buffers of tree planting / meadow adjacent to 
PRoWs, would improve landscape character and the experience for users of the 
PROW.  
 
8. More consideration needs to be given to the impact on residential properties. 
There is a lack of mitigation proposed to the residential properties associated with 
Bank Farm, and to Becketts Green. Both these properties are along Roman Road, 
which is open and relatively flat in character, allowing for long views. A detailed 
appraisal on all the residential properties impacted by the development should be 
provided.   
 
Biodiversity  
 
1. The Council fully endorses the s.42 consultation response of the KCC biodiversity 
officer.  
 
Water Environment 
 
1. The Council fully endorses the s.42 consultation response of KCC in respect of 
matters related to the water environment.  
 
Land contamination 
 
A watching brief must be maintained during construction and decommissioning 
works and reported to ABC Environmental Health before works continue. 
 
Socio-Economics  
 
No comments.  
 Page 103



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director- Planning & Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Traffic and Access 
 
1. The Council fully endorses the s.42 consultation response of KCC Highways and 
Transportation in respect of traffic and access matters.  
 
Noise 
 
1. Given that noise levels are predicted to be low with plant located away from the 
boundaries of the site and the proposed noise assessment will consider planning 
polices and local and national guidance, standards and documentation and use 
BS4142 and BS5228, the Councils Environmental Health Officer is satisfied with the 
information provided within the PEIR and raises no objections.  
 
Climate Change  
 
No comments 
 
Cumulative Effects 
 
1. Cumulative impacts are not directly addressed in the landscape and visual 
chapter.  The LVIA should consider the potential cumulative impacts associated with 
the neighbouring East Stour Solar Proposals (planning application reference 
22/00668/AS).  Given the combined extents and similarity of the schemes this is 
considered to be of particular importance in this instance and there is a full LVIA 
including photomontages available for the East Stour scheme. 
 
(B) Delegated Powers  
 
That authority be delegated to the Strategic Development and Delivery Manager or 
the Assistant Director Planning and Development, to make any necessary 
adjustments to the Council’s comments as detailed above as may, in their opinion, 
be required.  

Background Papers 

The s.42 consultation documents referred to in this report are currently published on 
EP’s website www.stonestreetgreensolar.co.uk 

Contact Officer:  Alex Stafford 
Email:    alex.stafford@ashford.gov.uk 

Telephone:    (01233) 330-248 

Page 104

https://stonestreetgreensolar.co.uk/


Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee ****insert date**** 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

1.101 

Ashford Borough C
ouncil - R

eport of D
evelopm

ent C
ontrol M

anagers
Planning C

om
m

ittee 3
rd June 2015

___________________________________________________________________________

1.101

Annex 1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annex 1

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annexe 1: Indicative Site Layout  

 

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

Application Number 
 

22/00136/AS 

Location     
 

Liberty Barn, Canterbury Road, Brabourne, Kent 

Grid Reference 
 

Easting (x) 610832; Northing (y) 142188 

Parish Council 
 

Brabourne 

Ward 
 

Bircholt 

Application 
Description 
 

Proposed erection of an off-grid residential dwelling (under 
paragraph 80 of the NPPF) utilising existing access. 
Alterations to existing barn, removal of stables and 
landscape enhancement works to wider site. 
 

Applicants 
 

Mr Alex Richards and Dr Caroline Richards 

Agent 
 

Mr Alex Richards 

Site Area 
 

25 acres (including the land included within the blue line) 
4150sqm approx. (area of land within the red line) 

 
Introduction 

1. This application is reported to the Planning Committee at the request of the 
Ward Member for Bircholt, Councillor William Howard in the light of the Officer 
recommendation to refuse planning permission. 

Site and Surroundings  

2. The site area proposed to change use which includes the dwelling and the 
access would approximately measure 4150sqm. The 25 acre landholding is 
located to the north east of Brabourne village, which is a small village 
approximately 5 miles from Ashford. Currently, the applicant has a herd of circa 
15 cattle and 20 sheep. The landholding comprises: Seven grazing fields, the 
northern five of which extend east west, adjoining the southern edge of the 
North Downs Way; Two barn / stabling structures in the south-eastern; and  two 
existing access points, both from Canterbury Road to the south. 

3. The site is located within the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB). The North Downs Way (a byway, Number AE299) is located within 
and to the north of the landholding and Public Right of Way (PRoW) Number 
AE300 runs in a north-south direction across the most westerly grazing field. 
An area of Ancient woodland lies to the north-west corner of the site. The site 
also lies within an area identified as having archaeological potential in Ashford’s 
Local Plan Policies Map. Finally, the site falls within the Stodmarsh catchment 
area. 

Page 109

Agenda Item 6b



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

4. A site location plan is as shown in Figure 1 below. 

 

 

Figure 1: Site Location Plan 

 

 

Figure 2: Aerial View 

Page 110



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

Background and Proposal 

5. The application seeks permission for the erection of an off-grid 4-bed dwelling with 
associated access drive and parking. An off-grid dwelling means it would not be 
connected to conventional electricity, gas/oil or telephone supplies. It would produce 
its own electricity, with the help of hydrogen and solar panels. It would also involve the 
provision of a vegetable/kitchen garden; construction of a ha-ha; demolition of the 
existing stable block and storage barn. The application also seeks to extend another 
existing barn into the hillside with a larger footprint and roof area. The roof of the 
extended barn would be utilised to mount solar panels.  

6. The form and design of the dwelling would follow the topography of the site by using 
the rising slope of the land. The proposed structure would be divided into three floors 
- lower ground floor, ground floor and first floor. The lower ground floor would comprise 
three bedrooms, two walk-in closets, services areas, storage and TV room. The area 
would approximately measure 335sqm. 

7. The ground floor would comprise a 10-seater outdoor dining terrace with access to a 
large swimming pool, 14-seater spacious outdoor dining area, internal dining room and 
kitchen, lounge, orangery, pool plant, bathroom, boot room, office, 
bikes/workshop/refuse area and car parking area. The area of the ground floor 
excluding the parking area would measure approximately 560sqm. 

8. The upper ground floor comprises an ensuite master bedroom measuring 
approximately 84sqm.  

Page 111



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9. The application is accompanied by a Farm Management Plan. The Management Plan 
concludes that the purpose of the farm will fundamentally change from meat production 
to maximising biodiversity through rewilding large areas of the farm. The proposal 
seeks to maximise biodiversity and provide microhabitats specifically targeted to 
species of fauna and flora that are under threat on chalk grassland. 

 

10. The materials palette would include meadow grass to encompass extensive areas of 
the roof and rammed chalk to form the external façade of the dwelling.  

11. The farm currently benefits from 2 access points onto Canterbury Road.  

A) The lower access to the farm and buildings  

12. The lower access is secured by a gate, set back from the highway with the first section 
of driveway often used as a passing place. From this access a small track leads to the 
barn and tables, from which it is possible to access the lower fields and link to the 
access track connecting the fields. 

Page 112



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

B) The upper access to the North Downs Way and top fields  

13. The top access is a shared access with the North Downs Way. Along the track (owned 
by applicant) is a gate into the first field. From this access location all of the top fields 
are accessed via either a series of top gates, or via the central track. The proposed 
dwelling would utilise the existing shared access to the north-eastern side of the site. 
A reinforced driveway would be introduced from the access to the dwelling measuring 
approximately 211m in length.  

 

Planning History 

14. There is no relevant planning history for the site. 

Page 113



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

Consultations 

15. The application has been subject to formal statutory and non-statutory consultation 
comprising the display of a site notice, a press notice and notification letters sent to 
the properties in the vicinity of the application site. 

Kent Downs AONB Unit 

Kent Downs AONB Unit objects to this proposal on the following grounds:  

- AONBs are placed in a special category of protection, requiring great weight to 
be afforded to them; this is only applied to a small number of other interests in 
the NPPF. The relevant decision-makers are required to take into account and 
weigh all material considerations. However as the NPPF places the 
conservation of the landscape and scenic beauty of an AONB into a special 
category of material consideration: as a matter of policy paragraph 176 requires 
it to be given “great weight”.  
 

- The proposed new dwelling is of innovative and striking design. Nonetheless, 
we have concerns that it would appear incongruous on the highly sensitive 
upper reaches of the escarpment of the Kent Downs, where residential 
development is currently absent.  

 
- Fundamentally, the proposal would result in a domestic intrusion onto the 

escarpment, the design of which would diminish the soft, organic qualities of 
the site and fail to fully respond or integrate with the character of its landscape 
setting. This harm to the landscape and scenic beauty would not be mitigated 
by the proposed overall landscape and management enhancements across the 
wider site and the proposal would harm the character and appearance of the 
area and fail to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the Kent Downs 
AONB.  

 
- The proposal is therefore considered contrary to paragraph 176 of the NPPF, 

policies HOU5 and ENV3b of Ashford’s Local Plan, as well as Principles SD1, 
SD2, SD3, SD7, SD8, SD9 and LLC1 of the Kent Downs AONB Management 
Plan. 

 
KCC Archaeology 

- Views not received. 

KCC Biodiversity 

- No objection subject to conditions. 

KCC PROW 

- Public Right of Way AE299 passes immediately adjacent to the proposed new 
dwelling and would form part of the access to the property, while public footpath 
AE300 dissects the area identified as chalk downland habitat, as shown on the 
attached extract of the Network Map of Kent.  

Page 114



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

- The Network Map is a working copy of the Definitive Map. The existence of the 
right of way is a material consideration. The Definitive Map and Statement 
provide conclusive evidence in law of the existence and alignment of Public 
Rights of Way. While the Definitive Map is the legal record, it does not preclude 
the existence of higher rights, or rights of way not recorded on it.  

- Public Right of Way AE299 forms part of the North Downs Way National Trail 
and is recorded as a byway so although this permits public vehicular access its 
primary use is for pedestrians and equestrians with occasional vehicular use. 
Individuals using the byway to access their land or property would be 
considered to be exercising a private right. Residents often desire a higher level 
of maintenance than that considered acceptable for the status of byway. As the 
proposal would generate additional vehicular use both during the construction 
and subsequent residential occupation, the County Council may require those 
responsible to fund or contribute to any repair work required. There is no 
recorded width for public byway AE299 within the Definitive Statement so there 
is a presumption that the width of the highway is the full width between 
boundaries and there must be no encroachment upon this.  

- Finally, the applicant’s attention is drawn to the following general informatives: 
1. No furniture may be erected on or across Public Rights of Way without the 
express consent of the Highway Authority: 2. There must be no disturbance or 
deposits onto the surface of the right of way, or obstruction of its use, either 
during or following any approved development: 3. No hedging or shrubs should 
be planted within 1.5 metres of the edge of the Public Path. 

 

KCC Drainage 

Page 115



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

- No objection 

Environment Agency 

- No objection subject to recommended conditions and informatives in 
respect of land contamination and surface water drainage. 

Southern Water 

- No objection raised. 

Natural England 

- As submitted, the application could have potential significant effects on 
Stodmarsh Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area 
(SPA) and Ramsar site and Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). 
Natural England requires further information in order to determine the 
significance of these impacts and the scope for mitigation.  

The following information is required:  

- Demonstrate that the requirements of regulation 63 of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) have been 
considered by your authority, i.e. provide a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment.  

- Submission of test results for the proposed Packaged Treatment Works to 
confirm nutrient removal efficiency rates.  

- Clarification of the woodland planting strategy outlined in the mitigation 
proposal, i.e. species of tree and density of planting.  

- Details regarding the maintenance and management of the proposed 
mitigation, as well as how it will be secured in perpetuity. Without this 
information, Natural England may need to object to the proposal. 

Rural Planning Consultant 

- The proposal does not fall within Rural Planning Advisory’s limit. 

ABC Environmental Protection 

- No objection. A condition for EV charging has been recommended to be 
attached to the permission. 

Brabourne Parish Council  

- Support the planning application whilst making the following comments: 

- Currently, we do share some of the concerns raised by the AONB Unit. 
Page 116



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

Given the highly prominent location of the proposed dwelling on the 
escarpment where domestic use is currently absent, it is important that the 
dwelling be designed as sensitively as possible.  

- In terms of the exposed angular facias, we say that they are potentially 
overly acute and do not necessarily sit naturally with the rolling topography 
of the hills. We would also question what appears to be the metallic nature 
of those facias and whether some potentially softer materials could be 
adopted.  

- The exposed chimney is rather “blocky” in its appearance, as the AONB 
Unit puts it, and say that this would benefit from some design adjustments. 
We also raise the issue of light spillage and how this is to be satisfactorily 
controlled from the exposed areas of glazing. This is important because, in 
addition to the NPPF paragraph 176 requirement, Local Plan Policy ENV3b 
requires that proposals sited within an AONB should enhance its 
tranquillity.  

- All external material choices must be compliant with a colour scheme as 
detailed on pages 14-16 (Chalk Scarps and Vales) of the “Guidance on the 
Selection and Use of Colour in Development” document that is produced 
by the Kent Downs AONB Unit. 

KCC Developer Contributions 

- KCC requested developer contributions as originally the application 
included 25 acres of land within the red line. Subsequently, the application 
was amended to exclude the wider land and only includes 4150sqm within 
the application site i.e., it is now below KCC’s threshold (0.5ha) for 
contributions. 

Neighbours 
 
16. Twelve (12) letters of support have been received making the following comments: 

- House completely off-grid will be the future of rural housing 
- Any development should be done extremely sensitively and enhance rather 

than detract from the environment. However, these plans and the proposed 
rewilding would in my opinion have a very positive impact. 

- The combination of eco-credentials and sympathetic architecture would in 
our view enhance the landscape. 

- Having the first house in the UK to be powered and heated by Hydrogen 
that is completely off grid would be a huge honour for the parish of 
Brabourne. 

 
Planning Policy 

17. The Development Plan for Ashford borough comprises the Ashford Local Plan 2030 
(adopted February 2019), along with the Chilmington Green Area Action Plan (2013), 
the Wye Neighbourhood Plan (2016), the Pluckley Neighbourhood Plan (2017), the 
Rolvenden Neighbourhood Plan (2019), the Boughton Aluph and Eastwell 

Page 117



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

Neighbourhood Plan (2021), the Egerton Neighbourhood Plan (2022) and the Kent 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2016) as well as the Kent Minerals and Waste Early 
Partial Review (2020). 

18. For clarification, the Local Plan 2030 supersedes the saved policies in the Ashford 
Local Plan (2000), Ashford Core Strategy (2008), Ashford Town Centre Action Area 
Plan (2010), the Tenterden & Rural Sites DPD (2010) and the Urban Sites and 
Infrastructure DPD (2012). 

19. The Local Plan polices relevant to this application are as follows: 

- SP1  Strategic Objectives 
- SP2  The Strategic Approach to Housing Delivery 
- SP6  Promoting High Quality Design 
- HOU5   Residential Windfall Development in the Countryside 
- HOU12  Residential Space Standards Internal 
- HOU14   Accessibility Standards 
- HOU15   Private External Open Space 
- TRA3a  Parking Standards for Residential Development 
- TRA7   The Road Network and Development 
- ENV1   Biodiversity 
- ENV3b  Landscape Character and Design in the AONB’s 
- ENV4  Light Pollution and Promoting Dark Skies 
- ENV7  Water Efficiency 
- ENV8  Water Quality, Supply and Treatment 
- ENV9  Sustainable Drainage 
- ENV15  Archaeology 
- EMP 6  Promotion of Fibre to the Premises (FTTP) 

  
20. The following are also material considerations to the determination of this 

application:- 

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

- Fibre to the Premises SPD, 2020 
- Dark Skies SPD, 2014 
- Residential Space and Layout SPD, 2011 
- Sustainable Drainage SPD, 2010 
- Residential Parking and Design Guidance SPD, 2010 
- Landscape Character SPD, 2010 

 
Informal Design Guidance 

- Informal Design Guidance Note 1 (2014): Residential layouts & wheeled 
bins 

- Informal Design Guidance Note 2 (2014): Screening containers at home 
- Informal Design Guidance Note 3 (2014): Moving wheeled-bins through 

covered parking facilities to the collection point 
- Kent Downs AONB Landscape Design Handbook 
- Kent Downs AONB Management Plan 2021-2026 

 

Page 118



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

Government Advice 
- National Planning Policy Framework (NPFF) 2021 
- Planning Practice Guidance 
- National Design Guide 2021 
- Technical Housing Standards – nationally described standards 

 
- Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive; Habitats Regulations 2017 

 
21. Members should note that the determination must be made in accordance with the 

Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  A significant 
material consideration is the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  Relevant 
paragraphs of the NPPF are listed in the  

22. The key areas for consideration in the assessment of this application are as  

- Principle of Development 

- Impact on the Kent Downs AONB and Design 

- Renewable Energy 

- Stodmarsh & Nutrient Neutrality 

- Highways 

- Ecology 

- Archaeology 

- Residential Amenity 

- Living conditions of the future occupants 

 
Principle of development 
 
23. The starting point for decision making, in accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, is the adopted development plan. Decisions should be taken in 
accordance with the policies in such plans, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.  
 

24. At the present time the Council is unable to demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply, 
although it should be noted the Council has not ‘failed’ the Housing Delivery Test for 
the purposes of Paragraph 11 of the NPPF (i.e. the delivery of housing has not been 
substantially below the housing requirement over the previous three years). 
 

25. In the absence of a deliverable housing supply, Paragraph 11 d) of the NPPF, states 
that the development plan policies most important for determining the appeal are out 
of date. However, the ‘tilted balance’ in favour of the grant of planning permission at 

Page 119



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

paragraph 11 d), is conditional on satisfying criterion (i) of whether there are policies 
in the NPPF that protect areas of particular importance which provide a clear reason 
for refusing the development proposed. Footnote 7 lists the policies in the NPPF that 
protect areas or assets of particular importance and these include those in the 
Framework relating to AONB’s, habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 181) 
and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest. This applies to Stodmarsh 
Lakes and consequently sites located in the Stour catchment. As such, the tilted 
balance is disengaged in this instance. 
 

26. As identified in the assessment below (please see ‘Impact on the Kent Downs AONB 
and Design’), there would be harm to the character and appearance of the AONB. 
Therefore the proposal conflicts with paragraphs 174 and 176 of the NPPF which 
seeks to limit the extent of development in these nationally sensitive landscapes. 
Additionally, the proposal has the potential to harmfully impact upon Stodmarsh Lakes 
which is a site of international importance and designated as a Special Protection Area, 
Special Area of Conservation, Ramsar site and Site of Specisal Scientific Interest. The 
development would therefore be contrary to the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and paragraph 181 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework which ensures protection of these areas. 

 
27. In respect of the AONB, paragraph 176 of the NPPF states that “great weight should 

be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in (sic) Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of protection in relation to these issues”. 
Policy HOU5 states that where a proposal is located within or in the setting of an 
AONB, it will also need to demonstrate that it is justifiable within the context of its 
national level of protection and conserves and enhances its natural beauty. Policy 
ENV3b seeks to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the Kent Downs and 
High Weald AONBs. These policies are broadly consistent with the aims of the NPPF 
including the need to: recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. 
It is therefore considered that, for the purposes of this application, ENV3b should be 
afforded full weight. In summary, the proposed development would introduce a 
substantial dwelling in a highly prominent location i.e. the actual escarpment of the 
Kent Downs and would not conserve and enhance its natural beauty. It would therefore 
be contrary to policies HOU5, ENV3b and paragraphs 174 and 176 of the NPPF. 

 
28. Policy HOU5 applies to windfall housing sites outside the built settlement confines. It 

is a permissive policy and seeks to grant development outside the built confines but in 
a sustainable location with no significant ecological or landscape impacts. The policy 
aligns with the aim of the NPPF to ‘avoid isolated development in the countryside’ 
unless of one the exceptions is met. The site lies in an isolated and an unsustainable 
location, some 3.2km from Brabourne Lees (identified as a HOU5 settlement) and lies 
in a location where development would not normally be permitted. Therefore, it is 
relevant to consider whether any of the exceptions mentioned within policy HOU5 
would apply. The relevant exception that could apply includes, “A dwelling that is of 
exceptional quality or innovative design* which should be truly outstanding and 
innovative, reflect the highest standards of architecture, significantly enhance its 
immediate setting and be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area;”. 
Overall, the policy is broadly consistent with the Framework. It is therefore considered 
that, for the purposes of this application, HOU5 should be afforded full weight. 

 
29. NPPF paragraph 79 requires that “housing should be located where it will enhance or 

maintain the vitality of rural communities” and paragraph 104 prioritises pedestrian and 

Page 120



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

cycle movements and facilitating access to high-quality public transport whilst 
paragraph 105 requires significant development to be focused on locations which are 
or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine 
choice of transport modes. For the avoidance of doubt, it is necessary to state that by 
virtue of the location of the site, the proposal would be contrary to paragraphs 79, 104, 
and 105 of the NPPF. 
 

30. The application seeks to achieve the high bar set out within paragraph 80 of the NPPF 
that requires the local planning authority to avoid isolated homes in the countryside 
unless one of the 5 exceptions stated within the paragraph are met. The application 
aims to achieve paragraph 80(e) which states, “the design is of exceptional quality, in 
that it: - is truly outstanding, reflecting the highest standards in architecture, and would 
help to raise standards of design more generally in rural areas; and - would significantly 
enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the 
local area.” An in-depth assessment of this criterion has been carried out within the 
report under sections ‘Impact on the Kent Downs AONB and Design’.  
 

31. Members should note that whilst paragraph 80 does not explicitly exclude building in 
the AONB, it does afford the highest status of protection to these areas with a view to 
protect the beauty of the designated landscape and as such, the assessment takes 
into account the irreversible impact on the significance of the AONB and merits of 
design to reach a joint conclusion i.e. the NPPF should be read as a whole and 
paragraph 80 should not be assessed in isolation for the purposes of decision making. 
 

32. The proposed development is not considered to meet the criteria set out under 
Paragraph 80(e) of the NPPF which allows for dwellings of exceptional design quality 
in rural areas.  

 
Impact on the Kent Downs AONB and Design 

33. The site lies outside of settlement confines and within the AONB. Therefore, Policy 
ENV3b is relevant in this instance. The policy requires the Council to have regard to 
the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the Kent Downs AONB. 
Proposals within AONB’s will only be permitted where: 

• The location, form, scale, materials and design would conserve and where 
appropriate enhance or restore the character of the landscape.  

• The development would enhance the special qualities, distinctive character and 
tranquillity of the AONB.  

• The development has regard to the relevant AONB management plan and any 
associated guidance.  

• The development demonstrates particular regard to those characteristics outlined 
in Policy ENV3a, proportionate to the high landscape significance of the AONB.  

34. Regard must also be had to the paragraph 176 of the NPPF states that “great weight 
should be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in (sic) Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of protection in relation to 
these issues”. Regard should also be had for the Kent Downs AONB Management 

Page 121



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

Plan and the Kent Downs Handbook, which provide advice on how to protect and 
enhance the AONB. Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 
(CROW Act) states that “in exercising or performing any functions in relation to, or so 
as to affect, land in areas of outstanding natural beauty, a relevant authority shall have 
regard to the purpose of conserving or enhancing the natural beauty of the area of 
outstanding natural beauty”. 
 

35. The Kent Downs AONB Management Plan promotes a landscape led approach to new 
development. It highlights that the special characteristics and qualities of the AONB 
include the quality of the built heritage and settlement patterns. In order to conserve 
and enhance the natural and scenic beauty of the Kent Downs, the scale, extent and 
design of new development, is critical. 

36. The Kent Downs AONB Landscape design Handbook identifies that new development 
within and adjacent to rural settlements should reflect the settlement character and 
form and respect its relationship with the surrounding landscape. New dwellings and 
their associated boundaries and accesses, should not be suburban in character and 
materials should reflect local distinctiveness. 

37. The site lies on the actual escarpment of the Kent Downs, which was the main target 
for AONB designation, in 1968. It falls within the Stowting sub-area of the Postling 
Character Area as identified in the Landscape Assessment of the Kent Downs AONB. 
Within this landscape character area, key characteristics are identified as a strongly 
crenelated and steep south facing scarp, thin and dry soils on the scarp, vernacular 
buildings constructed of red brick, tile, ragstone and flint, a network of historic lanes 
and tracks, contrasting textures between the smooth outlines of the scarp and the 
wooded farmland at the base and outstanding views from the scarp. The landscape 
management recommendations for this area includes the following: 

- protect the open and rural character of the northern part of the LCA; 
- protect the distinctive local character of built form and seek the use of 

sympathetic local materials including brick, tile and ragstone; 
- seek opportunities to extend areas of chalk grassland on scarp slopes;  
- restore landscape features such as hedgerows and shaws at the scarp 

foot, and beech stands on the hill tops (around Stowting) which 
emphasise the bold scale of the surrounding landform, 

- manage the loss of hedgerow and infield trees resulting from Ash Dieback 
by conducting a programme of replacement and promotion of trees from 
hedgerows and natural regeneration; 

- retain/reinstate field boundaries; and 
- enhance habitat links. 

 
38. The site is currently largely undeveloped, other than a barn and stable building, located 

close to the site’s boundary with Brabourne Lane. The land is currently used for 
grazing, with much of the site visually prominent in views from the North Downs Way, 
which runs along the north of the site and from a large geographical area to the south. 
The site is characteristic of the LCA within which it lies and by virtue of the topography 
of the land, the site makes a significant contribution to the intrinsic beauty of the wider 
landscape. 

 
39. The application seeks to achieve the high bar set out within paragraph 80 of the NPPF. 

The NPPF affords the highest status of protection to these areas and as such, the 

Page 122



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

assessment takes into account the irreversible impact on the significance of the AONB 
and the merits of design to reach a joint conclusion. As mentioned above, the NPPF 
should be read as a whole and the proposal should not solely be assessed against 
paragraph 80 in isolation. Furthermore, policy HOU5 of the local plan requires such 
proposals to demonstrate that that they are ‘justifiable within the context of their 
national level of protection and conserves and enhances their natural beauty’.  

 
40. During the course of the application, discussions took place regarding the proposed 

development between the applicant/agent and the officers to explore possible 
amendments to the scheme to overcome concerns raised. Whilst the original design 
submission was not considered to be an appropriate response to the context there 
were also issues of principle relating to development in this particular part of the AONB 
which was the main target for the AONB designation. Notwithstanding the fundamental 
objection regarding development in this prominent and highly valued sensitive 
landscape, further amendments were made to the design of the dwelling in line with 
the suggestions provided by the Council’s Urban Design Officer. Originally, the 
architectural form included substantial areas of glazing, a large and dominant eaves 
feature i.e. angular projections protruding up and above the natural landscape sweep 
of the escarpment. It included extensive earthworks on this field and a configuration of 
mounds to hide the built form and the built form itself was considered to be alien feature 
in the landscape and an obtrusive addition to the natural hillside. The building form and 
site configuration was not based on understanding of the local context of farm 
buildings.  
 

 
Original Proposal 

 
41. Subsequently, amended drawings were received which sought to reduce the 

prominence and depth of the pointed eaves by introducing a curvilinear form in layout 
and elevation. Whilst the extent of glazed facades have not been reduced, vertical 
timber louvres have been introduced to the main elevation that overlooks the wider 
landscape. The updated design statement states that the addition of vertical timber 
louvres would break down the overall building mass and provide solar shading. Whilst 
these louvres would add an element of interest to the main elevation, it is not 
considered that this would break down the ‘mass’ of the structure as asserted within 
the updated statement. 

Page 123



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

 

 
 

Aerial view – amended proposal – Figure 1 
 
 
 

Page 124



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

 Amended proposal – Figure 2 
 

Amended proposal – Figure 3 

Page 125



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

 

Amended proposal – Figure 4 
 
 

42. The proposal would introduce a built domestic form into the currently largely 
undeveloped and uninhabited upper parts of the Kent Downs escarpment. At present, 
housing in the locality, in common with much of the Kent Downs escarpment, is limited 
to spring line villages along the base of the escarpment, sporadic development that 
has evolved along the Pilgrims Way on the lower parts of the escarpment and isolated 
farms set back from the top of the escarpment. The LCA specifies that there is a historic 
time depth to the landscape elements in this location and that settlement is nestled 
along the foot of the scarp with mellow coloured housing blending into the landscape. 
This is also acknowledged in the LVIA accompanying the application.  

 
43. Whilst the impacts are sought to be moderated by avoiding positioning the dwelling on 

the most visible part of the overall wider site, as acknowledged in the LVIA the new 
dwelling would nonetheless be visible from extensive locations to the south of the site, 
due to its position on the higher part of the escarpment, as well as from the North 
Downs Way national trail which passes through the site, along its northern boundary. 
The importance of the North Downs Way is recognised with its designation as a 
National Trail and it is the main promoted route within the Kent Downs; the AONB Unit 
hosts the North Downs Way Trail Manager. In respect of views from the North Downs 
Way, while recognising that panoramic views over the built form would still be 
apparent, the change from rural undeveloped foreground to a contemporary residential 
built form would detract from and damage the views. 

 
44. Whilst the prominence of building within the wider landscape remains a significant 

concern, it is acknowledged that the proposal seeks to moderate impacts on the 
landscape, with the built form proposed partially underground and the design 

Page 126



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

incorporating a ‘meadow grass’ roof and rammed chalk to reflect the underlying 
geology. The amended design which now seeks to incorporate deep curved fascias 
whilst considered a significant improvement from the previously submitted proposal, 
by virtue of its significant scale and siting of the structure, it would remain highly 
prominent within the rolling topography of the Kent Downs, harming the flow of the 
sinuous escarpment side.  

 
45. Paragraph 185 of the NPPF states that new development should protect tranquil areas 

and limit the impact of light pollution on intrinsically dark landscapes and nature 
conservation. Light pollution affects tranquillity and the perception of tranquillity as well 
as having ecological impacts. Lack of light pollution and tranquillity are important facets 
of the AONB which make up its special character and sense of place. Principle SD7 of 
the AONB Management Plan looks to retain and improve tranquillity, including through 
conserving dark night skies. It is therefore imperative these qualities are maintained 
and conserved, particularly in remote rural locations such as on the higher parts of the 
Kent Downs escarpment where, due to lack of development, there are currently no 
sources of light pollution. The design of the dwelling incorporates measures such as 
louvres with a view to reduce glint and glare from the glazing. A lighting impact 
assessment has also been submitted during the course of the application. However, 
as there is no external lighting scheme, the assessment could not be carried out 
although recommendations have been made to limit light spill from within the building 
itself as much as is reasonably practicable. It is recommended to limit all upwardly 
directed light, and any potential for light to be reflected from ground surfaces upwards 
into the sky. In terms of the proposed lighting design, the existing external lighting on 
the barn would be removed. The internal lighting within the barns would be replaced 
with downward facing lights with hoods. The proposed dwelling would not have any 
external lighting. The proposed windows on the dwelling would be recessed across the 
façade and include louvres. Similarly, the majority of new lighting within the dwelling 
would be recessed into the ceiling. It is considered that these measures would help 
reduce the amount of light spillage from the extensively glazed facades of the dwelling. 
Whilst the efforts to reduce the lighting spill from the dwelling are appreciated, given 
the scale of the building, it is not considered that the harm from lighting spill could be 
sufficiently mitigated to be considered acceptable in the ‘dark sky zone’ and would 
likely be visible from a wide area south of the site. It would therefore be contrary to the 
paragraph 185 of the NPPF and SD7 of the AONB Management Plan.  

 
46. Kent Downs AONB Unit recognise the off grid nature of the proposal and energy 

efficiency measures incorporated into the house, however, concerns are raised 
regarding the impacts on soil/carbon sequestration. The proposal would involve 
excavating significant amounts of soil due to the partially buried nature of the proposal. 
While this helps reduce the visual impacts, it would destroy the biodiversity and carbon 
storage properties of the soil, with impacts exacerbated as a result of the large footprint 
involved. Kent County Council has recently published a study into ‘Natural Solutions 
to Climate Change in Kent’ which notes that grassland soils in the UK have the highest 
carbon stock of any other habitat, referring to The Kent and Medway Emissions 
Analysis and Pathways to Net Zero report (December 2020) which calculates that 
neutral grasslands throughout Kent store 69 tonnes of CO2/year within the top 15cm 
of soil. Stripping soil off development sites, storing it in large stockpiles and then 
redistributing elsewhere (burying the existing ecology) has a significant detrimental 
impact on the ability of an area to sequester carbon. It also ignores the biodiversity 
value of soil (microorganisms like bacteria and fungi and invertebrates such as 
earthworms) which is estimated to contain in excess of a quarter of all species on 
Earth. 

Page 127



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

 
47. Regard must also be had to the proposed landscape enhancements across the site, 

including a wildlife meadow, native hedge planting and additional indigenous trees 
throughout the site and also proposes a more sensitive management approach across 
the site, including no longer harrowing or rolling pasture land and reduced use of 
fertiliser. The landscaping strategy has been welcomed by the AONB Unit and as such 
there is no dispute regarding the benefits to the wider landscape as a result of the 
proposals, which largely fit with principles in the Management Plan and Landscape 
Recommendations in the LCA. The above said, members should note that Natural 
England has requested further clarification in respect of the woodland planting strategy 
outlined in the mitigation proposal, i.e. species of tree and density of planting. 
Furthermore, details were requested regarding the maintenance and management of 
the proposed mitigation, as well as how it will be secured in perpetuity. However, 
further details have not been received in this regard at this stage. 
 

48. Kent Downs AONB Unit further stated that this does not lead to the conclusion that the 
effects of the built form on landscape character are of any less significance, nor that 
the proposal complies with the overarching principles set out in the Management Plan 
seeking to ensure conservation and enhancement of the Kent Downs for example by 
maintaining and strengthening local distinctiveness. Furthermore, the majority of the 
landscape enhancements would not appear to be dependent on the creation of a new 
dwelling. 
 

49. The application has been accompanied by a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment. 
Given the significance of the site under consideration, the AONB Unit have carried out 
an indepth analysis of the LVIA. Your officers concur with the analysis carried out by 
the AONB Unit. There are a number of disagreements in respect of how the impacts 
have been assessed and the conclusions reached. Firstly, there is a strong 
disagreement regarding the repeated references in the document to the new dwelling 
being sited within the lower parts of the scarp slope (such as at paras. 11.10 Viewpoint 
5, 11.18 viewpoint 8 and 11.14 Viewpoint 9). While a position even higher up the 
escarpment may have been discounted, the proposed site of the dwelling nevertheless 
clearly remains on the upper parts of the escarpment. 

 
50. In terms of the assessed level of landscape impacts, it is agreed that the sensitivity of 

the site is high. It is also agreed that the overall likely landscape effect would be at 
least Moderate Adverse on completion at a site level, which represents a ‘significant 
effect’. However, there is strong disagreement in respect of the conclusion reached 
within the LVIA regarding the reduction of the impact over time ‘due to the 
establishment of the new vegetation and management practices…..given the 
beneficial contribution that the wider landscape management proposals will make to 
the AONB objectives.’ The AONB Unit have opined that if landscape harm is able to 
be off-set by wider landscape improvements in this way, any new harmful development 
could be rendered acceptable by enlarging the application site and making landscape 
enhancements on the balance of that site. 

 
51. The LVIA rightly acknowledges that ‘the scarp is an important and recognizable 

landscape feature locally and development on the scarp is relatively limited. There is, 
however, more built form (farms and scattered properties) within the mid-lower parts 
of the slopes, consistent with the published findings of the local landscape character 
areas’ and yet the assessed magnitude of effect on the local character area Postling 
Scarp and Vale has been deemed to be minor adverse within the LVIA. It is considered 
that this downplays the impact the proposal would have on the important key 

Page 128



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

escarpment feature of the Kent Downs, which has a high sensitivity to change and 
where contemporary urban development is currently absent on its upper reaches. The 
introduction of a domestic property and associated solar array and garden area and 
alterations to the natural landform of scarp face, on the upper part of the escarpment 
would result in an alteration to the features of the baseline landscape character type 
that would be uncharacteristic within the receiving landscape, causing a noticeable 
difference to the landscape, representing a moderate magnitude of effect. Within a 
landscape of high sensitivity to change this is considered to result in a moderate 
adverse effect on the local landscape character area, which is classified as significant. 
 

52. In respect of visual impacts, the LVIA states that ‘overall, the site is visible from a wide 
geographical area to the south of the Site within the vale landscape given the elevated 
position of the Site which forms part of the scarp of the Kent Downs’ and that views 
from the north are not possible, apart from the North Downs Way (which passes over 
the northern most part of the site and from which much of the site would be visible).’ 
Whilst this statement made within the LVIA is agreed, the conclusion reached 
regarding the magnitude of effect on several viewpoints identified within the 
assessment is considered to be under-assessed. The AONB Unit have opined that the 
magnitude of effect on Viewpoints 1 and 2 assessed as ‘Very Low’ is considered 
unrealistic, given the proximity of these viewpoints to the development and change in 
view of the immediate foreground. A ‘Very Low’ magnitude of effect is described in the 
LVIA as ‘Typically, the Proposed Development would appear as a barely noticeable 
component, resulting in an unobtrusive change / small-scale contrast in the view. The 
change may be permanent or temporary/short-term.’ The close-up nature of 
Viewpoints 1 and 2 to the built form and nature of change; introducing a striking, 
contemporary built form where there currently is none, in the immediate foreground of 
the views, would in a Moderate magnitude of effect, described as ‘Typically, the 
Proposed Development would appear as a visually prominent feature and have a 
medium-scale effect on the view, resulting in a noticeable change / contrast in the view. 
The change may be permanent or temporary/short-term’. Balancing a moderate 
magnitude of effect against the viewer’s high sensitivity, results in a Moderate adverse 
and therefore this would constitute significant effect. It is important to note that adverse 
effects on an AONB do not have to be classed as ‘significant’ in order for great weight 
to be afforded to it in decision-making. 

 
53. In summary, the visual impact of the development would fail to enhance its immediate 

setting and the environmental credentials of the building have not been fully 
substantiated (see below). Therefore, granting permission for a new isolated home in 
the countryside would conflict with the AONB designation and would be contrary to 
policy ENV3b of Ashford Local Plan 2030 and would not satisfy the criteria under 
paragraph 80(e). Finally, it would be contrary to paragraphs 174 and 176 of the NPPF 
which require the planning policies and decisions to contribute to and enhance the 
natural and local environment by recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside and afford great weight to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

 
Renewable Energy Strategy 
 

54. Regard has been had to the renewable energy strategy proposed. The proposal seeks 
to utilise hydrogen and solar panels to produce energy. A report has been submitted 
with the application which outlines the strategy. The report in its introduction identifies 
the challenges of using hydrogen including obstacles with regards to the production of 
sufficient quantities of low to zero emission hydrogen to fulfil demand of the UK gas 

Page 129



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

network, the integrity of the pipe network to be able to contain hydrogen, which is a 
much smaller molecule than natural gas, and finally the reconfiguration of burners at 
the demand sites. It is claimed that the methodology that would be utilised in this 
instance would not face any of these issues and carbon zero green hydrogen would 
be produced onsite, therefore removing the production and transmission difficulties 
and our solution uses heat pumps for water and space heating. The heat pumps would 
be electrically driven as opposed to combustion, and the electricity is produced using 
solar array and a fuel cell reaction of hydrogen and oxygen to produce harmless water. 
A passing reference has been made to demonstrator homes however, it has not been 
specified which demonstrator homes have been studied with a view to arriving at this 
concept. No further detail has been presented in this regard. 
 

55. The report estimates an annual electricity requirement of approximately 7,500 kWh. 
Based on this energy requirement, a renewable energy system has been presented 
with the following highlights – 

- A 10.64 kW solar array, consisting of 28, 380W panels. This will generate 
over 11,500 kWh of energy over the course of a year at Liberty Farm. 

- A 15.4 kWh battery that will cope with energy demand fluctuations. It will 
take the energy load, cover short periods of low solar (such as overnight) 
and be charged by the hydrogen fuel cell when solar production is 
insufficient over longer periods.  

- A 9 kW invertor driven heat pump to provide the building with heating and 
direct hot water as well as heating the pool during the summer.  

- A 1,500 kWh green hydrogen system, comprising the following –  
o  2.2 kW electrolyser.  
o Hydrogen compressor.  
o 350 bar hydrogen storage cylinder with a hydrogen storage capacity 

of 46 kg.  
o 4 kW fuel cell.  

 
56. Based on the above specifications and energy usage assumptions of the building, it is 

anticipated by the applicants that the system will allow Liberty Farm to be fully off-grid.  

57. However, given the size of the dwelling (the total floor area equalling approximately 
980sqm or 10,530sqft), it is considered that the energy requirement estimated is low. 
Furthermore, whilst the intention to have an off-grid dwelling is appreciated, insufficient 
research has been presented which would demonstrate that this could be a practical 
solution. Therefore, at this stage, without further detailed calculations based on 
realistic energy requirement estimation, it remains uncertain that the aim to function 
off-grid could be practically achieved. Notwithstanding the above, the intention to 
achieve a zero-carbon home is appreciated and whilst it does have some merit, it 
requires substantial work to be carried out. Should members resolve to grant the 
application, appropriately worded conditions would be attached to the permission 
securing the proposed off-grid nature of the proposal. 

58. Overall, the environmental credentials of the proposed dwelling are not considered to 
demonstrably meet the requirement of Paragraph 80(e) of the NPPF for exceptional 
design quality or to outweigh the identified harm to the landscape character of the 
AONB. 

Stodmarsh & Nutrient Neutrality 
 

Page 130



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

59. The Council is committed to ensuring that development only takes place if it is 
sustainable and respects the relevant environmental protections.  Part of this 
consideration is whether there would be a detrimental impact on any European 
Designated Nature Conservation Sites.   

 
60. The site is located within the Stour River Catchment. The River Stour feeds into 

Stodmarsh Lakes to the east of Canterbury. Stodmarsh Lakes are a set of lakes that 
are afforded a range of protection including, a Special Protection Area (SPA), Ramsar 
site, Special Area of Conservation (SAC), and a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI). Parts are also designated a National Nature Reserve (NNR). 

 
61. In July 2020, Natural England (NE) issued an Advice Note to Ashford Borough Council 

titled ‘Advice on Nutrient Neutrality for New Development in the Stour Catchment in 
Relation to Stodmarsh Designated Sites – For Local Planning Authorities’.  This Advice 
was then updated in November 2020 and again on 16 March 2022.  The Advice note 
sets out that there are excessive nitrogen and phosphorus levels in the Stodmarsh 
Lakes, and so the water within the Lakes is in an unfavourable condition and has the 
potential to further deteriorate. 

 
62. In line with established case law and the ‘precautionary principle’, Natural England 

advise that applications for certain types of development (including housing) within the 
Stour River catchment, and/or which discharge to particular Waste Water Treatment 
Works within the catchment, should be the subject of an Appropriate Assessment (AA) 
under the Habitat Regulations.  

 
63. The AA is required to determine the effect on the integrity of Stodmarsh Lakes. In order 

for an AA to conclude that there is no significant effect, the decision maker must be 
satisfied that the development can achieve nutrient neutrality.  

 
64. In June 2022, a nutrient neutrality assessment was submitted to support the planning 

application. The Council commissioned AECOM Consultants to carry out the 
Appropriate Assessment and an initial report was received. Natural England was also 
formally consulted. Natural England requested further clarification in respect of the 
drainage strategy. Subsequently, a further report was received from the applicant 
which concluded that the development would be nutrient neutral. However, the 
Appropriate Assessment has not been carried out to confirm the findings within the 
amended report. Therefore, as it stands, whether the development would cause harm 
to the integrity of Stodmarsh Lakes has not been ruled out. For the foregoing reasons, 
the application is not considered acceptable. 
 

65. The applicant was advised that if the application was prematurely reported to the 
Planning Committee without the results of the Appropriate Assessment and the final 
comments from Natural England, it would constitute another reason for refusal. 
Nevertheless, the applicant requested that the application is reported to Committee 
based on the information submitted so far. 

 
Impact on Highways 
 
66. The development would utilise the existing shared access with North Downs Way. KCC 

PROW have advised that Public Right of Way AE299 forms part of the North Downs 
Way National Trail and is recorded as a byway so although this permits public vehicular 
access it's primary use is for pedestrians and equestrians with occasional vehicular 

Page 131



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

use. It is further advised that as the proposal would generate additional vehicular use 
both during the construction and subsequent residential occupation, the County 
Council may require those responsible to fund or contribute to any repair work required. 
Finally, no objection has been raised in this regard. 
 

67. Policy TRA3(a) requires that development provide adequate parking to meet the needs 
which would be generated, balancing this against design objectives. It requires that 4-
bedroom houses to provide 3 spaces per unit. These figures are described as 
minimums. Additionally, visitor parking should be provided at a rate of 0.2 parking 
spaces per dwelling. Spaces should be independently accessible and garages are not 
considered to provide car parking spaces. 
 

68. The ground floor plan shows the provision of car parking for two cars and a scooter. 
Having regard for the size and layout of the car parking area, it is considered that three 
vehicles could easily park and manoeuvre within the area designated for parking and 
turning purposes. The development also includes defined provision of cycle parking 
spaces, as recommended by the Kent Design Guide (including Interim Guidance Note 
3) and the NPPF. The proposal would therefore comply with policy TRA 3a of the local 
plan. 

 
Impact on Ecology 
 
69. The EU Habitats Directive 1992, requires that the precautionary principle is applied to 

all new projects, to ensure that they produce no adverse impacts on European Sites. 
Local Plan policy ENV1 states that proposals that conserve or enhance biodiversity 
will be supported. Proposals for new development should identify and seek 
opportunities to incorporate and enhance biodiversity. Regard has been had to Natural 
England’s Standing Advice which suggests that in rural areas, the likely presence of 
bats, breeding birds, badgers, reptiles and great crested newts could be expected. The 
application site is in a rural location. The site itself contains unmanaged grassland 
surrounded by dense mature trees/hedges and Ancient Woodland which could provide 
habitat for protected species. The application has been supported by a Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey and the relevant species specific surveys. 
 

70. KCC Ecology have not raised an objection. A few conditions and an informative have 
been recommended to be attached to the permission. Therefore, in the event of grant 
of permission, appropriately worded conditions and informatives would be attached, 
relating to badgers, breeding birds, bat sensitive lighting scheme, submission of a 
scheme of reasonable avoidance measures for reptiles and an ecological 
enhancements management plan. 
 

Archaeology 
 
71. The site has been identified as an area with significant archaeological potential. The 

application has been accompanied by an archaeological desk based assessment. The 
report provides an assessment of the contextual archaeological record in order to 
determine the potential survival of archaeological deposits that may be impacted upon 
during any proposed construction works. The assessment has generally shown that 
the area to be developed is within an area of low archaeological potential. Paragraph 
194 of the NPPF states that, “…Where a site on which development is proposed 
includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, 
local planning authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-
based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.” Consequently, in the 

Page 132



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

event of grant of planning permission, it is recommended to attach a condition to 
secure implementation of a programme of archaeological work in this instance.  

 
 

 

Residential Amenity 

72. There are no residential properties in the vicinity of the site to be directly affected by 
the proposal. 

 
 
Living conditions of the future occupants 

 
73. Regard must be had to whether the proposed development would provide a high 

standard of amenity for the future occupants. The proposed dwelling, together with 
individual rooms, would be of a good size, whilst all habitable rooms would be naturally 
lit. The dwellings would all meet the Nationally Described Space Standards in 
accordance with Local Plan policy HOU12. The dwelling would have substantial areas 
allocated for private amenity purposes. As such, the living conditions of future 
occupiers would be acceptable. The proposal would therefore comply with policy 
HOU15 of the local plan and paragraph 130 of the NPPF. 
 

Human Rights Issues 

74. Human rights issues relevant to this application have been considered. The 
“Assessment” section above and the Recommendation below represent an 
appropriate balance between the interests and rights of the applicant (to enjoy their 
land subject only to reasonable and proportionate controls by a public authority) and 
the interests and rights of those potentially affected by the proposal (to respect for 
private life and the home and peaceful enjoyment of their properties). 

Conclusion 
 
75. Whilst the individual design of the building is of some interest, and the development 

would potentially be of a high standard of sustainable design and construction, the 
development would cause substantial harm to the special character and appearance 
of the area, within the countryside and the Kent Downs AONB.  This harm more than 
outweighs the benefits of the proposal. As such, and having full regard for the policies 
within the local plan and provisions of the NPPF as a whole, the proposal is judged to 
be contrary to policy ENV3b of the Ashford Local Plan and paragraphs 174 and 176 of 
the NPPF. It does not meet the exceptions allowed within policy HOU5 and paragraph 
80(e) of the NPPF. It would also be contrary to the Principles SD1, SD2, SD3, SD7, 
SD8, SD9 and LLC1 of the Kent Downs AONB Management Plan. Further to this, it 
would lie in a highly unsustainable location and would therefore be contrary to the 
NPPF which promotes sustainable development. Finally, the site lies within the 
Stodmarsh catchment area and the effects of increases in wastewater on the 
designated Stodmarsh sites have not been ruled out. Therefore, the proposal would 
be contrary to the Development Plan policies and would not be supported by the 
provisions of the NPPF. 

 
Page 133



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
Planning Committee 07 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

  
 

Recommendation  
 
Planning Permission BE REFUSED for the following reasons:-  

(i) The site lies well outside of defined settlement boundaries and, as such, the 
erection of a dwelling represents an unsustainable and inappropriate form of 
development within the countryside contrary to contrary to policies SP1, SP6 and 
HOU5 of the Ashford Local Plan (2030) and paragraphs 79, 104 and 105 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

(ii) The proposed development, by virtue of its location and scale would urbanise the 
site in a sensitive countryside location, causing a harmful effect upon the scenic 
beauty of the countryside and the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty contrary to 
policy ENV3b of the Ashford Local Plan and paragraphs 174 and 176 of the NPPF. 
It does not meet the exceptions allowed within policy HOU5 and paragraph 80(e) 
of the NPPF. It would also be contrary to the Principles SD1, SD2, SD3, SD7, SD8, 
SD9 and LLC1 of the Kent Downs AONB Management Plan. 

(iii) The proposal has failed to demonstrate that wastewater from the proposed 
dwelling would not add to current problems of increasing nitrogen and phosphorus 
levels at Stodmarsh Lakes which is a site of international importance and 
designated as a Special Protection Area, Special Area of Conservation, Ramsar 
site and Site of Special Scientific Interest. The development would therefore be 
contrary to the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended) and paragraph 181 of the National Planning Policy Framework which 
ensures protection of these areas. 
 

Note to Applicant 

1. Working with the Applicant 

2. List of plans / documents refused  

 
 Background Papers 

All papers referred to in this report are currently published on the Ashford Borough Council 
web site (www.ashford.gov.uk). Those papers relating specifically to this application may be 
found on the View applications on line pages under planning application reference //AS) 

Contact Officer:  Benazir Kachchhi 
Email:    benazir.kachchhi@ashford.gov.uk 
Telephone:    (01233) 330683

Page 134

http://www.ashford.gov.uk/
http://planning.ashford.gov.uk/planning/Default.aspx?new=true


Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

Application Number 
 

22/00569/AS 

Location     
 

240 Beaver Road, Ashford, Kent, TN23 7SW 

Grid Reference 
 

600691 / 141424 

Parish Council 
 

Central Ashford 

Ward 
 

Norman 

Application 
Description 
 

Convert 3-bedroom 2-storey house to 2 self-contained 
flats single occupancy, for social housing 

Applicant 
 

Ashford Borough Council 

Agent 
 

Head of Housing – Development & Regeneration 
 

Site Area 
 

0.03 ha 

 
 
Introduction 
 
1. This application was reported to the Planning Committee at its meeting on the 

9th of November 2022 because the Council is the applicant. The Committee 
resolved to defer the application and are seeking for further details to be 
addressed. These details are highlighted below in bold followed by the 
response from the Applicant - Housing Services.  
 
To allow the Applicant and Officers an opportunity to confirm the lack of 
need of this four-bed social housing unit in the borough; 
 

2. The conversion of this building is proposed as part of a scheme under the 
Government’s Levelling-Up Department with the aim to help rough sleepers 
rebuild their lives under a government supported scheme.  The loss of the 
bedrooms is a trade-off for a better targeted use of space.  The conversion of 
these properties is encouraged and we are looking at several 3-bedroomed 
homes to be converted under the scheme. 
 

3. Although larger properties are always a priority, this property is old and not 
very well proportioned. It lacks parking facilities and although the front 
curtilage has a hard standing, access is difficult if the neighbour has a car 
parked on their drive.  Furthermore, the Energy rating is D and the building 
requires major upgrade and refurbishment. 
 

4. Although the property is not in a good condition for a family, the property’s 
location is ideal for tenants under the Rough Sleepers Accommodation 
Programme (RSAP) scheme and not too far from the town to enable the 
tenants’ access to all the necessary amenities and support network. 

Page 135

Agenda Item 6c



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
5. Letting accommodation funded through the Rough Sleeping Accommodation 

Programme: guidance for local authorities and private registered providers - 
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 
To allow the Applicant and the Officers further opportunity to confirm if 
a parking space within the adjacent public car park can be solely for use 
in connection with the proposed flats; 
 

6. Off-street parking provision is not considered a necessity for the proposed 
flats which is intended to cater for former rough sleepers who have very few 
possessions and highly unlikely to have a car.  

 
7. Planning Officer’s observations:  There are on-street parking restrictions 

around the site and the surroundings to deter indiscriminate parking which are 
likely to undermine highway safety. Furthermore, the site is already in 
proximity to a public car park.  
 
To allow the Applicant and Officers to establish if an EV Charging Point, 
in addition to those already approved, can be provided within the 
adjacent car park for the sole use of the future residents of the flats; 
 

8. Previous parking and access from the adjacent land was an informal 
arrangement.  It is very unlikely that a tenant will have a car of any 
description.  Locked external power points may be made available to the front 
/rear of the building to allow EV charging.  EV Charging points can be 
included in the specification. 
 

9. Planning Officer’s observations:  The site’s location and constraints make 
off-street parking provision difficult and the reference to an existing space in 
the officer’s report related to a sub-standard space use of which should not be 
encouraged by the provision for on-site EV charging. It is therefore suggested 
that the EV charging condition (No.5) is dropped from the proposed 
recommendation.  
 
To allow the Applicant to provide details of any proposed sound-
deadening measures between the new flats; 
 

10. A Sound Insulation Design Advice was prepared following a comprehensive 
survey of the building.  In any case, the sufficiency of the measures would be 
examined as part of the Building Control approval process.  

 
11. The report presented to the Planning Committee at its November meeting is 

reproduced at Appendix 1 below.  
 

12. Stodmarsh. Members’ attention is drawn to the contents of the Update Sheet 
for the November meeting agenda which substitute paragraphs 17 and 18 of 
the original report as follows: 
 

Page 136

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fnext-steps-accommodation-programme-guidance-and-proposal-templates%2Fletting-accommodation-funded-through-the-rough-sleeping-accommodation-programme-guidance-for-local-authorities-and-private-registered-providers&data=05%7C01%7COlawale.Duyile%40ashford.gov.uk%7C9b0fa0eef3a944d1993808dacd393711%7C66a338a5cfb74d1e9354d346e02c3a75%7C0%7C0%7C638047942860858419%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Nh%2FW6hSIEtpyXL22pQXxTCqKE7Dgwl0QaOf3Q7Y%2FvhI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fnext-steps-accommodation-programme-guidance-and-proposal-templates%2Fletting-accommodation-funded-through-the-rough-sleeping-accommodation-programme-guidance-for-local-authorities-and-private-registered-providers&data=05%7C01%7COlawale.Duyile%40ashford.gov.uk%7C9b0fa0eef3a944d1993808dacd393711%7C66a338a5cfb74d1e9354d346e02c3a75%7C0%7C0%7C638047942860858419%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Nh%2FW6hSIEtpyXL22pQXxTCqKE7Dgwl0QaOf3Q7Y%2FvhI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fnext-steps-accommodation-programme-guidance-and-proposal-templates%2Fletting-accommodation-funded-through-the-rough-sleeping-accommodation-programme-guidance-for-local-authorities-and-private-registered-providers&data=05%7C01%7COlawale.Duyile%40ashford.gov.uk%7C9b0fa0eef3a944d1993808dacd393711%7C66a338a5cfb74d1e9354d346e02c3a75%7C0%7C0%7C638047942860858419%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Nh%2FW6hSIEtpyXL22pQXxTCqKE7Dgwl0QaOf3Q7Y%2FvhI%3D&reserved=0


Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

Under the Council’s adopted screening process the assessment of 
potential impact on the Stour catchment could result in an increase in 
nutrients. This is because the calculation is based upon average 
occupancy rates. The average occupancy for a dwelling is 2.4 people 
and the average occupancy for a flat is 1.75 people. Applying this 
methodology the occupancy of the proposed development would 
actually be greater than for the existing dwelling. The proposal therefore 
requires further assessment to see if the occupancy of the flats can be 
secured by condition to be no more than 1 person per flat as stated in 
the report. 
 

13. Therefore it is proposed to make the recommendation subject to the 
standard requirement as detailed below. 
 

14. Condition and Informative: The Update Sheet also details the changes to 
condition 5 and an additional informative proposed. 
 

15. In the light of the responses at paragraphs 6 to 9 above, officers now consider 
that off-street parking provision is unnecessary for the proposed development.  
In the circumstance, condition 5 that seeks details and provision of EV 
Charging Point is considered unnecessary and no longer recommended. 
 
Conclusion 

 
16. Overall, for the reasons set out above and in the amended Officer’s report in 

appendix 1 the proposed development is satisfactory and therefore 
recommended for approval. 
 

Recommendation 
 
Permit 
 
Subject to the applicant submitting information to enable an Appropriate 
Assessment under the Habitats Regulations to be adopted by the Assistant 
Director for Planning and Development which identifies suitable mitigation 
proposals such that, in their view, having consulted the Solicitor to the 
Council & Monitoring Officer, and Natural England, the proposal would not 
have a significant adverse effect on the integrity of the Stodmarsh SAC, SPA 
and Ramsar Site; and with delegated authority to the Development 
Management Manager or the Strategic Development and Delivery Manager to 
add, amend or remove planning conditions as they see fit to secure the 
required mitigation, resolve to grant planning permission subject to the 
imposition of the following conditions. 
  
 

Page 137



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 
years from the date of this decision.  

 
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2 The development approved shall be made available for inspection, at a 

reasonable time, by the local Planning authority to ascertain whether a breach 
of planning control may have occurred on the land (as a result of departure 
from the plans hereby approved and the specific terms of this 
permission/consent/approval). 

 
Reason: In the interests of ensuring the proper planning of the locality, the 
protection of amenity and the environment, securing high quality development 
through adherence to the terms of planning approvals and to ensure 
community confidence in the operation of the planning system. 

 
3 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the plans and the 

details in the accompanying documents listed in the section of this decision 
notice headed Plans/Documents Approved by this decision. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approval and to ensure the quality of development indicated on the approved 
plans is achieved in practice. 

 
4 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details of 

external materials specified in the application form and the approved plans 
which shall not be varied without the written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interest of the visual amenity of the locality. 

 
 
Informative 
 
1. Working with the Applicant 

 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF Ashford Borough Council 
(ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  ABC works with applicants/agents in a positive and 
proactive manner by; 

 
• offering a pre-application advice service, as appropriate updating 

applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application where possible suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome,  

 

Page 138



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

• informing applicants/agents of any likely recommendation of refusal prior to a 
decision and, 

 
• In this instance, the applicant/agent was updated of any issues after the initial 

site visit, was provided with pre-application advice, 
 

• The applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments to the 
scheme/ address issues. 

 
The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote 
the application. 

 
2. Proposed additional Informative:  
 

The applicant should note the code of practice hours in relation to 
potentially noisy construction/demolition activities which are 0800-1800 
Monday to Friday, and 0800-1300 hours Saturday. Noisy works should 
not, in general, occur outside of these times, on Sundays or Bank/Public 
Holidays. In addition, the applicant should note that it is illegal to burn 
any controlled wastes, which includes all waste except green 
waste/vegetation cut down on the site where it can be burnt without 
causing a nuisance to neighbouring properties. Finally, the applicant 
should take such measures as reasonably practical to minimise dust 
emissions from construction and demolition activities and for that 
purpose would refer them to the IAQM guidance on controlling dust on 
construction sites. 

 
Background Papers 
All papers referred to in this report are currently published on the Ashford Borough 
Council web site (www.ashford.gov.uk). Those papers relating specifically to this 
application may be found on the View applications on line pages under planning 
application reference 22/00569/AS) 
 
Contact Officer:  Olawale Duyile 
Email:    olawale.duyile@ashford.gov.uk 
Telephone:    (01233) 330380 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139

http://www.ashford.gov.uk/
http://planning.ashford.gov.uk/planning/Default.aspx?new=true


Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 140



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 
 
Introduction 

1. This application is reported to the Planning Committee because the Council is 
the applicant.  

Site and Surroundings  

2. The application site lies on the north side of Beaver Road, close to the 
junction of Norman Road.  It backs onto the South Ashford Allotment Gardens 
and is bounded to the west by the Council owned public car park, the 
extension of which received Committee resolution to approve in October last 
year under application reference 21/01060/AS.  
 

 
Figure 1: Site Location Plan 

3. 

 

Page 141



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

Figure 2: Photograph showing the pair of semi-detached dwellings 
 

 
Figure 3: Photo showing the flank elevation of the dwelling.  The 
adjacent car park (under construction) in the foreground 
 

4. The site is occupied by one of a pair of 2-storey semi-detached dwellings with 
hip roof profile and an elongated rear projection which is about half the width 
of the main building.  The dwelling comprises 4 bedrooms on the upper floor 
with a sizeable lounge, dining room, kitchen and an additional bathroom on 
the ground floor. 
 

The Proposal 
 
4. Full planning permission is sought for the conversion of the dwelling to 2 self-

contained 1-bedroom flats (one on each floor).  There are associated internal 
alterations, but the external alterations are minimal and comprise the 
replacement of the French doors on the rear elevation of the main building at 
ground level with a window with a height of 900mm and tilt & turn operation to 
allow secondary escape.  On the flank elevation facing the car park, it is 
proposed to swap a window with a door and vice versa. 

 

Page 142



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
Figure 4: Proposed elevations 
 

 
Figure 5: Existing floor plans and elevations 
 

Page 143



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
Figure 6: Proposed floor plans 
 
Planning History 
 
5. 21/01060/AS - Change of use of portion of rear garden of number 240 Beaver 

Road to public car park. Formation of revised access from Beaver Road. 
 
 
Consultations 

6. Four (4) neighbours were consulted and 1 response was received raising 
objection to the proposal.  The grounds of objection are: 

 
- Noise nuisance; 
- Conversion to flats would decrease property value; 
- The extension to the car park and the proposed conversion would cause 

disturbance arising from increased vehicle movements; 
- Lack of parking spaces; and 
- The length of time to complete the works would add to the disturbance. 

 
Planning Policy Context 
 
The Development Plan 

 
7. The Development Plan comprises the Ashford Local Plan 2030 (adopted 

February 2019), the Chilmington Green AAP (2013), the Wye Neighbourhood 
Plan (2016), the Pluckley Neighbourhood Plan (2017), the Rolvenden 

Page 144



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

Neighbourhood Plan (2019), Boughton Aluph & Eastwell Neighbourhood Plan, 
and the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2016). 

 
 The relevant policies in the Development Plan relating to the application are 

as follows:- 
 
 SP1 – Strategic Objectives 

SP2 – The Strategic Approach to Housing Delivery 
SP6 – Promoting High Quality Design 
HOU3a – Residential Windfall Development Within Settlements 
HOU12- Residential Space Standards Internal 
HOU15 - Private External Open Space 
TRA3a - Parking Standards for Residential Development 
TRA6 - Provision for Cycling 
TRA7 – The Road Network and Development 

8. The following are also material considerations in the determination of this 
application. 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

Sustainable Drainage SPD 2010 
Residential Parking & Design SPD 2010 
Residential Space & Layout (External space standards) 2011 

 
9. National Guidance 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPFF):  The NPPF reflects the statutory 
provision at section 38(6) of the Planning and Compensation Act 2004 that 
mandates the determination of all planning applications to be determined in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise (paragraph 47).  The NPPF was published on 27 March 
2012 but has been amended on several occasions, with the most recent in 
July 2021. Paragraph 11 of the Framework sets out a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The following headings and content of the NPPF 
are relevant to the consideration of the current proposals: 

4.    Decision-making 
5.    Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
11.  Making effective use of land   
12.  Achieving well-designed places 
 
Planning Policy Guidance:  In March 2014 the Department for Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG) launched its planning practice guidance web-
based resource. This was accompanied by a Written Ministerial Statement 
which includes a list of the previous planning policy guidance documents 
cancelled when the NPPF was launched. PPG contains a range of subject 
areas, with each area containing several subtopics. Those of particular 
relevance to the determination of this planning application comprise: 

Page 145



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

- Design  
- Determining a planning application 
 
Technical housing standards – nationally described space standards 

Assessment 

10. The main issues for consideration are: 

a) Principle of Development  
b) Design, Character and Appearance 
c) Residential Amenity and Standards 
d) Parking Provision and Highway Safety 
e) Other Matters 

Principle of Development 

11. There is no specific policy objection to the conversion of larger dwellings into 
smaller units in the adopted Local Plan.  Neither are there compelling housing 
needs that support the retention of large homes.  In the circumstances, there 
are no reasons why this proposal should not be given a favourable 
consideration if it complies with the relevant Development Plan policies and 
standards.  

 
Design, Character and Appearance 
 
12. Local Plan policies SP1 and SP6 require good design and state that all 

development should seek to create a distinct character, with a strong sense of 
place and identity. These policies are broadly consistent with the NPPF which 
attaches great importance to the design of the built environment and seeks to 
safeguard heritage assets. 

 
13. The proposed external alterations involve the replacement of the patio doors 

with a window on the rear elevation and the swapping of a winow and door on 
the flank elevation.  These are very minor works and non-material alterations 
which neither detract from the appearance of the building nor detrimental to 
the character and appearance of the surrounding area. 

 
Residential Amenity and Standards  

14. Section 12 of the NPPF refers to design and the standard of amenity. 
Paragraph 127 states, amongst other things, that planning policies and 
decisions should ensure that developments:  
 
Create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
users.”       
 

Page 146



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

15. The proposal raises no amenity impact issues.  The proposed residential use 
conforms with the surrounding uses and the proposed external alterations 
would not have any adverse impact on the living conditions of the neighbours.  
The adjoining occupier has raised concerns about the construction works and 
the duration, but these are outside planning control. 

 
16. In accordance with policy HOU12 and the provisions in the national guidance, 

the internal layout and floorspace disposition of the proposed dwellings meet 
the set standards. The proposal for the adjacent car park extension has 
reduced the rear amenity space for the dwelling.  Nonetheless, the residual 
external amenity space suffices for the 2 non-family units which are for single 
persons and at most 2 persons occupation and are therefore satisfactory and 
in accordance with policy HOU15.  

Parking Provision and Highway Safety 

17. Policy TRA3a of the Local Plan requires 1 off-street car space for 1-bedroom 
dwellings with visitor parking expected to be provided in short stay public car 
park where available.  The front curtilage of the site could realistically provide 
1 car space whereas 2 spaces are required for the development as a whole.   

18. However, the under-provision should be considered in relation to the 
availability of a public car park adjacent to the site. It should be borne in mind 
that the development comprises 2 x 1 bed units which are for single person 
and non-family type households.  Furthermore, there are on-street parking 
restrictions in the area to deter indiscriminate street parking which are likely to 
undermine free flow of traffic and highway safety. 

Other Matters 

19. The site is located within the Stour catchment. The Council received advice 
from Natural England (NE) in respect of the nationally and internationally 
designated protected sites at Stodmarsh lakes, east of Canterbury. This 
relates to an increased level of nitrates and phosphates within the protected 
sites which is adversely affecting the integrity of the habitat of the lakes. 

20. The proposal seeks to convert a larger residential dwelling into 2 smaller 
units, which cumulatively would accommodate not more than 3 occupiers and 
in comparison less than the total number of occupiers in a 4-bedroom 
dwelling.  This implies that the proposal would result in a reduction in the 
overnight accommodation and resident population in the catchment area.  
Therefore the NE advice is not applicable as there would be no net increase in 
the number of occupiers. 

Working with the Applicant 
21. In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF Ashford Borough Council 

(ABC) takes a positive and creative approach to development proposals. ABC 
works with applicants/agents in a positive and creative manner as explained in 
the note to the applicant included in the recommendation and the decision 
notice. 

Page 147



Ashford Borough Council - Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and 
Development.  Planning Committee 7 December 2022 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

Human Rights Issues 

22. Human rights issues relevant to this application were taken into account in the 
assessment of this proposal.  The “Assessment” section above and the 
Recommendation below represent an appropriate balance between the 
interests and rights of the applicant (to enjoy their land subject only to 
reasonable and proportionate controls by a public authority) and the interests 
and rights of those potentially affected by the proposal (to respect for private 
life and the home and peaceful enjoyment of their properties). 

 
Conclusion 
 
23. As mentioned above, there is no specific policy objection to the conversion of 

larger dwellings into smaller units in the adopted Local Plan.  Neither are 
there compelling housing needs that support the retention of large homes in 
this part of the Borough.  Nonetheless, the proposal complies with the 
relevant Local Plan policies in relation to design, residential standards and 
amenity impact.  There are mitigating circumstances in support of under-
provision in off-street parking, but overall, for the reasons set out above, the 
proposed development is satisfactory and therefore recommended for 
approval. 

 

Page 148


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Public Participation
	6a 22/00001/NSIP/AS - Land at Bank Farm opposite Becketts Green, Bank Road, Aldington, Kent
	Introduction
	Introduction
	Site and Surroundings
	Proposal
	The Preliminary Environmental Information report (PEIR)
	Planning History
	Consultations
	Planning Policy
	Human Rights Issues
	Background Papers
	22-00001-NSIP Annexe 1 - indicative site layout

	6b 22/00136/AS - Liberty Barn, Canterbury Road, Brabourne, Kent
	Introduction
	Site and Surroundings
	Background and Proposal
	Planning History
	Consultations
	Neighbours

	Planning Policy
	Stodmarsh & Nutrient Neutrality
	Human Rights Issues
	(i) The site lies well outside of defined settlement boundaries and, as such, the erection of a dwelling represents an unsustainable and inappropriate form of development within the countryside contrary to contrary to policies SP1, SP6 and HOU5 of the...
	(ii) The proposed development, by virtue of its location and scale would urbanise the site in a sensitive countryside location, causing a harmful effect upon the scenic beauty of the countryside and the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty contrary to p...
	Note to Applicant
	Background Papers

	6c 22/00569/AS - 240 Beaver Road, Ashford, Kent, TN23 7SW
	Introduction
	Recommendation
	Permit
	Appendix 1
	Introduction
	Site and Surroundings
	Consultations
	Planning Policy Context
	Human Rights Issues




